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1. Types of trading bodies  

 

Sole Trader 
 

 Owned and managed by individual  

 Unlimited liability - The sole trader is personally liable for debts incurred 

 Subject to general laws- for many professionals however, such as solicitors/accountants 

they must comply with the rules of professional bodies 

 Directly liable for tax on income earned 

 

 Low cost/low regulatory burden 

 Sole traders must register their business name unless it is their full name: 

Regulatory Guide 235, ASIC. Name does not need to be registered if the name is 

the Sole Traders’ name.  

 If want to trade under another name then the Business Names Registration Act 

2011 (Cth) makes them register the name (State- SA, s7) 

 

 Pros: profits are maintained by individual/ easy dissolution and management/ privacy  

 Cons: limited access to finances/ individual taxation/ limited by own expertise  

 

ADVANTAGES SOLE TRADER DISADVANTAGES SOLE TRADER 

Simplicity Personal liability 

Flexibility Finance options are limited 

Control Controlled by the individual 

Can use business losses to offset other 
taxable income 

Maybe liable to pay income tax at the top 
marginal rate (companies pay less) 

 
 

 

 

Ordinary Partnership 
 

 S 1(1) Partnership Act (PA) 1891 – partnership is defined as the relation which subsists 

between persons carrying on a business in common with a view to profit. 

 

 There is definition in each state/territory in the Partnership Acts of each state 

 

 S 5 PA agent of other partner; joint liability - Each partner is both a principle and agent 

of the business as a result of the statutory agency relationship provided for by the 

Partnership Act. 

 

 Partnership is NOT a legal entity  
 

 In the absence of a contrary agreement, all partners have the right to take part in the 
management of the partnership business: (SA) Partnership Act s 24(1)(e). 

 
 

 A partnership is regulated by the law of fiduciary obligations. This is an equitable 

relationship where one person assumes responsibility for protecting and promoting the 
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interests of another person. Why a fiduciary relationship? Because a partnership is 

presumed to have arisen out of trust, confidence and reliance. Fiduciary obligations 

continue until the partnership is wound up (even after the business has ceased trading 

activities- Chan v Zacharia (1984) 

 

 Corporations Act s 115 limits the number of members that an ordinary partnership may 

have. Except for partnerships which carry on certain prescribed professions, that number 

is 20. 

 

 

 Liability:  

o S9 jointly liable for debts and obligations  

o S10 acts and omissions (torts) partnership liable 

o S11 Misapplication of property  

o S12 Joint liability for sections 10 and 11  

 

 Ownership and management: The mutual rights and obligations of the partners are 

determined by reference to their partnership agreement and s24(1)(e) PA. 

 

 Taxation: A partnership tax return MUST be lodged/ however not a taxable entity  

 Each partner is responsible for their own tax affairs and payment 

 Theyre taxed as individuals. Individual tax return filed which has info relating to money 

made/lost from partnership 

 
S 33—Dissolution by insolvency, death, or charge 

(1) Subject to any agreement between the partners, every partnership is dissolved 

as regards all the partners by the death or insolvency of any partner. 

(2) A partnership may, at the option of the other partners, be dissolved if any 

partner suffers the partner's share of the partnership property to be charged under 

this Act for the partner's separate debt. 

 

 

S 2- The existence of the following does not necessarily indicate there is a partnership: 

o Holding of property jointly 

o Sharing of gross returns 

o But: sharing of profits is prima facie evidence of partnership.  

 

 
 

ADVANTAGES DISADVANTAGES 

Lack of formality Unlimited liability 

Low establishment costs Limited partnership numbers 

Can make changes easily Difficulty in disposing of share in 

partnership 

Privacy for commercial dealings  

Pooling of capital and resources  
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Limited partnership 
 
To overcome problem of unlimited liability. Their formation is dependent upon registration 

Registration allows for one general partner with unlimited liability and one or more limited 

partners whose liability is capped at amount they have paid in- however these limited partners 

are not permitted to take part in management of the business and cant bind the firm 

 
- Limited to the extent stipulated in the registration of the partnership  
48—Limited partnership or incorporated limited partnership is formed on 
registration (Partnership Act) 
(1) A limited partnership is formed by and on registration of the partnership under this 
Part as a limited partnership. 
(2) An incorporated limited partnership is formed by and on registration of it under this 
Part as an incorporated limited partnership. 
 
64A—Limitation of liability of limited partner’s / PA s 58 
(1) A limited partner has no liability for the liabilities of the incorporated limited partnership or of 
a general partner. 
S 65(2)  
- if the limited partner takes part in the management of the business they become liable 
(question of fact)  
 
 
  
Additional Information on Liability for Limited Partners 

 CHANGE IN LIABILITY: a reduction in liability of a limited partner caused by a reduction 
in the relevant amount shown in the Register does NOT extend to any liability of the limited 
partnership that arose before the reduction was recorded in the Register. BUT, an increase 
in the liability of a limited partner by an increase in the relevant amount shown in the 
Register in relation to the partner DOES extend to any liability of the limited partnership 
that arose before the increase was recorded in the Register: s59 

 CHANGE IN STATUS: If a limited partner becomes a general partner, the limitation on 
liability does NOT extend to any liability of the limited partnership arising after the partner 
becomes a general partner: s60(2). If a general partner becomes a limited partner, the 
limitation on liability does NOT extend to any liability of the limited partnership that arose 
before the partner became a limited partner: s60(1) 
 

 EXTRATERRITORIAL: Liability extends to any liability incurred in connection with the 

conduct of the partnership’s business outside the State: s61 

 
 
 

Incorporated limited Partnership (ILP) 
 

 Only available for venture capitalists PA SA s 51(d)  

 To be registered PA SA s 48 (2) 

 1 GP and any number of LPs s 49 (1) 

 ILP is a body corporate separate entity   

 Every general partner is jointly liable  
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Trading trusts 
 
Definition: a trust created for business purposes 
 
One or more individuals vest business assets in a trust fund. 
 
The business is managed by a trustee  

• The trustee is personally liable for debts incurred in running the business. 
• The trustee is entitled to be indemnified out of trust assets for properly incurred 

expenses. 
• The trustee does not usually have a right to be indemnified by the trust beneficiaries. 

 
 

• Trusts do not have to be registered. 
• The trust itself is neither a legal entity nor a taxable entity. 
• A tax return for a trading trust must be lodged with the ATO each year. 
• Distributions from the trust represent taxable income in the hands of the beneficiaries. 
• Trading trusts are subject to the general law and, in particular, trust law 
• Tax laws usually dictate whether a trading trust is an appropriate business structure

  
 
 

 

Managed investment schemes 
 
Definition: a scheme where assets contributed by persons are pooled or used in a 
common enterprise to produce financial benefits, or rights or interests in property, for 
the contributors: s 9 CA 

 
 assets contributed are pooled to produce financial benefits or rights or interests in 

property s9 CA / chapter 5C regulates  
 

 Contributors cannot have day-to-day control over the scheme  
 

 Must be managed by a public company with an appropriate Australian Financial 
Services Lisence (CA s 601FA)  

 

 Registered is have more than 20 members/ unless a professional practice  
 
 
Examples include  

 cash management trusts 

 property trusts 

 equity trusts  

 syndicates e.g. livestock, timber, vineyard 
 

Many are listed on the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX) so they can be traded in a 
public market  
 

 there are however unlisted investment schemes  
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COMPANIES 
 
Corporations: Definition: a corporation includes a company, and a body corporate, and a 
unincorporated body with features of corporation: s 57A CA 

 
Features:  
 Separate legal entity 
 Perpetual succession 
 Possibly limited liability 
 Flexibility about raising capital and financing 
 Tax advantages 
 High cost/regulatory burden 

 
 
 

 

Registered companies 
 

CA  s 112 (1): provides that the following types of companies can be registered under the Act: 
 

 PROPRIETARY COMPANIES (limited by shares, unlimited with share capital)  
 

 PUBLIC COMPANIES (limited by shares, guarantee, unlimited share capital, No liability 
company)  

 

  

Proprietary 
companies 

Limited by shares 

 Unlimited with share capital 

Public 
companies 

Limited by shares 

 Limited by guarantee 

 Unlimited with share capital 

 No liability company 

 
 
Only companies limited by shares and unlimited companies can be registered as proprietary 
companies. As such, all no liability companies and companies limited by guarantee are public 
companies 
 
 

 
 

S 9: “public company” means a company other than a proprietary company. 

 
S 113: “Proprietary company” A company limited by shares or unlimited with share capital 

with no more than 50 non-employee shareholders 
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Must not engage in any behaviour which requires disclosure under Ch 6D CA, such as issuing 

shares or debentures, with the exception of offers of shares to existing shareholders or 

employees, or to its subsidiaries 

 
 
 

 
 
If limited liability company- must have Ltd in name 
 
Proprietary companies- must have pty in name 
 
 

SMALL AND LARGE PROPRIETARY COMPANIES: 
proprietary limited companies are split into small/ large  
 

CA s 45A(2)- A proprietary company is considered to be a ‘small proprietary company’ in a 

financial year if at least 2 of the following 3 criteria are satisfied under CA s 45A(2): 

 

 Its consolidated gross operating revenue for the year is less than $25m; 

 Its consolidated gross assets are valued at less than $12.5m at the end of the financial 

year; 

 It, and entities it controls, have fewer than 50 FTE employees at the end of the year.  

 
 
Small proprietary companies are not required to prepare an annual profit and loss statement 
or an annual balance sheet: CA s 292(1)(2). 
Provides advantages to small proprietary companies in relation to disclosure requirements and 
recurring costs such as audited annual reports. 
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PUBLIC COMPANIES 
Not all public companies are listed on the Australian Securities Exchange (‘ASX’), but those 
which are have a greater ability to raise capital through the trading of their shares 
 
Further requirements are placed by the CA on listed public companies, for example  
 Annual directors’ reports: s 300A CA 
 Disclosing entities: Pt 1.2A CA 
 Continuous disclosure: Pt 6 CA 
 
 
 
CONVERSION PTY  PUBLIC 
Pty Ltd can convert to Ltd by passing a special resolution and lodging an application with ASIC: 
ss 162-163 CA 
 
ASIC can order such a conversion if it is satisfied a company has contravened s 113: s 165 
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Companies limited by shares (Ltd) 
-Companies limited by shares can be registered as PROPRIETARY or PUBLIC companies 
-Make up 90% of all companies  
 
S 9 Corporations Act- defines a company limited by shares as “a company formed on 
the principle of having the liability of its members limited to the amount (if any) unpaid 
on the shares respectively held by them”  
 
 

- Can make a Call on Unpaid Share Capital  
- Must have share capital 
 
 

What does this mean for creditors?  

 creditors cannot access share holders/ members  

 (Salomon v Salomon & Co ltd (1897) the company is not entitled to any financial assistance 
from members even if the members control the company  

 However may be liable as directors of the company for any debt incurred while insolvent 
(insolvent trading preventions) 

 
 
Note: 

• The company’s liability is not limited, only that of its shareholders  
• Companies limited by shares are usually referred to as limited liability 

companies (Stark Pty Ltd or IronMan Ltd: see s 149 CA). 
 
 
Definitions: 
 

 Share capital: the total amount of money or other property that investors provide to 
the company in consideration for the shares issued to them 

 A share: a proportionate interest of a shareholder in the net worth of the company 
Also known as a ‘chose in action’ 
Rights associated with a share are determined by general law, terms of issue, CA, and 
the constitution of the company 

 
 
 

 

Advantages (liability)  Disadvantages (liability) 

Encourages ‘passive investment’= more 
capital 
Reduced management concerns  
No need to monitor wealth of other 
members  
Able to take greater risks 
Diversity of investment  

may encourage too greater risk taking 
too many companies 
discourage creditors  
using of corporate structure to protect 
assets and deny creditors  
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Unlimited company  
 

- CA s9 no limit place on members liability- even if full issue price of the share is paid 
up  
 

- A member is liable to pay to the company whatever the company requires in order to 
discharge its debts, even though the issue price of the shares held by the member 
may have been fully paid up. As such, a member is liable in winding up for any debt 
of the company if the company has insufficient assets to meet its debts. 
 
 

- These companies today are usually professionals who are (under other 
legislation) unable to limit their liability eg lawyers and accountants 

 
 

- Members can be called on to contribute to the company where the company cannot 
discharge its debts.  May even be able to call on past members under ss 520, 521, 
523 

 
 

 

Companies limited by Guarantee (public only) 
 
CA s9  

 a company formed on the principle of having the liability of its members limited to the 
respective amounts that the members undertake to contribute to the property of the 
company if it is wound up. 

 

 In the event of such a company being wound up and having insufficient assets to 
meet its liabilities, its members are liable for the amount specified as their members’ 
guarantee. 

 

 The amount of the guarantee agreed to be provided by each of the company’s initial 
members will be stated in the company’s registration application: see s 117(1)(m).  

 

  A company’s constitution will usually state the amount of the guarantee.  
 
 

 A company may be able to alter its constitution to increase the amount guaranteed: s 
136(1).  However, such an increase will only be binding on those who are members at the 
time of the change if they agree in writing to be bound: see s 140(2)(b). 

 

 A company limited by guarantee might not be able to reduce the amount guaranteed 
because this could unfairly prejudice creditors of the company: cf Hennessy v National 
Agricultural & Rural Development Assn [1947] IR 159. 

 
 

 s 124(1)- a company limited by guarantee cannot issue shares – as such, companies 

limited by guarantee do not have share capital. 

Companies limited by guarantee are normally unsuitable for trading ventures because they 
cannot raise share capital from their members whilst they are going concerns. However, 
under their constitutions, they might have the power to levy annual, or other periodic, 
subscriptions and to impose special purpose levies.  
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No liability Company (public only) MINING 
 

 A corporate form developed to encourage mining 
 

 
To be eligible for registration as a no liability company: 

 The company must have a share capital; 

 

 The company’s constitution must state that its sole objects are ‘mining purposes’ as 

defined by CA s 9, and the company is prohibited from engaging in activities outside 

of its mining purpose objective (CA s 112(3)); 

 

 The company must have no contractual right under its constitution to recover 

calls made on its shares from a shareholder who fails to pay them: CA s 112(2); 

 

 Must have NL in its name: CA s 148(4). 

 
 
 
 

S 254P – procedures for making calls 

 

S 254B(2): Surplus on winding up must be distributed in proportion to shares held, irrespective 

of amounts paid up. 

 

S 254Q: The company may put a call for further investment from the shareholders (or from a 

class of shareholders).  If the call is unpaid 14 days after it should have been paid, the 

relevant shares are forfeited to the company 

 

S 254W(4): Dividends can only be payable in proportion to shares held. 

 

S 254Q(2)-(3):The company’s directors must then offer those forfeited shares for sale at a 

public auction within 6 weeks after the call becomes payable 

 

S254Q(7)-(9):If a reserve price for the shares is not met, then the shares must be disposed of 

according to the company’s constitution or a resolution 

 

 

 
 
Mining purposes’ means all or any of the following purposes: 
1. Prospecting for ores, metals or minerals; 
2. Obtaining by any mode or method, ores, metals or minerals; 
3. The sale or other disposal of ores, metals, minerals or other products of mining; 
4. The carrying on of any business or activity necessary for, or incidental to, any of the 

forgoing purposes; 
 
Whether in Australia or elsewhere, but does not include quarrying operations for the sole 
purpose of obtaining stone for building, roadmaking or similar purposes: CA s 9. 
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CONVERSION BETWEEN PTY LTD TO LTD 
 

Proprietary companies can convert to public for a number of reasons: 
 In anticipation of listing on the securities exchange 
 Due to growth causing a contravention of s 113 CA 
 To raise capital from the public 
 
 
1. Pty Ltd can convert to Ltd by passing a special resolution and lodging an application 
with ASIC: ss 162-163 CA 
 
2. ASIC can order such a conversion if it is satisfied a company has contravened s 113: 
s 165 CA 
 
 
Public companies may wish to convert to proprietary for a number of reasons, but most 
commonly to reduce the financial disclosure obligations - Same procedure under ss 162-163 
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2. Company Formation, Groups and Liability 
 

Registration  
 
PRE-REGISTRATION STEPS  
Form 201 –contents in s 117(2)/ lodged with ASIC for fee of $469 
 
Upon registration ACN is given and a certificate of registration  
 
 

FORMATION OF COMPANY 

S 119: A company is formed on the day it is registered with ASIC. 

S 117(1): To register a company, a person must lodge an application with ASIC. 

S 117(2): The application must state the following: … 

S 117(5): All consents and agreements referred to in s 117(2) must be lodged. 

S 118(1): When ASIC is satisfied that s 117 has been complied with, it will register the company, 

give an ACN & issue a certificate of registration. 

 

 

Once Registered  
Once registered a company has the legal capacity and powers of an individual: 

 contract/ hold legal or equitable title in property/ sue and be sued/ employ persons  

 s 124 provides general power (‘all the powers of an individual’) and a specific non-
exhaustive list of additional powers 

 

 Section 22 of the Acts Interpretation Act 1901 (Cth) provides:  
(1)  In any Act, unless the contrary intention appears:  
(a)  expressions used to denote persons generally (such as "person", "party", "someone", 
"anyone", "no-one", "one", "another" and "whoever"), include a body politic or corporate as 
well as an individual.  

 
 

A limited liability company is considered a separate legal entity from its members and 
directors, which shifts the predominant risks associated with business failure to the 
creditors of the company- SEE BELOW 

 
 
 
 

  

http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/cth/consol_act/aia1901230/s22.html
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Company as a legal entity- SEPARATE LEGAL ENTITY 
 

A limited liability company is considered a separate legal entity from its members and 
directors, which shifts the predominant risks associated with business failure to the creditors 
of the company. 

 
Ie: where a company incurs a debt the creditors can only seek payment from the company 
itself, and not the members or directors, or any other person associated with the company 

 
 

With limited liability there is restriction from going beyond the company - the creditor cannot 
‘pierce the corporate veil’ 
 
 
 
Salomon v Salomon [1897] HL 
Facts 

 He formed a company which would purchase his business and operate the business/ 
member of the company were himself and his wife/ and 5 children  

 Each family member held 1 fully paid pound share (minimum of 7 share holders)  

 Once company was incorporated Mr. S and two of his sons became directors and 
purchased the boot making business for 39,000 pound 

 

 Break down of purchase – instead of just paying cash for the sole trading business, the 
company: 

 Issued Mr Salomon with 20,000 fully paid £1 shares in Salomon & Co Ltd; 

 Issued Mr Salomon with a £10,000 debenture (Under s 9 of the Corporations Act, a 
debenture is a chose in action that includes an undertaking by the issuing body to repay as 
a debt money deposited with or lent to the body. The chose in action may (but need not) 
include a charge over property of the body to secure repayment of the money; 

 Discharged about £8,000 worth of liabilities that Mr Salomon had incurred as a sole trader; 
and 

 Paid Mr Salomon £1000 cash. 
 

 The company faced financial difficulty: 

 Mr Salomon borrowed £5,000 from Broderip, a lender. The funds were on-lent to the 
company. The loan was secured by a mortgage over Mr Salomon’s debentures 

 The company defaulted on the Broderip loan. Broderip appointed a receiver to 
realise the secured interest 

 Company eventually went into liquidation after failing to pay the interest to MR B on the 
debenture  

o The company had £6,000 assets – this was enough to pay Broderip’s claim 
(£5,000), and the remaining £1,000 was claimed by Mr Salomon as the 
beneficial owner of the debentures 

o But unsecured creditors were owed about £8,000 
 

 The liquidator sought to hold Mr Salomon responsible for all of the company’s debts, 
and disputed the validity of the debentures on the ground of fraud 

 
Judgment  
Vaughan Williams J held that the liquidator was entitled to a declaration that Mr Salomon was 
liable to indemnify the company for all of its unsecured debts and for all sums due on the 
debenture. The company was carrying on the business as the agent of Mr Salomon. 

 
Upheld on appeal (court of appeal)  
HOL decision  
Upheld appeal 
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The House of Lords Court unanimously upheld Salomon’s appeal from the Court of Appeal. 
 The company had been formed with at least 7 members, as required by the 

legislation in force at that time 
 

 As such it was a separate legal entity capable of acquiring and operating a business 
as principal.  

 
 It could not be regarded as a mere alias or agent of its controlling shareholder. 
 At 50-51:  ‘The order of [Vaughan Williams J] appears to me to be founded on a 

misconception of the scope and effect of the Companies Act 1862.  In order to form a 
company limited by shares, the Act requires that a memorandum of association should be 
signed by seven persons, who are each to take one share at least. If those conditions are 
complied with, what can it matter whether the signatories are relations or strangers?’ (cont 
next slide) 
 

No ‘lifting of the corporate veil’ 
There is nothing in the Act requiring that the subscribers to the memorandum should be 
independent or unconnected, or that they or any one of them should take a substantial interest 
in the undertaking, or that they should have a mind and will of their own, as one of the learned 
Lords Justices seem to think, or that there should be anything like a balance of power in the 
constitution of the company. In almost every company that is formed,  the statutory number is 
eked out by clerks or friends, who sign their names at the request of the promoter or promoters 
without intending to take any further part or interest in the matter.’ 
 
 
 
 

LIFTING THE CORPORATE VEIL 
 

lifting the corporate veil’ involves a court holding that members of a company are liable for a 
debt that the company alone would usually be responsible for as principal. 
 
 
Australian courts, and in particular the High Court, are considered very reluctant to 
imperil the Salomon principle by lifting the corporate veil, but will do so where: 
 

 The company is a vehicle for fraud 

 The company is used to avoid a legal obligation 

 The company knowingly participates in a directors’ breach of fiduciary obligation 

 In order to attribute the mind of an individual to the purpose why a company has behaved 

a certain way 
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3. Related Companies 

  

Corporate Group 
 

S 50: Where a body corporate is: 
 

(a) A holding company of another body corporate; 
(b) A subsidiary of another body corporate;  
(c) A subsidiary of a holding company of another body corporate; 

 
 

Subsidiary (3 ways)  
 

The first mentioned body and the other body are related to each other. 
 

S 46: A corporation is a subsidiary of another if the other company: 
(a) (i) Controls the composition of the subsidiary’s board (see below for notes on 

control) 
(a) (ii) Can cast or control at least half the maximum votes that could be cast at a 

General meeting 
(a) (iii) Holds at least half the issued capital in the subsidiary revenue; or 

 
(b) the first body is a subsidiary of a subsidiary of the other body. 

 

 

 
 
 

Holding company  
CA s 9 - company above the subsidiary  
 

Ultimate holding company  
CA s 9 - no subsidiary of any other  
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A company that is not the subsidiary of another company – ie Divine ltd here – an ultimate 
holding company 
 

Wholly-Owned Subsidiary 
A body corporate is a wholly owned subsidiary if none of its members is a person other than: 
its holding company 
a nominee of its holding company 
another whole owned subsidiary of the holding company 
a nominee of such above 
 
 

Controlled entity 
S 46 CA 
 

 Sub-section (i): 

 Control of the composition of the board is taken to be the legally enforceable ability 
to appoint or remove all or a majority of the directors:  s 47 CA. 

 

 Practical or de facto control on the basis of a significant shareholding does is not 
sufficient. IT MUST BE LEGALLY ENFOREABLE POWER: Mount Edon Gold 
Mines (Aust) Ltd v Burmine Ltd) 

 
 Sub-section (ii): 

 Control test is satisfied if company has legally enforcebale power to control the 
casting of the necessary number of votes requires. Control the casting = legally 
enforceable power 

 There is an alternative test: is in the position to case more than half the maximum 
number of votes that might be cast at a general meeting of the company. Often 
situations which fail to satisfy the ‘control the casting of’ test will satisfy the ‘position 
to cast’ instead 
 

 Sub-section (iii): 

 A company is regarded as a subsidiary if another company holds more than half its 
issued capital. A company “holds” shares if it is a registered member. Definition of 
‘holds’ = registered shareholder. 

 Exception: nominee shareholders: s 48(3) CA – shares in a subsidiary held by a 
nominee on trust for the holding company are treated as being held byt the holding 
company 

 
50AA Control 
(1) For the purposes of this Act, an entity controls a second entity if the first entity has the 
capacity to determine the outcome of decisions about the second entity’s financial and 
operating policies. 
(2) In determining whether the first entity has this capacity: 
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(a) the practical influence the first entity can exert (rather than the rights it can enforce) is the 
issue to be considered; and 
(b) any practice or pattern of behaviour affecting the second entity’s financial or operating 
policies is to be taken into account (even if it involves a breach of an agreement or a breach 
of trust). 
(3) The first entity does not control the second entity merely because the first entity and a 
third entity jointly have the capacity to determine the outcome of decisions about the second 
entity’s financial and operating policies. 
(4) If the first entity: 
(a) has the capacity to influence decisions about the second entity’s financial and operating 
policies; and 
(b) is under a legal obligation to exercise that capacity for the benefit of someone other than 
the first entity’s members; the first entity is taken not to control the second entity  
 
s50C  
- Companies are related if both are subsidiaries under the same holding company 
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4. Liability for holding company 
 
 
Statutory provisions: CA 2001 (2.D.1)  
 

 insolvent trading making director or holding company liable s588G, s588V 

 directors liability for Co paying improper dividend: s 245T not out of co profits.  

 unreasonable director related transactions s 588FDA 

 un-commercial transactions for company going into liquidation, s588F-s588FF 

 financial assistance, if company provides financial assistance for purchase of it shares, it 
is person “involved in company contravention who is liable. 

 Company office charges: officers granted charges cant enforce their charge within 6 
months unless court grants leave to do so.s267 

 
 

Insolvent trading 
A corporation contravenes s 588V when  
1) 
a) is the holding company when sub incurs the debt  
b) sub is insolvent at that time or becomes insolvent due to incurring that debt/ or debts 
including that debt  
c) reasonable grounds for suspecting the company is or would become insolvent  
d) one or both of the following sub-paragraphs apply  
i) the corporation (1 or more of its members) are aware or ought to be that the sub will 
become insolvent  
ii) giving respect to the nature of the company’s control of the sub it is reasonable to suspect 
that  

A) a holding company in the companies position would be so aware  
B) one or more of the directors should have been aware  

 
When a corporation has contravened this section, s 588W applies  
where;  

a) when a person has contravened and; 
b) person to whom the debt is owed has suffered loss or damage due to the insolvency  
c) the debt was wholly or partly unsecured at the time of insolvency  
d) the company is being wound up  

The company’s liquidator may acquire money due from the holding company  
2) limitation of 6 years since winding up  
 
At general law (2.D.2) 

- Person is separate legal entity 
- Established to evade prior obligation  
- Acting as agent (6 rules) 
- Uncertainty in Torts  

 
Lee v Lee’s Air Farming Ltd [1961]  

 L operates aerial topdressing business/ died in crash 

 L owns nearly all shares and runs the company (he is employed though) 

 The widow claims compensation against the Co’s insurance  

 Insurance company refuses claim  

 Privy council accepts the Mr L and the Company are different legal entities/ thus he is 
employed and can access their insurance/ separate legal person even if he is the sole 
share holder and managed the company 
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Gilford Motor v Horne: If the company was formed for the primary purpose of avoiding existing 
contractual obligations, the corporate veil is lifted. 
 *H resigned from his position as managing director of GM. 
 *H started a business under his name which competed with GM. 
 *H discovered that the former service agreement provided that he would not, at any 

time, solicit customers of GM. 
 *A company was incorporated in the name of H’s wife, which then conducted the 

business. 
 *Although H was not a shareholder of the company, he conducted its affairs. 
 *The company sent circulars to GM’s customers, seeking their business. 
 The company was formed for the purpose of avoiding existing contractual obligations 

 it was a “mere cloak or sham” used as a device  corporate veil was lifted. 
 NB: reluctance of courts not really lifting corp veil – reg. for unlawful purpose. 
 Difference is purchased an existing co?? 

 
 
Electric Light and Powers Supply v Cormack: individual had contracted to use only plaintiffs 
power in business for 3 year, within that period sold business to a company of which he became 
a manger, which then used other power.  
CONTRAST: to Gilford – no facts showed sale made to evade legal obligations. 
 
Smith, Stone & Knight v Birmingham: 6 requirements for a subsidiary to carry on a business 

as agent for its holding company: 
 1) Profits of the subsidiary were treated as that of the holding company; 
 2) Persons conducting the subsidiary’s business were appointed by the holding 

company; 
 3) The holding company was the head and brain of the trading venture; 
 4) The holding company governed the venture & decided what should be done and 

what capital should be embarked upon; 
 5) Profits of the subsidiary’s business were made by the holding company’s skill and 

direction; 
 6) The holding company was in effectual & constant control. 

EG: of REVERSE LIFTING – PC seeking that sub is one co- gain compensation.  
 *Holding company owned land on which its wholly owned subsidiary conducted 

business.*The land was compulsorily acquired.*Holding company argued that it in fact 
conducted the business on the land  entitled to compensation for disturbance caused 
by the compulsory acquisition. 

 The subsidiary did not do anything (only acted on sole direction of holding company) 
 subsidiary acted as agent  holding company entitled to claim compensation. 

 FACTS: PC acquired a partnership and registered it a co *held all shares except which 
director held in own name, all business assets held by co, new co profits for parent co, 
sub never declared divided. 

 
(In Torts)  
Briggs v James Hardie 

 *Pl, who suffered from asbestosis contracted whilst being employed by a subsidiary 
company, argued that the holding company was liable. 

 Given the uncertainties of the law governing this point, lifting the corporate veil was a 
possibility. 

 In obiter, Rogers AJA noted that it MAY be unfair to injured employees (in tort) of a 
subsidiary for them not to have redress against the subsidiary’s ultimate holding 
company.  

 BUT: note Putt case below 

 
James Hardie v Putt [1998] 

 Despite Rogers AJA’s obiter, the courts have REFUSED to lift corporate veil on 
asbestos-related claims (tort claims) to impose liability on the ultimate holding 
company. 
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5. CORPORATE PARTICIPANTS  

Members  
S 231: A person is a member of a company if they: 
(a) are a member of the company on its registration; 
 
On registration of the company: 
 A company’s registration application must state the name and address of each person 

who has consented to be a member: s 117(2)(c). 
 The named persons become members on registration of the company: s 120(1); see also 

s231(a). 
 

 In the case of company’s limited by shares, the shares to be taken up by members as 
specified in the registration application, are taken to be issued to the members on 
registration: s 120(2). 

 
 agree to become a member of the company after its registration and their name is 

entered on the register of members; or 
 
 become a member of the company under s 167 (membership arising from conversion of a 

company from one limited by guarantee to one limited by shares). 
 
Leaney v Olmstead: An unregistered beneficial owner of shares is not a member. 
 
Norman Baker v Baker: Within a reasonable time of becoming an adult, the member may 
repudiate the membership contract – but remains liable for any obligations that accrued prior 
to the repudiation. 

 

Number of members 
S 114: All companies must have at least 1 member. 
S 113: A proprietary company must have no more than 50 non-employee shareholders. 

Powers of members 
Normally, members act collectively at general meetings to make binding decisions. 
S 201G [RR] & ASX LR 14.9: Members of a company may appoint a director by a resolution 

passed in general meeting. 
S 203C [RR]: Members of a proprietary company may remove or replace a director by 

resolution. 
S 203D(1): Members of a public company may remove a director by resolution. 
S 202A(1) [RR]: Directors’ remunerations are determined by resolutions passed in a general 

meeting. 
S 136(2): Members may modify or repeal a constitution by special resolution. 
 
General Meeting (a meeting of the company’s members) – at GM, members may do anything 
that is within their powers under the Corporations Act and the company’s Constitution.  

Limits on powers of general meeting over directors’ decisions 

 John Shaw & Sons v Shaw: Where management powers are vested in the directors, 
members in a general meeting cannot override management decisions made by the 
board. 
 Power to decide matters of litigation belongs solely to directors. 
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 NRMA v Parker: Resolutions passed by members in general meeting will not interfere with 
powers of directors conferred by s 198A or the constitution. 
 Board selected a returning officer, who decided whether ballot papers for election of 

directors were separately mailed to members, or published in the Association’s journal. 
 Members proposed a resolution to direct the Board to select a particular returning 

officer to use the postal ballot system. 
 Power to appoint a returning officer lay with the Board, & members have no say 

on it  The proposed resolution was invalid. 
 

 But members can control directors’ decisions indirectly by: 
 Removing directors and replacing them (by ordinary resolution); or 
 Altering the constitution (by special resolution) to vest the relevant power in the general 

meeting rather than the board of directors. 

 

DIRECTORS 
S 9: “director” means: 

 (a) a person who is appointed to the position of: 
 (i) a director; or 
 (ii) an alternate director and is acting in that capacity; 

regardless of the name given to their position; and 
 

 (b) unless the contrary intention appears, a person who is not validly appointed as a 
director if: 

 (i) they act in the position of a director (“de facto director”); or 
 (ii) the directors of the company are accustomed to act in accordance with the 

person’s instructions or wishes (“shadow director”). 
A person is not a shadow director merely because directors act on advice given by him 
in the proper performance of functions attaching to his professional capacity, or his 
business relationship with the directors or the company. 

 Executive directors carry out day-to-day management of the company; Non-executive 
directors monitor the performance of internal company management 
objectively/independently. 

Number of directors 
S 201A(1): A proprietary company must have at least 1 director who ordinarily resides in 

Australia. 
S 201A(2): A public company must have at least 3 directors. At least 2 must ordinarily reside 

in Australia. 

Appointment of directors 
S 117(2)(d): Initial directors will be those consenting persons who are named in the company’s 

registration application. 
 
AGE REQUIREMENT: S 201B(1): An individual under 18 yrs old cannot be appointed as a 

director. 
‘individual’ is defined under s 22(1)(aa) of the Acts Interpretation Act 1901 (Cth) to mean 

naturual person  
 
CONSENT REQUIREMENT: S 201D: Before a person can be appointed as a director, he must 

give the company signed consent. 
 
S 201G [RR] & ASX LR 14.9: Members may appoint a director by a resolution passed in general 

meeting. 
 
S 201H [RR]: Directors may appoint a director (eg. to fill a casual vacancy). 
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 Proprietary company  company must confirm the appointment by resolution within 
2 months after the appointment is made. 

 Public company  company must confirm the appointment by resolution at the next 
AGM. 

 
ASX LR 14.5: A listed company must hold an election of directors each year. 
ASX LR 14.4: A listed company’s director (except MD) must not hold office, without being re-

elected, beyond the 3rd AGM following the director’s appointment, or 3 years – whichever 
is longer. 

 

Removal of directors 
 

If members do NOT like the way the board is running the company, they can change the 
Board’s membership or alter the Constitution under s136(2) to modify the powers of the 
directors. 
 
Alternatively, shareholders can sell their shares on the open market (this is obviously harder if 
shareholder owns shares in a private company because there is less liquidity).  
 
S 203C [RR]: Members of a proprietary company may remove or replace a director by 

resolution. 
S 203D(1): Members of a public company may remove a director by resolution, despite 

anything in (a) the constitution; or (b) any agreement between the director and the 
company; or (c) any agreement between the director and any of the members. 
 S 203D(2): Notice of an intention to move the resolution for removal of a director must 

be given to the company at least 2 months before the meeting. 
 S 203D(3): The company must give the notice to the director as soon as practicable. 
 S 203D(4): The director may put their case to members by giving the company a written 

statement for circulation to members, and speaking to the motion at the meeting. 
 
S 203E: A director of a public company cannot be removed by other directors. 

 

Powers of directors 
S 198A(1) [RR]: The business of a company is managed by or under the direction of the 

directors. 
S 198A(2) [RR]: Directors may exercise all the powers of the company, except any powers that 

the CL or the constitution requires the company to exercise in general meeting. 
 
Residual power of GM will occur,  

 if lack of quorum 
 commence legal proceeding in name of co under s 236 
 ratify D decisions (i.e. breach of duty) 
 directors are in dead lock 

 
S 198C [RR]: Directors may confer any of their powers on a managing director. They may 

revoke or vary this. 
 
S 198D(1) [RR]: Directors may delegate any of their powers to: 

 (a) a committee of directors; 
 (b) a director; 
 (c) an employee of the company; or 
 (d) any other person. 

Managing director 

S 201J [RR]: Directors may appoint one or more of themselves as managing director, on the 
terms (including remuneration and period of appointment) as they see fit. 
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S 203F(2) [RR]: Directors may revoke or vary the appointment of a managing director. 
S 203F(1) [RR]: A person ceases to be a managing director if he ceases to be a director. 

 

Company secretaries 

S 204A(1): A proprietary company is not required to have a secretary; but if it has one or more, 
at least 1 of them must be ordinarily resident in Australia. 

S 204A(2): A public company must have at least 1 secretary who ordinarily resides in Australia. 
S 204B(1): Only an individual aged at least 18 may be appointed a secretary. 
S 204C(1): A person must give the company consent in writing before being appointed a 

secretary. 
 
Functions: principal co record holder and admin officer. Responsible for maintaining co 

registers and for preparing and keeping minutes of all company meetings. 
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6. SOURCES OF POWER/ INTERNAL GOVERNANCE 
 

A company’s internal administration may be governed by: 

 Company constitution 

 Replaceable rules 

 Combination of both 

 

Replaceable Rules: 
 
S 135(1)(a): A section whose heading contains “replaceable rule” applies as a 

replaceable rule to: 
 (i) each company registered on or after 1 July 1998; and 
 (ii) any company registered before that date that repeals its constitution on or 

after that date 
 

 Apply to companies formed after July 1998, and companies formed before that date that 
have repealed (cancelled) their constitutions – CA s 135(1)(a)(i) and (ii) 
 

 Replaceable rules don’t apply to company formed prior to July 1998 which has retained its 
constitution 

 
 

S 135(1)(b): A section whose heading contains “replaceable rule for proprietary 
companies and mandatory rule for public companies” applies as: 
 (i) a replaceable rule to any pty company registered on or after 1 July 1998; 
 (ii) a replaceable rule to any public company registered on or after 1 July 1998 that 

changes to a pty company; 
 (iii) a replaceable rule to any pty company registered before that date that repeals its 

constitution on or after that date; and 
 (iv) as an ordinary CL provision to any public company. 

 
 
S 135(2): A replaceable rule can be displaced or modified [impliedly] by constitution. 
Conflict between RR and CC → RR impliedly excluded. Unless sensibly co exits: Mcneil v 
Mcneil sheepfarming co ltd. 

 
 
 
S 135(1): No replaceable rule applies to a pty company while the same person is both its sole 

director & sole shareholder. [see ss 201F – appointment of director and 198E – powers 
of director - for non-replaceable rules applying] 

 
 
S 135(3): Failure to comply with a replaceable rule is not of itself a contravention of the CA. 
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REPLACEABLE RULES TABLE – S 141 
 
There are 42 sections of the CA labelled ‘replaceable rules’: table in s 141. 
 

Officers and Employees  

Voting and completion of transactions - directors of proprietary companies 194 # 

Powers of directors 198A 

Negotiable instruments 198B 

Managing director 198C 

Company may appoint a director 201G 

Directors may appoint other directors 201H 

Appointment of managing directors 201J 

Alternate directors 201K 

Remuneration of directors 202A 

Director may resign by giving written notice to company 203A # 

Removal by members - proprietary company 203C 

Termination of appointment of managing director 203F 

Terms and conditions of office for secretaries 204F 

Inspection of books  

Company or directors may allow member to inspect books 247D 

Director's Meetings  

Circulating resolutions of companies with more than 1 director 248A 

Calling directors' meetings 248C 

Chairing directors' meetings 248E 

Quorum at directors' meetings 248F 

Passing of directors' resolutions 248G 

Meetings of members  

Calling of meetings of members by a director 249C 

Notice to joint members 249J(2) 

When notice by post or fax is given 249J(4) 

Notice of adjourned meetings 249M 

Quorum 249T 

Chairing meetings of members 249U 

Business at adjourned meetings 249W(2) 

Who can appoint a proxy [replaceable rule for proprietary companies only] 249X ** 

Proxy vote valid even if member dies, revokes appointment etc 250C(2) 

How many votes a member has 250E 

Jointly held shares 250F 

Objections to right to vote 250G 

How voting is carried out 250J 

When and how polls must be taken 250M 

Shares  

Pre-emption for existing shareholders on issue of shares in proprietary 
company 

254D # 

Other provisions about paying dividends 254U 

Dividend rights for shares in proprietary companies 254W(2)# 

Transfer of shares  

Transmission of shares on death 1072A 

Transmission of shares on bankruptcy 1072B 

Transmission of shares on mental incapacity 1072D 

Registration of transfers 1072F 

Additional general discretion for directors of proprietary companies to refuse 
to register transfers 

1072G # 
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Constitution 
The constitution:  
 Divides the power between the board and general meeting  
 state the number of directors the company is to have  
 how directors can be appointed and removed  
 
issues to consider: 
 
1. ascertain the date of registration – on certificate or conduct co search 
2. Consider whether company was registered before or after 1 july 1988. 

Assess type of company and hence determine whether RR or constitution applies.  
3. Note constitution can be modified or repealed by special resolution S136(2) 

RR can be displaced or modified by co constitution s135(2) 
4. Practical difficulties for creditors (outsider) wants to ascertain internal rules of 

proprietary co. co search not be reliable because they need not lodge copy of const or 
special resolutions- s136(5) applies to public co only. 

 
 
A companys internal administration may be goverened by replaceable rules contained 
in the CA, or by a constitution or a combination of both s 134 
 

STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS OF CONSTITUTION FOR TYPE LIABILITY CO. 

 
No Liability Company: must have constitution with an objective clause – mining purposes 

AND NO clause that gives co a contractual right to claim unpaid calls ss112(2)(a) &(b) 
 
Company limited by guarantee: must have constitution if wants to drop Ltd from name AND 

undertakes charitable purposes s150(a)(a) 
 
 
 
S 136(1): A company adopts a constitution: 
 

 (a) on registration – if each person specified in the registration application who 
consents to become a member, agrees in writing to the terms of a constitution before 
the application is lodged; or 
 

 (b) after registration – if the company’s general meeting passes a special resolution 
to adopt a constitution;  

 
 (c) court order- or if a s 233 court order requires the company to adopt a constitution. 

 
 
S 1415: Memorandum and articles [which have not been excluded] immediately before 1 July 

1998 are taken to make up the company’s constitution on and after 1 July 1998. [unless 
the constitution is repealed in its entirety: see s135(1)] 

 

Lodgement requirements for adoption on registration 

S 117(3): If the company is to be a public company with a constitution on registration, a copy 
of the proposed constitution must be lodged with the application. 
 

Lodgement requirements for adoption by special resolution 

S 136(5): A public company must lodge with ASIC a copy of a special resolution adopting 
(modifying or repealing) its constitution, and a copy of the constitution or modification, within 14 
days after it is passed. 
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Constitution takes on the effect of a contract between parties:  
 

S 140(1) provides Const/ replaceable rules have the effect of a contract  
a) between the company and each member s 140 (1)(a) 
b) company and each director and secretary s 140 (1)(b) 
c) between members in the extent to which they will uphold the constitution s 140 (1)(c) 

  
the courts interpret their provisions in a similar way to commercial contracts so as to give them 
a “business like interpretation” – Dome Resources NL v Silver [2008] NSWCA 322. 
Demonstrates courts are reluctant to imply further terms of permit evidence of an intention to 
depart from or add to the written provision as it stands. This is because it detracts from the 
entitlements of shareholders and other to rely on the written constitution as containing the full 
and complete constitution  
 
 
The contractual rights under s 140 however do not apply to by-laws made under a power 
conferred by the constitution- Wilcox v Kogarah Golf Club Ltd (1996) 14 ACLC 415. 
 
S140 allows the company to  enforce provisions in its constitution against its members, and 
also allows for members to force the company to comply with provisions of the constitution 
 
 
 
 
Capacity 
 

Members can only enforce those provisions of the constitution or replaceable rules 
which apply to them as members and not in any other capacity 
 
Eley v Positive Government Security Life Assurance Co Ltd (1875) 1 Ex D 20; (1876)  
Facts: 
 Company’s constitution provided that P was to be its permanent solicitor, dismissible only 

for misconduct. 
 No separate employment contract was entered into. 
 P received shares in consideration for his work, 
 Company then ceased to appoint him as solicitor  breach of statutory contract? 
 Although P was a member, the constitution’s provision conferred a right on P in the capacity 

of solicitor, not member (only later acquired the shares) P cannot enforce the 
provision. 
 

Cumbrian Newspapers Group v Cumberland & Westmorland Herald Newspaper & Printing Co  
A right given as part of the bargain to become a member is a membership right – even if only 
one member has it. 
 
 
Non-members can’t enforce constitutional provisions even if the constitution purports to 
give them rights. 
 
 
 no contract between a member and a director or secretary. s 140(1)(b) provides that the 
contract is between the constitution and the director and company secretary only.  Moreover, 
its common for directors to enter into separate contracts with the companies. If the constitutions 
however have provisions for appointment and also dismissal, the companies are still able by 
special resolution to remove directors. There will be a breach enforceable by the director but 
not breach by breaking constitution.  
 
Shuttleworth v Cox Bros and Co- court held that the clause appointing him as director for life 
was subject to the stat power given to companies to alter their constitutions.  
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Altering a Constitution 
 
Alteration of constitution and rules 

 
1. company may alter internal rules.  

 
Special resolution required S 135(2), 136(2-5) and 137. Further requirement may need 
to be satisfied 136 3-4 
 
*shareholder approval required to alter const. or displace replaceable rule 
*a company adopts a constitution if it passes a special resolution to effect- s 136(1)(b) 
*a special resolution required to modify/repeal constitution of provision of it – s 136(2) 
 
 
Special Resolution- Defined s 9. Defined as resolution passed by at least 75% of the 
votes cast by members entitled to vote on resolution s 249L(1)(c)  -also requires notice of 
meeting at which resolution taking place. 
 
Special resolution takes place on date it passes (unless otherwise specified) s 137(a) 
 
A special resolution may be passed if the company only has 1 member & that member 
records its passage in the minute book & signs the record - S 249B(1), s 251A(1)(c) 
 
Proprietary Company- A special resolution may be passed if all members of a proprietary 
company entitled to vote on the resolution sign a document stating that they are in favour 
of the resolution set out in the document - S 249A(2) 
 

 
Public company lodge with ASIC copy of special resolution within 14 days after its passed- 
s 136(5). If that public company displaces a replaceable rule within a constitution must 
lodge constitution with ASIC. Moreover, if it modifies constitutuion, must lodge modification 
 
 
 

2. Statutory limits 
 

S 140(2) – a member is not bound by a modification of the constitution made after becoming 
a member so far as the modification: 
 

requires member to take up additional shares or, 
 

increases member’s liability to contribute to the share capital of or otherwise to pay 
money to the company or 
 

imposes or increases a restriction on right to transfer shares already held by member 
 
A member is only bound by such a modification if they agree in writing.  
 
 
 

3. General Law limits: test laid down in Gambotto- ALTERATION VALID UNLESS BEYOND 
ANY CONTEMPLATED PURPOSE OR IS OPPRESSIVE 
 
See pg 121 textbook 
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4. S 136(3) Entrenching Provisions 

 
A constitution may restrict the company’s ability to amend or repeal its constitution by 
imposing further requirements: s 136(3) CA 
 
This section of CA recognizes that constitution may restrict company’s ability to 
repeal its constitution. There would be further requirements needing to be satisfied in 
order to alter the constitution. For example, greater than 75% of votes 
 
But it cannot contract out of its statutory right to alter its constitution: eg Peters’ 
American Delicacy Co Ltd v Heath (1939) 61 CLR 457; Russell v Northern Bank 
Development Corp Ltd [1992] 3 All ER 161 
 
 

Constitution and Expropriation of shares and FAIRNESS 
Alteration of constitution that involves exprop of shares must be fair as well as for 
proper purpose- page 123 textbok 

 

process of expropriation must be fair- majority must disclose relevant ingo leading up to 

alteration. And shares must be valued by independent 
 

fairness in relation to price to be paid to expropriated shareholders- if price is less than 

market price, it is prima facie unfair 
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7. Company and Contracts 
Once registered, a company has the legal capacity and powers of an individual both 
within Australia and elsewhere 
 
S 124 provides general power (‘all the powers of an individual’) and a specific non-
exhaustive list of additional powers 
 
 
S 125 - may limit these power through the constitution  
 
 
 
 

Capacity to contract- companies contracting 
A company can enter an agreement  
 

(A) DIRECTLY  
through one of its organs 

 

 by executing documents as per s 127(1) (2) involves directors or other authorized 
personnel, as an act of company. can execute a document by fixing common seal or without 
common seal (optional s 123(1) 

 

 by exercising documents as per is constitution  
 
 
Company Seals / signatures  
 S 123(1) a seal is now optional / when fixing has to be witnessed by same people as 

required signatures below 
 Instead can be signed by 2 directors of the company or 
 A director of the company and a secretary of the company  
 If a pty co with a sole director and is also the sole secretary – that persons signature 127(1) 

 
S 127 Execution of documents (including deeds) by the company itself 
 (1) A company may execute a document without using a common seal if the document is 

signed by: 
 (a) 2 directors of the company; or 
 (b) a director and a company secretary of the company; or 
 (c) for a proprietary company that has a sole director who is also the sole company 

secretary—that director. 
 Note:If a company executes a document in this way, people will be able to rely on the 

assumptions in subsection 129(5) for dealings in relation to the company. 
 

 
 
 
 

B. INDIRECTLY  
 

Through an agent – s 126 
 

S 126 allows company to contract through agent and company bound by act of agent 
Law of agency applies as well as rule s 128-130 
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C. CAN ENTER INTO CONTRACT DESPITE PROHIBITION BY CONSTITUTION 
 

Constitution to legal capacity  
a) may set out the company’s objects: s 125(2)  
b) may contain express restriction on, or prohibition of, the company’s exercise of any of 

its powers s125(1) e.g. contract cant be made without approval from board of directors  
 
HOWEVER; an act of the company is not invalid merely because it is contrary to the 
constitution  
 
S 125 Constitution may limit powers and set out objects 
(1) If a company has a constitution, it may contain an express restriction on, or a prohibition of, 
the company’s exercise of any of its powers. The exercise of a power by the company is not 
invalid merely because it is contrary to an express restriction or prohibition in the company’s 
constitution. 
(2) If a company has a constitution, it may set out the company’s objects. An act of the company 
is not invalid merely because it is contrary to or beyond any objects in the company’s 
constitution. 
 
 
 
 
 

INDOOR MANAGEMENT RULE- ACTING WITH AUTHORITY 
 
 

AGENCY 
An agent binds principal to a contract with an outsider. Agency is created by: 
 
actual authority 
An agent who enters into contract with outsider, if contract is within scope of agent’s actual 
authority. Whether express or implied 
 
*  Express actual authority- The actual authority may derive from a principal expressly giving 
the agent authority to enter into particular contracts 
 
*Implied actual authority- an agent may have implied actual authority- not expressly agreed 
between agent and principal but authority is implied from conduct of parties and circumstances 
 

 Position/office that a person holds 
 

*CEO/managing director – given all the usual authority associated with that office: Hely-
Hutchinson v Brayhead Ltd [1968] 1 QB 549 
*Single director, acting alone, in a multi-director company – fix, and witness the fixing of, 
the seal 
 

 Course of past dealings between the company and agent + acquiescence 
 

 Custom or trade usage 
 

 What is necessary or ordinarily incidental to the express actual authority 
 
 
 
apparent/ostensible authority 
Where the company has not agreed that the agent can act on the company’s behalf, but gives 
such an impression to an outsider. No agreement between principal and agent 
 
If agency can be proved, it creates an agency by estoppel- The company will be estopped 
from denying the agent’s authority 
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 Estoppel Requirements (Crabtree Vickers; Freeman & Lockyer) 
o A representation of authority is made to the outsider – the ‘holding out’ 
o Through words or conduct 
o That representation is made by someone with actual authority 
o The outsider is induced to enter the contract in reliance on this representation 
 
 
 
Crabtree Vickers v Australian Direct Mail Advertising & addressing (1975) 
 Bjnr / father B Snr mng director/ brother peter – directors  
 Peter entered into contract and Q of actual or ostensible authority to do so? 
 P held out to be ‘handling machinery negations’  
 No actual authority as the decision rested with the board of directors  
Held: "impossible to suppose that a director, not being a chairman or managing director, or an 
assistant manager or sales manager or a person holding no designated appointment, but acting 
as one of the three principal executives of the company, could have inherent authority to 
purchase a press costing over $200,000 
 
 
 
AUTHORITY OF COMPANY’S AGENTS and RIGHTS OF OUTSIDERS 
 

Company can enter contract through its organs such as board of directors or by an authorized 
agent such as officer or employee. 
 
S 136(5)- constitutions of public companies lodged with ASIC.  
 
CONSTRUCTIVE NOTICE- If the constitution contains a limitation non authority of company’s 
organs, officers or agents the CL deemed this limitation be be known to outsiders. NOW 
ABOLISHED 
 
 

RULE IN TURQUAND’S CASE 
 

Under rule this doctrine of constructive notice does not operate where directors or other organs 
acted outside authority but was not apparent from constitution or other public docs. 
  
“even though persons dealing with a company were taken to have constructive notice of the 
contents of company’s public docs they need go no further to ensure internal proceedings of 
company have been properly carried out. They can assume these proceedings were properly 
carried out even though they weren’t”  
 
 
Royal British Bank v Turquand (1856) -permits a person who is acting in good faith to assume 
that any internal delegations of power or approvals that are necessary under the constitution 
for the person to exercise that power have occurred  
 
 Outsider is not bound to enquire whether acts of internal management have been regular 

 
 if someone views a company’s constitution they gain actual knowledge of the 

requirements for agents to exercise power – therefore company is not liable  
 

 BUT if no knowledge they are not affected by the restrictions of constitution CA 130(1) 
 
 

EXCEPTIONS TO TURQUANDS RULE 
 

Northside Developments Pty Ltd v Registrar –General  
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Modern limitations have been placed on the indoor management rule – a person cannot rely 
on the rule if they: 

 Had actual knowledge of the irregularity or 
 Were put on inquiry (Northside Developments Pty Ltd v Registrar General  

 
Northside Developments case Facts: 
-A dispute about a mortgage that had not been executed according to the process set out in 
constitution. 
Held in the High Court: The indoor management rule is relevant, but if the third party is 
“put on inquiry” by the nature/ circumstances of the transaction, the contract will not 
bind the company. 
 
Facts: Common seal was affixed and signed by strugess as director and by his son who 
purported to sign as company secretary. Son had not been appointed under constitution 
although lodged docs named him as company secretary. The other directors of company did 
not know or authorize execution of mortgage nor appointment of secretary.  
HC held Northside not bound by mortgage because affixing common seal was not valid. 
Although there is rule in turquands case, the circumstances of case should have put 
Barclays on inquiry- Barclays failed to make further enquiries as to whether seal was 
properly fixed, they were unable to reply on rule in turquands case.   
 
Circumstances that should have put him on enquiry: mortgage was securing 
northside’s major asset. Transactions were outside normal business) 
 
 
 
 

STATUTORY ASSUMPTIONS 
 

Rule in turquands now adopted in S 129(1) CA. Entitles outsiders to assume that the 
constitution of a company and any applicable replaceable rules have been complied with 
 
S 128(1), S 128(4) -  A person is entitled to make one or more of assumptions in s 129 CA 
when dealing with a company unless the person knows or suspects that the relevant 
assumption is incorrect 
 

 Dealing(s) = negotiations or other steps in relation to a contemplated transaction: 
Soyfer v Earlmaze [2000] NSWSC 1068 
 

 Can apply to a single transaction: Story v Advance Bank Australia 

 

 It is not necessary that the person representing the company have authority from the 
company to commit the company to the relevant transactions or execute the relevant 
documents: Story v Advance Bank Australia 

 
 

Story v Advance Bank Australia Ltd 

Facts: Fleetwood Star was a family company whose sole shareholders and directors were Mr and 

Mrs Star. Company owned the family home - a mortgage executed by company over home for loan 

by bank to Mr Star personally. Security docs had company seal and signatures of both Mr and Mrs 

Star but Mr Star had signed his wife’s name without her knowledge. 

There was no meeting of directors to authorise mortgage. Mrs Star challenged validity of mortgage 

(at same time they were getting divorced in Family Court). Trial judge found Mr Star had no intention 
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to defraud his wife or the bank and that if she knew at the time, she would have signed, it was just 

easier for him to sign for her. Solicitor of bank said his search found them both as directors and 

assumed that they were signing in that capacity. 

Held: the bank was having dealings with the company (which means it comes under s 128). s 128(3) 

extends to a forged document, which includes purported dealings, not just actual dealings. Since 

the Bank had no actual knowledge of the forgery, it was able to rely on the assumptions. 

 
 
 
 
 

STATUTORY ASSUMPTIONS S128 129  
 
128 Entitlement to make assumptions 
 

(1) A person is entitled to make the assumptions in section 129 in relation to dealings with a 
company. The company is not entitled to assert in proceedings in relation to the dealings that 
any of the assumptions are incorrect. 
 

(2) A person is entitled to make the assumptions in section 129 in relation to dealings with 
another person who has, or purports to have, directly or indirectly acquired title to property 
from a company. The company and the other person are not entitled to assert in proceedings 
in relation to the dealings that any of the assumptions are incorrect. 
 

(3) The assumptions may be made even if an officer or agent of the company acts fraudulently, 
or forges a document, in connection with the dealings. 
 

(4) A person is not entitled to make an assumption in section 129 if at the time of the dealings 
they knew or suspected that the assumption was incorrect. (not reasonable person test) 
 
*** The onus of proof in relation to s 128(4) lies on whoever is challenging a person’s entitlement 
to make a s 129 assumption.  
 
*** It is a subjective test: it must be shown that the person in question actually knew or actually 
suspected that the assumption in question was incorrect. 
 
*** It is not sufficient to show that the circumstances were such as to put a reasonable 
person upon enquiry. 
 
 
 
 
S129 – types of assumptions  
 

(1) can assume constitution and replaceable rules have been complied with  
 

(2) (a) Director is duly appointed (b) has authority customary to those of a director  
 

(3) Anyone held out to be an agent/ officer is (a) duly appointed (b) has the customary 
authority of that kind of agent or officer 

 

(4) That officers and agents properly perform their duties  
 

(5) If document signed as per 127 (1) can assume it has been duly executed (including when 
stating they are a sole director/ secretary – ie If a document (signed without a seal) looks 
like it has been signed in accordance with s 127(1) CA, it has been duly executed by the 
company 
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(6) Document is duly executed if it has a seal as per 127(2)  ie- If a document (signed with a 
seal) looks like it has been signed in accordance with s 127(2) CA, it has been duly 
executed by the company 

 

(7) Officer or agent who has authority to warrant a document that it is a true copy  
 

where a person is entitled to make this assumption the argument is not to be made that the 
assumption is incorrect ss128 (1) – (2) 
 
However this is an evidential element whether the company is liable still depends on 
reference to common law principles 

 
 
 

 
 
 
A PERSON DEALING WITH A COMPANY IS ENTITLED TO MAKE CERTAIN 
ASSUMPTIONS IN RELATION TO THOSE DEALINGS. 
 
S 129 SETS OUT THE ASSUMPTIONS. IF ONE APPLIES, THE COMPANY IS NOT ABLE 
TO ASSERT THAT THE ASSUMPTIONS ARE INCORRECT 
 
THE RIGHT TO THE ASSUMPTIONS IS LOST WHEN PERSON KNEW OR SUSPECTED 
ASSUMPTIONS WERE INCORRECT  
 
PURPOSE IS TO PROTECT OUTSIDERS 
 
 
 
Each Assumption is separate and Discrete:  
 

If an outsider cannot rely on one assumption, the may still rely on another. While the 
assumptions are discrete they may overlap and an outsider may rely on more than one- Brick 
and Pipe Industries Ltd v Occidential Life Nominees Pty Ltd 
 
 
 
ASSUMPTIONS GENERALLY 
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Where a person is entitled to make one of the s 129 assumptions in dealings with a 
company, the company is not entitled to assert in legal proceedings that the assumption 
is incorrect: ss 128(1)-(2). 
 
 Assumptions can be made even if the officer/agent acted fraudulently: s 128(3) CA 
 In Soyfer v Earlmaze at [80], Hodgson CJ considered that: 

 

 The relevant fraud or forgery does not need to be within the agent’s authority in such a way 
as would make the company liable for it 

 

 It is sufficient that the person responsible for the fraud or forgery is an agent of the company 
in the sense of having some legitimate role on behalf of the company in relation to the 
dealings in question 
 

 Person does not have to prove they actually made the assumption in order to rely on it 
ASSUMPTION #1 COMPLIANCE WITH CONSTITUTION 
 Person may assume that constitution and replaceable rules have been complied 

with s 129(1).  
 This section does not require person to have knowledge of constitution or replaceable 

rules (Oris Funds Management Ltd v National Australia Bank (2003))  

 
Oris Funds Case 

Facts: Oris Funds was established to be trustee of a master trust fund conducted under another 

company OFS. OFS needed additional capital it agreed with Tower to be issued 40% of shares in 

OFM. Tower as payment gave cheques 150K. Stanley endorsed cheques. OFM constitution 

provided that any two directors could endorse cheques but that directors could determine that 

cheque could be endorsed in a diff way.  

Held: NAB could rely on 129(1) assumption. A person dealing with a company can assume that 

action taken by the company was in accordance with its constitution. Therefore NAB was entitled to 

assume that OFMs constitution has been with complied with even though only single director 

endorsed cheque.  

 

ASSUMPTION #2 PERSON NAMED AS OFFICER IN PUBLIC DOCUMENTS 

 S 129 (2) A person may assume in relation to dealings, that anyone who appears 

from info provided by company that is available to public from ASIC, to be a director 

or a company secretary: 

has been duly appointed and 

has authority to exercise the powers and perform duties customarily exercised or 

performed 

 

 For purpose of s 129(2), the info regarding directors and secretaries provided by a company 

that is available to the public from ASIC includes: 

 S 205B notice of the personal details of directors and secretaries 

 S 346C changes to officer details set out in companys annual statement 
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 Person may rely on 129(2) assumption even if person was not aware of info contained in 

ASIC notices or returns lodged by company (Lyford v Media Portfolio (1989)) 

 

 To establish this assumption under s 129(2) the person must establish that the particular 

officer acted within the scope of the customary powers of such an officer of a similar 

company 

 

 

#ASSUMPTION #3 PERSON HELD OUT AS OFFICER OR AGENT 

 S 129(3) entitles person to assume in relation to dealings that anyone who is held 

out by company to be an officer or agent has been duly appointed and has authority 

to exercise powers and perform duties customarily exercised by such 

 

 S9 defines “officer of a corporation” – includes the directors and company secretaries 

as well as executives who hold senior positions below board level.  

 To be classified as an “officer of a corporation” the executive must be a person: 

 Who makes or participates in making decisions that affect the whole or a 

substantial part of companies’ business or 

 Who has the capacity to affect significantly the company’s financial standing 

 In accordance with whose instructions or wishes the directors are 

accustomed to act 

 

 A person relying on this has onus of proving each element before being entitled to 

rely on assumption. Therefore, outsider must establish: 

 A holding out by the company that a person is an officer or agent and 

 The powers customarily exercised or performed by an officer or agent of a similar 

company 

 

 Where a company has held out a person is offer or agent, persons relying on this 

need not establish that the officer or agent was in fact appointed. S 129(3) allows 

them to assume it’s the case even if not true 

 

 Who has to make out theyre this agent? Holding out can only be made by a person who 

has actual authority to “manage the business of the company either generally or in respect 

of those matters to which the contract relates” – Freeman and Lockyer v Buckhurst Park 

Properties (1964)) 
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#ASSUMPTION #4 OFFICERS AND AGENTS PROPERLY PERFORM THEIR DUTIES 

 The duties to which s 129(4) include properly performing an officer’s stat and 

fiduciary duties. The section applies also when officers and agents act within the 

scope of their authority 

 

 

 

Pico Holidings v Wave Vistas (2005) 

Facts: dominion capital borrowed 1 million from pico. Voss dominion was capitals chairman and 

managind director, he promused wave vistas that theyrd provide a second mrtgage over wave 

vistas land to secure loan to dominion. Dominion breached loan agreement and pico initiated 

legal proceedings against wave.  

 

Held: HC held that under s 129(4) pico was entitled to assume that voss properly performed his 

duties to wave vistas and therefore voss has actual authority to make promise to provide 

mortgage as security. 

 

 

#ASSUMPTION #5 and #6 DOCUMENT DULY EXECUTED 

 A company may execute document with or without fixing its common seal to the doc. 

S 129(5) sets out an assumption of due execution where a document is executed 

without a seal.  

 If document seems to have been executed by company in accordance with s 127(1) theyre 

entitled to assume this 

 See above rules and pg 155 textbook 

 

 

OFFICERS AND THEIR CUSTOMARY AUTHORITY 

Under s 129(2) and (3) an officer or agent of a company only binds the company to 
contracts with outsiders if he/she exercises powers and performs duties CUSTOMARILY 
EXERCISED of PERFORMED by an officer/agent of a similar company.  
 
Individual Directors- generally powers of management. Sometimes however are given other 
functions/powers such as: 
-witness fixing of company seal 
-sign the company negotiable instruments and cheques 
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An individual director does not have customary authority to make contracts on companys behalf 
just because theyre appointed as director- Northside Developments Pty Ltd v Registrer-General 
(1990) 
 
 
Managing Director- has customary authority to make any contracts related to day-to-day 
management of company’s business. Includes engaging people to do work for the company 
and borrowing money on company’s behalf (British Thompson-Houston co v Federated 
European Bank (1932) 
 
Other examples pg 159 
 
 
 
Chair- chair has same customary authority as any individual director and does not therefore 
have customary authority to contract on company’s behalf (Hely-Hutchinson v Brayhead 
(1968)) 
 
 
Secretary- role has changed over the years. A secretary now has customary authority to enter 
into contracts that are related to the administration of the company (Panorama developments 
v Fidelis Furnishing Fabrics (1971)) 
 
 
 
 

EXCEPTIONS TO STAT ASSUMPTIONS- S 128(4) 
 

Person cant rely on s 129 assumptions is person KNEW or SUSPCTED that a particular 
assumption was incorrect at time of the dealings- s 128(4) 
 
 
(A) KNEW / KNOWLEDGE- likely that “knew” means actual knowledge.  
Section 128(4) is not concerned with “constructive” knowledge ie a person is not regarded as 
having knowledge simply because the information was on the public record or if a reasonable 
person would have known the information- Oris Funds Management v National Australia Bank 
(2003) 
 
 
 
(B) SUSPECTED ASSUMPTION INCORRECT 
Cant rely on s 129 assumption if at time of dealing they suspected assumption was 
incorrect- s 128(4)  
 
There are interpretations to suspicion however the now accepted test of whether a person 
suspected an assumption was incorrect was OBJECTIVE. 
 
Test- would the circumstances surrounding the dealing result in a reasonable person 
suspecting the assumption is incorrect. This would stop a person from failing to act 
reasonably in the face of suspicious circumstances 
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8. Issuing of Shares and Share capital 
 

o A share is an item of intangible property known as a “chose in action”. A share is a right 

to a specified proportion of the company’s share capital.  

o Ownership of a share gives proprietary rights as defined by company’s constitution  

o To note- a shareholder does NOT have any proprietary interest in the company’s 

assets 

 

Companies and Capital 

Section 124 CA: Legal capacity and powers of a company – companies can raise capital by: 

 Issuing and cancelling shares - Unless company limited by guarantee 

 Granting options over unissued shares 

 Granting a security interest in uncalled capital 

 Issue debentures 

 Grant a ‘circulating security interest’ (formerly ‘floating charge’) 

 

 
 
S 231: A person becomes a member of a company when: 

 Upon registration of the company (subscription) – s 117 

 Agreement to become a member after registration and name entered on register of 
members 

 Conversion from company limited by guarantee to company limited by shares 
 
 
S 231: An investor becomes a member: 
when the board enters his name in the share register. 
 
 
S 168 - 169: Companies must maintain a register of members 
 at registered office or business premises – CA s 172 
 But use of information is restricted – CA s 177 
      E.g for advertising purposes or improper use – e.g IMF v Sons of Gwalia Ltd (2005) 143 

FCR 274 
 
 
S 169 : The register of members must contain the information 

 Member’s name and address 

 Date on which the entry of the member’s name is made 

 An index if there are more than 50 members 

 If there is share capital – number, type and class of shares; dates of issue; amounts paid 
or unpaid 

 
 
 
Functions of the Register of Members: 
 

1. Prerequisite to membership: CA s 231 
-Membership of a company dates from entry in share register 
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2. In the absence of evidence to the contrary, the register is proof of the matters shown 
in the register: s 176 

Entry on the register is evidence of members’ rights 
Implications for standing to exercise members’ remedies 
 
3. A company must allow its members to inspect the register of members without 

charge: s 173 
 
4. A person aggrieved may apply to the court to have the register of members corrected: 

s 175 
 
 
 
Voting By Members 
 
S 250E(1) [RR]: Subject to any rights or restrictions attached to any class of shares, at a 

meeting of members of a company with a share capital: 
 (a) on a show of hands, each member has 1 vote; and 
 (b) on a poll, each member has 1 vote per share they hold. 

 
LR 6.9: On a poll of listed companies, shareholders are entitled to 1 vote per fully paid share 

& a fraction of a vote per partly paid share. 
 
S 250K(1) + S 250L(1): A poll may be demanded on any resolution by: 

 (a) at least 5 members entitled to vote on the resolution; 
 (b) members with at least 5% of the votes that may be cast on it; or 
 (c) the chairman. 

 
 
 A show of hands is used, unless a poll is demanded: RR s 250J 

 A poll may be demanded on any resolution, unless the constitution states otherwise: s 
250K 

 
 
 
Membership and Shares 
 

 If a company is limited by shares, ‘membership’ is linked to share ownership 

 Here, a member is referred to as a shareholder 
 
 May agree to become a shareholder through: 

 Issue and allotment of shares 

 Transfer of shares (eg purchase) 

 Transmission of shares (eg death or bankruptcy) – s 1072 A, B 
 

 
 
 
 

A Share 
 

S 1070A(1): A share in a company is: 
 (a) personal property; ‘chose in action’ 

 (b) transferable or transmissible as provided by the constitution; and 

 (c) capable of devolution by will or by operation of law (subject to constitution/RRs). 

 

 Shares satisfy definition of “securities” - s 92 CA 
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 A share is not: 

 A debt: Pilmer v Duke Group (in liq) (2001) 207 CLR 165 

 A right to any part of the company’s assets, due to separate legal entity of company:  

Macaura v Northern Assurance (1925) AC 619. Company has separate legal identity. 

Share has rights attached to it, but it is not a right per se to part of the company’s assets. 

 This is known as a right in specie 

 

 A share can be transferred, sold, given as security, left in will, held on trust (see s 1070A(3) 

re latter) 

 

 

Share Capital 

Share capital = total amount of money representing what members have provided/agreed to 

provide in cash/other value 

 

 

Fully and Partly Paid Shares 

 A company can issue fully paid or partly paid shares – s 254A(1)(c) 

 Issuing full paid = shareholder has paid entire issue price of the shares 

Issuing partly paid = a shareholder holding such is liable to pay calls on the shares unless 
company is no liability company s 254M. S 254Q: For NL companies, if a call on unpaid 
shares is not met, the shares are forfeited. 
 

 The amount unpaid on the shares is called the reserve capital or uncalled capital 

 When a company is winding up a shareholder need noy contribute more than the amint if 

any unpaid on the shares s 516 

 Liquidators have the power to make the calls for unpaid- s 254M even if calls are not 

permitted by company constitution (Wright v Mansell (2001)) 

 S 170: A company that issues options over its shares must maintain a register of option 

holders. 

 

 

ISSUE OF SHARES 
Contractual Rules 

 A company can issue fully paid or partly paid shares: s 254A(1)(c) CA 

 Directors have the power to issue shares, subject to constitution – see generally Part 

2H.1  

Shares may be issued on terms, rights and restrictions as determined by the company –

s 254B 
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Power must be used for benefit of the company – many cases on directors’ duties arise 

out of use of the power to issue shares 

 

 Normal rules of contract law apply to share issues. An investor makes an offer by sending 

company an application and paying issue price. Offer is accepted when company through 

its directors decides to allot the shares nd sends notice of the allotment.  

 Acceptance by post is deemed effective when posted- Byrne v Van Tienhoven (1880) 

 Offer lapses if not accepted within a reasonable time – Ramsgate Victoria Hotel v 

Montefiore (1886) 

 

 Consideration for share issue. In most cases is cash however companies may issue shares 

for non-cash consideration- Re Wragg Ltd (1987) 

 Company cant issue shares gratuitously – non cash consideration must be consideration 

recognized by law of contract, hence past services is not permitted.  

 Consideration other than cash must be consideration recognised under contract law. Re 
white star line  

  

 

Re Wragg: In absence of evidence that the non-cash consideration for the issue of shares was 
dishonestly valued, the share issue cannot be set aside. 
 

 *W & M formed a private company. 
 *The company bought W & M’s coach business in exchange for cash, debentures and 

its fully paid shares. 
 *The business was overvalued  argued that the shares were improperly issued as 

fully paid up. 
 Nothing to show the business was dishonestly valued  contract not set aside. 

 
 

share issue – statutory rules 

S 254X(1): Within 1 month after issuing shares, a company must lodge with ASIC a notice 
that sets out all the following: 

 
 (a) the number of shares that were issued; 
 (b) if the company has different classes of shares – the class to which each of 

those shares belongs; 
 (c) the amount paid (if any) on each of those shares; 
 (d) the amount unpaid (if any) on each of those shares; 
 (e) if the company is a public company & the shares were issued for non-cash 

consideration – particulars about the issue of the shares… unless the shares 
were issued under a written contract & a copy of the contract is lodged with the 
notice. 

 
If the shares were issued for non-cash consideration under a [written] contract, the company 

must lodge the contract  
 

 Public companies must give details of non-cash consideration on registration (CA s 117(2)), 

or on later issue (s 254X) 
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 S 254C requires a company to lodge a notice of share issue with ASIC. Includes any 

contract where by shares are issues by a public company for non-cash consideration. 

Under this section the company must also lodge ASIC certificate stating that payable stamp 

duty has been paid 

 Can issue bonus shares- for no value. Companies can issue bonus shares: s 254A(1)(a)  

 

 

Rights Issues 

 Made when a company offers to issue shares to existing shareholders in proportion to 

shares held  

 Contract formed when shareholder accepts offer 

 Renounceable rights issue- gives shareholder the power to sell their rights and accepts 

offer  

 

 

Share Certificates 

 Prima facie evidence of title of a shareholder to the number of shares specified: s 

1070C(2) 

 The share certificate must state: s 1070C(1) CA 

The name of the company and the jurisdiction of its registration 

The class of shares 

The amount unpaid on the shares 

 For companies listed on the ASX, they do not issue share certificates: s 1071H(2) CA- 

now replaced by the electronic holding statement 

 

RESTRICTIONS ON ISSUING SHARES 
S 254D(1) [RR]: Before issuing shares of a particular class, directors of a proprietary company 

must offer them to existing shareholders of that class. As far as practicable, the number of 
shares offered to each shareholder must be in proportion to the number of shares of that 
class that they already hold. 

 
LR 7.1: Listed companies must not issue more than 15% of its capital comprised of fully 

paid ordinary shares, without the approval of ordinary shareholders, unless exceptions 
in LR 7.2 apply. 

Exemption 10: The issue of preference shares is exempt if they comply with Ch 6 & have no 
conversion rights 
 

POWER TO ISSUE SHARES & DETERMINE TERMS/RIGHTS  
S 124(1)(a): A company has the power to issue & cancel shares in the company. 
 
S 198A(2) [RR] gives directors the power to issue shares. 
s 198A(2) [RR], directors have discretion to determine the issue price of shares. 
LR 2.5: Issue price of a listed company’s shares must be at least 20c in cash 
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S 254A(1): A company’s power under s 124 to issue shares includes the power to issue: 

 (a) bonus shares (an issue of shares for no consideration); 
 (b) preference shares (including redeemable preference shares); and 
 (c) partly-paid shares. 

 
S 254B(1): A company may determine: 

 (a) the terms on which its shares are issued; and 
 (b) the rights and restrictions attaching to the shares. 

 

Birch v Cropper: In the absence of evidence to the contrary, all shares are presumed to have 
the same rights and obligations 
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CLASSES OF SHARES 
 A company can issue different classes of shares for many reasons.  

 Application for registration of a company must include the class of shares that the persons 

who consent to members agree in waiting to take up- s 117(2)(k) 

 A company must lodge with ASIC setting out particulars of any division of shares 

into classes if the shares were not previously so divided or if shares were converted 

into another class- s 246(F)(1) 

 

 Public company must lodge within 14 days with ASIC copy of document or resolution 

that attaches rights or varies or cancels rights attaching to issued or unissued share 

– s 246F(3) 

 

 Listed companies can only have ordinary shares unless the ASX approves of other 

classes: ASX Listing Rule 6.2 

 

Common ways that these classes differ are: 

 Entitlement to dividends 

 Right to priority in payment of dividends 

 Voting rights 

 Right to priority of repayment of capital on winding up 

 Right to participate in distribution of surplus assets on winding up 

 

When do you have “classes of shares”? 
 A ‘class of shares’ exists where there is a commonality of interests (commonality of legal 

rights) between shareholders 

 This is a question of fact: Crumpton v Morrine Hall Pty Ltd (1965) NSWR 240 

 

 According to the common law, a share class does not need to be formally divided or 

specified in the constitution to exist 

 A class can consist of just one member: Buckland v Johnstone (1991) 9 ACLC 1193 

 

 

 

SHARE TYPE 1 ORDINARY SHARES and PREFERENCE SHARES 
 Not defined in CA 

 An ordinary share can be converted into a preference share, and vice versa: s 254G CA 

Exception: a share that is not a redeemable preference share when issued cannot 

afterwards be converted into a redeemable preference share:  s 254G(3) CA 
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 Ordinary shares will usually have: 

 Right to share equally in any dividends with other ordinary shareholders 

 Right to vote at a general meeting 

 Right to repaid capital on winding up, after other claimants have been paid 

 Right to share pro rata in any surplus assets on winding up 

 

 

 Holders of preference shares have preferential rights to receive dividends ahead of 

ordinary shareholders. Normally also have right to receive dividends at a fixed 

percentage of the issue price of their shares 

 Companies have the power to issue preference shares – CA s 254A(1)(b) 

 

 Ordinary shareholders receive dividends if company has surplus profits after payment of 

preference shareholders 

 Returns on investment for ordinary shareholders are more closely tied to fortunes of 

company 

 Preference shareholders only carry restricted voting rights 

 

 Preference shares must carry rights over and above at least one other class of 

shares: Re Capel Finance (2005) 52 ACSR 601 

 

 Preference shares can be given even if no ordinary shares have been issued- Beck v 

Weinstock (2013) 

 

 Preference shares can only be issued if the rights attached are set out in any 

constitution, or special resolution, regarding any of: s 254A(2) CA 

 Repayment of capital 

 Participation in surplus assets and profits 

 Cumulative and non-cumulative dividends 

 Voting 

 Priority in the payment of capital and dividends vis-à-vis other shares 

 If constitution is silent on the matters there are common law presumptions regarding 

rights of preference shareholders- see pg 221 

 

Preference shares – extra notes 
- Dividends in priority to ordinary share holders (as per constitution or special 

resolution) (see above section on dividends and voting) 
 

ASX rule when PS holders can vote  
a) Proposal to reduce share capital 
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b) Approve terms of share buy back agreement  
c) Proposal effecting rights attached to a share  
d) Winding company up  

Rights during a winding up/participation of dissolution 

 Ss 501 & 563A: All shareholders rank behind creditors in a winding up. 
LR 6.6: Preference shareholders of listed companies are entitled to be repaid share capital 
before any is paid to ordinary shareholders. 

 

 

 

 

SHARE TYPE #2 REDEEMABLE PREFERENCE SHARES 

 s 254A(1)(b) 

 Company can pay back the issue price to the shareholder and obtain return of the shares 

(‘redeem’), which are then cancelled: s 254J CA 

 

 Shares are redeemed on terms on which they were issued- s 254J(1) 

 

 Shares can be redeemable preference shares even though no ordinary shares have been 

issued and therefore have no preference over other shares – Weinstock v Beck (2011)  

 

 CA ensures rights of creditors aren’t affected by these shares. Unser s 154K a 

company may only redeem if: 

 If they are fully paid s 254K(a) and 

 Out of profits or the proceeds of a new share issue made for purpose of the redemption s 

254K(b) 

 Shares may be redeemed: 

 At a fixed time or the happening of a particular event, or at the option of the company 

or member: s 254A(3) CA 

 Redeemed only on terms upon which they were issued: s 254J(1) CA 

 

Redeemable preference shares – extra notes 

Redemption rights for preference shares 

Power  to issue redeemable preference shares – s254A(1b) 
 
S 254A(3): Redeemable preference shares are liable to be redeemed. They may be 

redeemable: 
 (a) at a fixed time, or on the happening of a particular event; or 
 (b) at the company’s option; or 
 (c) at the shareholder’s option. 

 
S 254G(3): A share that is not a redeemable preference share when issued, cannot afterwards 

be converted into one. 
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Requirements of redemption 

S 254J(1): Redeemable preference shares may be redeemed only on the terms on which they 
were issued. On redemption, the shares are cancelled. 

 

S 254J(2): This section does not affect the cancellation of redeemable preference shares under 
a reduction of capital or buy-back under Part 2J.1. 

 
S 254K: A company may only redeem redeemable preference shares: 

 (a) if they are fully paid; AND 
 (b) out of profits, (see dividends for profits) or the proceeds of a new share issue made 

for the purpose of the redemption. 

If don’t follow redemption requirements? 

S 254L(1): If a company redeems shares in contravention of ss254J-K: 
 (a) the contravention does not affect the validity of the redemption, or of any 

contract/transaction connected with it; and 
 (b) the company is not guilty of an offence. 

 
S 254L(2): Any person involved in a company’s contravention of ss254J-K contravenes s 

254L(2) [a civil penalty provision: see s 1317E]. 
 
S 254L(3): A person involved dishonestly in a company’s contravention of ss254J-K commits 

an offence. 
 

TNT Aust v Normandy: If a company issues redeemable preference shares on terms that allow 
holders to demand redemption, the company must organise its affairs to ensure that it 
will have profits to meet this obligation. Otherwise, it may be wound up by the 
shareholders under s 461(1)(k). – dangerous move as rank after creditors.  
 But consider share buy-back (s 257A) or share capital reduction (s 256B). 

 
Cancelation (in reduction) (see below) 

s 254J(2) indicates that s 254J does not affect the terms on which they may be 

cancelled under s 256. Thus the shares may be redeemed and cancelled in a s 256 

selective reduction. 
 

 

 

 

SHARE TYPE #3 CONVERTIBLE PREFERENCE SHARES 

 A preference share which may be converted into ordinary shares at fixed date 

 

 

 

CLASS RIGHTS 
 Class rights, according to CA s 246B (Part 2F.2 - Class Rights) are ‘rights attached 

to shares in a class of shares’ 

 

 Clearly includes: dividend or voting rights, the right to participate in surplus 

 Can include rights or benefits that, although not attached to any particular shares, are 

conferred on a person in their capacity as a shareholder of the company: Cumbrian 
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Newspapers v Cumberland and Westmorland Herald [1987] Ch 1- here, 2 newspapers 

trying to cooperate without merging. Instead of merging they created cross agreement 

between two companies. One had to amend constitution which so long as other company 

had 10% of first company shares was entitled to use. Included ability to appoint director of 

first company and to have preemptive rights of shares issued by first company. Tried to 

appoint director. Court had to determine whether these rights were class rights- deemed to 

be membership rights and specific rights not typically attached to shareholding. Deemed 

as attached to membership of other company 

 

 It does not include rights held other than as a member: Eley v Positive Government 

Assurance (1876) 1 Ex D 88. Ely was solicitor. Drafted constitution and said couldn’t be 

fired. He gained membership later after constitution was created. Courts found impossible 

to create membership rights when not a member. He took up membership later. This was 

not a membership right ie being solicitor till death.  

 

 

 

 

VARIATION OF CLASS RIGHTS 

3 questions to ask 

1. is the corp share capital divided into classes 
2. are the rights in question “class rights” 
3. does the proposed change amount to a “variation or cancellation” of those class rights? 

 

 

 Companies can vary or cancel rights attached to shares, but it must be approved in 

accordance with s 246B CA 

 

S 264B deals with two situations: VARYING and CANCELLING class rights 

 

If constitution sets out procedure for 

varying and cancelling class rights  

Rights may be varied or cancelled only 

where the procedure in the constitution is 

followed (s 246B(1)) 

If a company does not have 

constitution or constitution does not 

set out procedure for varying and 

cancelling class rights  

Rights may be varied or cancelled only: 

 By special resolution of company 

and 

 By special resolution passed at a 

meeting of the holders of the 

affected class or 
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 With the written consent of 

members with at least 75% of the 

votes of the affected class – s 

246B(2) 

 

S 246B(3): The company must give written notice of the variation/cancellation to the members 
of the class within 7 days of the variation/cancellation. 

 
 
S 246F(1), (2): The company must lodge notice with ASIC within 14 days if it is:  

 Dividing shares into classes if shares were not previously so divided 

 Converting shares into another class 
 
S 246F(3): Public companies must lodge variation/cancellation with ASIC within 14 days (if not 

already lodged) 
 
 
 
 

WHEN ARE CLASS RIGHTS ACTUALLY VARIED? 
 

Requires a comparison of the legal rights of members before and after the purported 
variation 
 
Greenhalgh v Ardene cinemas: varying of the enjoyment of rights does not equal a variation 
of rights. Facts: co contained 2 groups of shares, one group divided into 5 parts – effectively 
increasing voting power by 5 = no variations 
 
White v Bristol: A bonus issue of preference shares to ordinary shareholders does not vary the 
voting rights of existing preference shareholders. [but note s 246C(6)] 

 Company proposed to make a bonus issue to ordinary shareholders of preference shares 
ranking equally with existing preference shares. 

 As a result, the voting power of existing preference shareholders would be diluted. 

 There was only a change in the enjoyment of voting rights, not a change in the voting 
rights themselves  no variation of preference share rights. Still one vote per share. 

 
 
House of Fraser v ACGE: A return of capital/cancellation of a class of shares is a mere 
fulfilment (not variation) of rights. 
 
 
 
 

DEEMED VARIATION OF CLASS RIGHTS 
Certain things are deemed a variation of class rights 
 
S 246C: Deemed variation of class rights 
 

 S 246C(1): a subdivision of class of shares where the resultant class differ in rights for 
company with share capital. 
 

 S 246C(2): variation of some shares in a class = variation of all shares in class 
 

 S 246C(3): same as (1), except referring to companies without share capital. 
 

 S 246C(4): same as (2), referring to companies without share capital 
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 S 246C(5): issuance of new, differentiated class of shares where previously only one 
class, where not provided for in constitution or notice to ASIC. 

 

 S 246C(6): issue of new preference shares ranking equally with old ones, unless 
authorized by terms of issue or CC when original preference shares issued. 
 

 

Notice to ASIC 

S 246F(1): A company must lodge with ASIC a notice setting out particulars of: 
 (a) a division of shares into classes; and 
 (b) a conversion of shares in a class of shares into shares in another class. 

 
S 246F(2): The notice must be lodged within 14 days after the division or conversion. 
 
S 246F(3): A public company must lodge with ASIC a copy of each document (incl. 

agreement/consent) or resolution that: 
 Attaches rights to issued/unissued shares; 
 Varies/cancels rights attaching to issued/unissued shares; 
 Binds a class of members. 

 
S 246G(1): Members may request from the company a copy of the document or resolution 

referred to in s 246F. 
 

 
INSERT TABLE 225 
 
 
 

CONVERSION OF SHARES  
 

 254G(1)(a): A company has the statutory power to convert an ordinary share into a 
preference share: However, a company cannot convert an ordinary share into a 
redeemable preference share: see s 254G(3). 
 

 Note that it seems to be possible to convert a redeemable preference share into an ordinary 
share under s 245G(1)(b) and then re-convert it to a redeemable preference share under s 
245G(1)(a). This would not contravene s 245G(3). 

A conversion under s 254G(1) is only possible if s 254G(2) is complied with. This is likely to 
result in the variation of rights  
 
 
 
 

Issuing new classes of share  
 

A company has the power to issue a new class of shares. However, the issue is taken to vary 
the rights of the existing shareholders if the rights attaching to the new class are not provided 
for in the company’s constitution or in a notice, document or resolution that is lodged with ASIC: 
see s 246C(5). 
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CHALLENGING A VARIATION OF CLASS RIGHTS 
 
S 246D(1) gives members of a class the right to apply to the court to set aside a variation 
or cancellation of their rights or a modification of the constitution to allow their rights 
to be varied or cancelled 
 
 Application must be made by members holding at least 10% of votes of class concerned 

s 246D(2) and within one month after the variation, cancellation or modification made 
 

 May appoint someone within group affected to make application on their behalf S246D(4) 

 

 To enable a member to bring an application, company must give written notice of the 
variation to members of the class within 7 days variation is made S 246B(3) 

 
 There is an application to court to set it aside under s 246D CA – takes effect when 

application is withdrawn or finally decided: s 246D(3) CA 

 

 If all members of a class unanimously agree (by resolution or written consent) – takes effect 
on the date of the resolution/consent or as specified in the resolution: s 246E CA 
 

 

 
 
 

TRANSFER OF SHARES 
 
 The starting point is a presumption that shares are freely transferrable 
 This is a rebuttable presumption however: The company constitution may place 

restrictions on transfer as long as they are clear and unambiguous (s 1070A)  
 

E.g. board approval- Sung Li Holdings v Medicom Finance (1995) 13 ACLC 852 
Rights of pre-emption – transferor is required to offer the shares to existing shareholders (‘a 
right of first refusal’) 
 
 
 The transfer is not complete until the transferee’s name is entered in the register of 

members: s 231 CA; RR s 1072F(1) CA- Until then, the transferor remains the legal owner 
of the shares and holds the shares on trust for the transferee 
 

 Directors are not required to enter the transferee’s name in the register of members unless 
the following actions have been done: RR s 1072F(2) CA: 
 

 Transfer and any share certificate have been lodged 

 Applicable fees have been paid, and  

 Any reasonably required information as to right to transfer has been provided 

 
 In proprietary companies or unlisted public companies, the constitution may give 

directors the power to refuse to register a share transfer (RR s 1072G) 

 Directors may refuse to register a share transfer if: RR s 1072F(3) CA: 

 The share is not fully paid 
 The company has a lien on the shares 

 
 
 In addition, directors of a proprietary company may refuse to register a transfer of 

shares for any reason: RR s 1072G CA 
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 Public companies – directors must not prevent, delay, or interfere with the registration of 

a transfer of shares: ASX Listing Rule 8.10 
 

 If a company refuses to register a transfer, it must send the transferee notice of the 
refusal within 2 months after the transfer was lodged with it – S 1071E 
 
 
 
 

LIMITATIONS ON DIRECTORS’ REFUSAL TO REGISTER A TRANSFER OF 
SHARES 
 
 Discretion must be exercised in good faith, for proper purposes, in the company’s 

interests: Re Smith and Fawcett Ltd [1942] 1 All ER 542 
 

 Person may apply to court if refusal made ‘without just cause’: s 1071F CA 
 

 Person applying must show it was without just cause 

 If the constitution provides that no reason needs to be given, then no unfavourable 

inference can be drawn from not providing a reason: Australian Metropolitan Life Assurance 

Co Ltd v Ure (1923) 33 CLR 199 

 If a reason is given, it is subject to scrutiny: Roberts v Coussens (1991) 25 NSWLR 171 

 

 The existence of the right to refuse registration is not in itself ‘just cause’: Trafalgar West 
Investments Pty Ltd vs Superior Lawns Australia Pty Ltd [2012] WASC 460 

 

 Pg 267-268 textbook 

 
 
 
 

PROCEDURE FOR TRANSFER OF SHARES 
 
UNLISTED COMPANIES 
 S 1072F(2) - For unlisted companies, share transfer form and share certificate are 

delivered to registered office by the transferor 
 Any other requirement set out in constitution must be complied with – Poliwka v Heven 

Holdings (1992) 
 

 If company does not refuse registration: 

 The transferee’s name is entered in the register of members 

 It must issue a share certificate to the transferee 1 month after the transfer is 
lodged: s 1071H(3) CA 

  
 If the company refuses the registration- Transferees must be notified within 2 months of the 

refusal: s 1071E CA 
 
 
 

 
LISTED COMPANIES 



57 

 

 
 Listed companies use the Clearing House Electronic Subregister System (CHESS) 
 A clearing and settlement facility owned and operating by the ASX  

 
 2 main functions: 

 Facilitates clearing and settlement of share transfers 

 Provides an electronic register for shares 
 
 Share transfer is governed by operating rules of CHESS, not the constitution 

 
 Operating rules of CHESS constitute a statutory contract governed by CA: s 822B CA – 

which is enforceable by the courts - s 822C CA 
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DIVIDENDS 
 
Dividends are payments to shareholders and represent a return on the shareholders investment 
in the company 
 
 
 Can be: 
o Cash 
o Bonus shares 
o Dividend reinvestment plan 
o Options 
o Payment of unpaid capital (on partly-paid shares, for example) 
 
 
 s 254W (1) - Public companies: each share carries same dividend rights unless 

constitution or special resolution say otherwise 
 

 S 254W(1): Each share in a class of shares in a public company has the same dividend 
rights, unless: 
 (a) the constitution provides for the shares to have different dividend rights; or 
 (b) different dividend rights are provided for by special resolution. 

  
 
 
 RR (for Pty Co) s 254W(2): subject to terms of issue, directors may pay dividends as they 

see fit. It is at the company’s discretion as to whether to issue a dividend 
 

 Courts are traditionally reluctant to interfere with discretion – Burland v Earle (1902) AC 83 
 
 But: a persistent failure to pay dividends may amount to oppression or unfair 

discrimination under Part 2F.1, or justify winding up under s 461  
 
 
 
 
Dividends Can be Declared or Determined 
 
DETERMINATION 

 RR s 254U - Directors may DETERMINE a dividend payable, and fix time, amount, 
method of payment: RR s 254U 
 

 Under s 254U, a debt is not incurred until time for payment arrives, and under s 
254V(1), directors can revoke the decision to give a dividend until time fixed for 
payment arrives 

 
DECLARATION 

 s 254V(2)- The constitution may require the ‘DECLARATION’ of a dividend, which 
incurs a debt at time of declaration: s 254V(2). This cant be revoked as debt at time 
 

 The current test for when a company can pay dividends (CA s 254T) still refers to 
declaration 

 
S254 T When can a company pay a dividend? 

 A company must not pay a dividend unless 3 requirements are met under 254 T: 
 
1. company’s assets must exceed its liabilities immediately before dividend is declared and 
the excess is sufficient for payet pf dividend- s 254(1)(a) 
 
2. payment of dividend must be fair and reasonable to the company’s shareholders as a 
whole (1)(b) 
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3. Payment of dividend must not materially prejudice company ability to pay creditors (1)(c) 
 
*if company became insolvent because of payment this payment would “materially 
prejudice” 

 
 
Assets and Liabilities for s 254T(1)(a) net assets test are calculated in accordance with 
accounting standards in force at relevant time- s 524T(2) – we think this is for DECLARED 
dividends but use for both! 
 
 
Non-compliance with s 254T 
Will likely be considered contravention of other areas of the Act: 
 An unauthorised reduction of capital: s 256B 
 Insolvent trading: s 588G 
 Breach of directors’ duties 
 
Will likely also trigger an application for a s 1324 injunction to restrain payment (shareholders 
and possibly creditors would have standing to apply) 
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SHAREHOLDER MEETINGS 
 
Term meeting generally implies presence of at least 2 persons- Sharp v Dawes (1876) however 
it is possible to have a one person meeting e.g. s 249B where a company has single 
shareholder  
 
Meetings are governed by company constitutions and replaceable rules. The CA also sets 
rules.  
 
 
Annual General Meetings AGM 
1.Requirement to hold AGM 
 

 Public companies must hold AGM. First to be held within 18 months after registration s 
250N(1). Then it is to be held at least once every calendar year and within 5 months after 
end of company financial year s 250N(2) 

 Public companies must hold this AGm once every year even if other meetings are being 
held s 250N(3) 

 Public companies with only one shareholder not required to hold AGM s 250N(4) 
 

 Proprietary companies need not hold AGM unless constitution requires it 

 

 Companies can apply to ASIC for extension for the AGM s 250P(1). Application must be 
made before expiration of time s 250P(2). ASIC can agree to this but can impose conditions 
s 250P(4). Extensions will only be provided if there is good cause to postpone an important 
right of shareholders to expect one to occur within the time period – Exicom Ltd v Futuris 
Corp Ltd (1996) 

 

 Directors and shareholders entitled to vote can apply for court order to call an AGM s 249G 
 

 
2. Business of AGM 
AGM is a forum for: 
 reporting- to inform shareholders about financial and other matters concerning the 
company, considerations of annual report 
 
Questioning- provides opportunity for shareholders to ask questions and comment on 
matters including management of company and remuneration of directors etc 
 
Deliberating- opportunity for shareholder to discuss matters to which a vote is called at 
meeting 
 
Decision Making- enable shareholders to vote- through binding or non-binding resolutions 
on limited range of matters 
 
S 250R – business of AGM may include any of the following matters: 
consideration of annual financial report, directors report and auditors report 
election of directors 
appointment of auditor 
fixing of auditors remuneration 
 

 A listed company’s directors report must include a remuneration report setting out 
prescribed information about remuneration paid to directors and other key personnel s 
300A(1). And a non binding resolution must be put to vote on remuneration report at the 
AGM s 250R(2) 
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3.other AGM rules: 

 S 250S: Chair must allow reasonable opportunity for shareholders to ask questions/make 
comments: (in listed co - about remuneration CA s 250SA) 

 S 250T: Auditor can be asked questions and reply: CA s 250T, submit written questions: 
CA s 250PA 

 S 249N Directors set agenda but shareholders get right to require resolutions to be put 

 
 
 
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETINGS 
All companies may hold additional meetings to the AGM. 
 
Can pass resolutions at other meetings held during the year 
 
Can change constitutions 
 
Can remove directors 
 
 
 
CLASS MEETINGS 
When a company has different classes of shares the CA provides for calling of meetings for 
classes of shares in certain situations pg 564 txtbook 
 
 
 
 
WHO CAN CALL MEETINGS 
Directors 

 RR permit directors to call a meeting s 249C. constitutions usually give this power to board 
of directoes 

 
 Directors, at the request of shareholders holding at least 5% of the voting shares 
 

 CA s 249D(1) 

 Directors must call it within 21 days and the meeting must be held not later than two months 
after the request 

 If directors fail the above then shareholders holding more than 50% of the votes of all 
shareholders who made the request may call: CA s 249E(1) 

 
 Shareholders with at least 5% of voting shares can call  

 (without requesting directors to do so) BUT the cost is theirs!  

 CA s 249F 

 
 
 Court has the power to call a meeting 

 s 249G 

 They can also exercise their discretion in making further orders deemed expedient: CA s 
1319 
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NOTICE OF MEETING 
Shareholders must be given written notice of all forthcoming meetings 
 
If notice is given that particular information will be discussed at meeting no other business ca 
be discussed unless shareholders are present and consent 
 
 Must be in writing and needs to tell them what the meeting is about so they can decide 

whether to attend or not and consider how they may vote: s 249J 
 

 21 days notice must be given: CA s 249H (constitution may provide longer) 
 

 Listed company require 28 days notice: s 249HA 
 

 
 
Content of Notice 
S 249L: 
 
place, date, time of meeting, and technology used to facilitate meeting that is to be held two 
or more places 
general nature of the meetings business 
intention to propose a states resolution 
if a shareholder has a right to appoint a proxy, must be stated as well as whether proxy must 
be a shareholder. Shareholder must also be informed of right to appoint two proxies and to 
specify proportion of votes each proxy is appointed to exercise 
 
S 249L(3) : must be worded and presented in a clear, consise and effective manner. 
Test: what the ordinary shareholder who scans the documents quickly would understand: 
Devereaux Holdings Pty Ltd v Pelsart Resources NL (No 2) (1985)  
 
 
 
 
 
PROCEEDINGS AT MEETINGS 
Technology: a company may hold a meeting of its shareholders at two or more venues using 
any technology that gives shareholders as a whole a reasonable opportunity to participate s 
249S 
 
Quorum: the minimum number of shareholders whose presence is necessary for a meeting to 
be able to validly transact business. 
 
Set out in the company constitution or RR. Under RR the quorum is two and quorum must be 
present at all times during the meeting s 249T(1). Resolutions of such companies are passed 
by shareholder recording them and signing the record s 249B 
 
 
Chairing: chair is person in charge of meeting. Has responsibility for ensuring meeting is 
properly conducted. 
Under RR the directors may elect an individual to chair shareholder meetings s 249U(1) 
If not elected by directors or not available, then shareholders at meeting can elect: s 249U(3) 
 
The replaceable rule contained in s 250E(3) provides that the chairperson has a casting vote.  
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VOTING AND PROXIES 
 

 Shareholders vote by show of hands or by a poll 

 Company with shares: RR specifies that shareholders have one vote per person on show 
of hands and one vote per share on a poll s 250E(1) 

 Company with no share capital: members have one vote per person both on a show of 
hands or a poll 

 A poll may be demanded on any resolution. A poll may be demanded by at least 5 
shareholders entitled to vote, shareholders with at least 5% of votes or the chair s 250L(1) 

 the proxy has the same rights to speak, vote, demand a poll  

 a proxy may be an individual or body corporate s 249X(1A) 

 pg 572/573 txtbook 

 
 
 

RESOLUTIONS 
There are diff types of resolutions which show importance of motions being voted on.  
 
Ordinary resolutions- require a simple majority vote of the shareholders who are present 
in person or proxy at the meeting 
 
Special resolution- must be passed by at least 75% of the votes cast by shareholders 
entitled to vote on the resolution s 9.  
 
Circulating resolutions- a proprietary company with more than one shareholder may 
pass a resolution without holding a general meeting if all shareholders entitled to vote on the 
resolution sign a document containing a statement that they are in favour of the resolution s 
249A(2) 
 
Shareholders may sign separate copies of the document if wording of resolution and 
statement is identical in each copy s 249A(3).  
 
The resolution is passed when the last shareholder signs s 249A(4) 
 
Cant be used to remove an auditor s 329 
 
 
One shareholder companies- a company with only one shareholder passes a resolution 
if the shareholder records the resolution and signs the record s 249B 
 
Resolution must strictly comply with formalities of s 249B- Sheahan v Londish (2010) 
 
 
 Shareholder Resolutions and statements- CA recognizes that minority shareholders 
also have the right to require the company to circulate their own proposed resolutions and 
statements 
 
S 249N gives shareholders right to require a company to put resolutions to be considered at a 
general meeting 
 
Shareholders with at least 5% of the votes that may be cast OR at least 100 
shareholders entitled to vote may give a company notice of a resolution that they 
propose to move at a general meeting s 249N(1) 
 
Resolutions to be considered must be considered at next general meeting accruing more than 
2 months after notice is given s 249O(1) 
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The Duomatic Principle 

The essence of the Duomatic principle, as I see it, is that, where the articles of a company 
require a course to be approved by a group of shareholders at a general meeting, that 
requirement can be avoided if all members of the group, being aware of the relevant facts, 
either give their approval to that course, or so conduct themselves as to make it inequitable for 
them to deny that they have given their approval. Whether the approval is given in advance or 
after the event, whether it is characterised as agreement, ratification, waiver, or estoppel, and 
whether members of the group give their consent in different ways at different times, does not 
matter EIC Services Ltd v Phipps [2003] EWHC 1507 Neuberger J 
 
 
 
MINUTES 
A company must keep minute books in which it records proceedings and resolutions of 
meetings of companys shareholders and directors including meetings of committees of 
directors s 251A(1)  
 
Reolutions passed by shareholders or directors without meeting need to be recorded also. Must 
be signed by a director s 251A(3) 
 
Minutes of listed companies must also record details about votes cast by proxies s 251AA 
 
Minutes must be recorded within one month and signed within a reasonable time after meeting 
by chair of meeting or chair of next meeting s 251A(2) 
 
 
 
IRREGULARITIES 
Procedural irregularities- are not invalidated unless court Is of opinion that irregularity has cased 
or may cause substantial injustice that may not be otherwise remedied by a court 
 
In these cases court has power to declare proceedings invalid s 1322(2) 
 
Examples- absence of a quorum and deficiency of notice or time 
 
Pg 579 
 
 
 
  

http://www.bailii.org/ew/cases/EWHC/2003/1507.html
http://www.bailii.org/ew/cases/EWHC/2003/1507.html
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9. FINANCIAL REPORTING 
 
DISCLOSURE 

 the financial reporting requirements depend on the type of company 
 

 primarily for benefit of shareholders. S 314(1) requires companies to report to members for 
a financial year by sending copies of the following: 

 

financial report for the year 
directors report for the year 
auditors report on the financial report 
 
To note: small proprietary companies are not required to provide the above reports unless 
shareholders with at least 5% of the votes direct the company to do so s 293 

 
 

# 1 FINANCIAL RECORDS 
 

Duty to keep Financial Records 
 

 S 286(1) A company, registered scheme or disclosing entity must keep written 
financial records that: 

correctly record and explain its transactions and financial position and performances 

would enable true and fair statements to be prepared and audited 
 

 S 9 defines “financial records” includes invoices, receipts, documents of prime entry, 
working papers and other docs needed to explain the methods used to generate financial 
statements 
 

 Pg 588 textbook provides information on types of books and records proprietary 
companies should keep 

 

 S 286(2) Financial record must be retained by company for at least 7 years after 
transactions covered by the records are completed 

 

 S 287 whilst financial records can be kept in any language if theyre not kept in English an 
English translation must be made available within reasonable time to person who is entitled 
to inspect the records  

 

 S 288 if the records are kept in electronic form they must be convertible into hard copy 

 
Consequences of breach 

 Directors are responsible for ensuring the company complies with financial records and 
reporting provisions of Pts 2M.2 and 2M.3 of CA 
 

 Contravention of s 286 is a strict liability offence and directors who fail to take all 
reasonable steps to comply contravene s 344(1), a civil penalty provision under Pt 9.4B 

 Contravention may result in civil penalty order being imposed on director 
 

 S 588E(4) a company that fails to keep and retain financial records as required by s 286(1) 
or (2) is presumed to be insolvent  

 
Who has access to books and financial records? 

 Shareholders have limited access 

 RR s 247D provides that directors may authorise a member to inspect companys books. 
Members must also obtain authorisation by a resolution passed at a general meeting 
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 A member may apply for court order under s 247 to inspect the books of the company- 
court will grant if satisfied that applicant is acting in good faith and inspection is to be made 
for proper purpose 

 

 Directors- in order to make sure theyre fully informed they have right to access s 290(1) 
at all reasonable times 

 Director may be restrained from exercising this right of access only if it is affirmatively 
established that directors intended either to misuse information of inspection would 
materially harm company Deluge Holdings pty ltd v Bowlay (1991)  

 Directors have a right to inspect the company books s 198F  

 

 ASIC also have power to inspect s 28- 39A of ASIC ACT 
 

 Company auditor and receiver have right of access to company financial records ss 310 
and 431 

 
 
 

# 2 ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORTS 

 
 

Step 1. Prepare financial 
report  

s 295 Includes: 
* financial statements 
* disclosures and notes 
* directors declaration 
 
 

Step 2. Prepare directors 
report 
 
 

S 298 Has many components 

Step 3. Have financial report 
audited and obtain an 
auditors report 

ss 301, 307, 308 Small prop company- only 
needs audit if direction asaks 
for it (s 293) 
 
S 312- officers must assist 
auditor 
 
S 340 and 341 ASIC may 
relieve large prop companies 
from audit requirements 

Step 4. Provide financial 
report, directors report and 
auditors report to members 
 

S 314  

Step 5. Lodge financial 
report, directors report and 
auditors report with ASIC 
 
 

S 319 Deadline s 319(3) 

Step 6. PUBLIC 
COMPANIES ONLY- lay 
financial report, directors 
report and auditors report 
before AGM 
 

S 317 Deadline s 250N 
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Obligations to prepare annual financial report 
 

S 292(1) requires a financial report and a directors report to be prepared each financial year 
by: 
disclosing entities 
PUBLIC COMPANIES 
large PROP companies 
registered schemes 
 
 
Contents of annual financial report 
 

S 295(1), a financial report for financial year contains: 
 

financial statements for year 
notes of financial statements 
directors declaration about statements and notes 
 
 
Financial statements 
S 295(2) specifies that financial statemens for year are the financial statements required by 
accounting standards: 
balance sheet 
profit and loss statement 
statement of changes in equity 
cash flow statement 
 
 
Who has to do financial statements? 
S 292 
 All public companies 
 All large proprietary companies 
 All disclosing entities, registered schemes 
 Some small proprietary companies 
 
 
Notes to financial statements- what are they? 
 

S 295(3) specifies that notes are: 
 

disclosures required by the regulations 
notes required by the accounting standards and 
any other info necessary to give a true and fair view 
 
 
Directors Declaration- what is this? 
S 295(4) 
The directors' declaration is a declaration by the directors: 
 
(c)   whether, in the directors' opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the 
company, registered scheme or disclosing entity will be able to pay its debts as and when they 
become due and payable; and 
    
(ca)   if the company, registered scheme or disclosing entity has included in the notes to the 
financial statements, in compliance with the accounting standards, an explicit and unreserved 
statement of compliance with international financial reporting standards—that this statement 
has been included in the notes to the financial statements; and    
 
(d)   whether, in the directors' opinion, the financial statement and notes are in accordance with 
this Act, including: 
 (i)   section 296 (compliance with accounting standards); and    
 (ii)   section 297 (true and fair view); 
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The directors declaration must be signed by the directors and be made in accordance 
with a resolution of the directors and specify on which date the declaration is made s 
295(5) 
 
 
 
 

#3 DIRECTORS REPORTS 

S 298(1) requires company to prepare a directors report for each financial year 
 
Must include both general information about companys operations and activities (s 299) as 
well as specific information requires by s 300 
 
General Information: 
S 299(1) requires directors report to set out: 
 

a review of companys operations and results of such 
details of significant changes in companys state of affairs 
companys principal activities and significant changes in nature of such 
details of post-balance-date matter that may or has affected companys operations results of 
state of affairs 
reference to likely developments in companys operations and expected results in future 
financial years 
if any activities are subject to sig environmental regulation, details of such 
 
 
Additional general requirements (s 299A) for listed companies: 
Directors report of a listed company must also contain an operation and financial review (OFR) 
to enable shareholders to make informed decisions s 299A 
 
 
Specific Information: 
S 300(1)-(9) requires directors to set out range of specific info for a financial year. 
 
Public companies, listed companies and registered schemes must include extra info under s 
300(10)-(13) 
 
Refer pg 599 textbook for the specific info 
 

 Dividends 
 Names of directors, officers, auditors 
 Any derivative actions  
 
For public companies 
 Director’s qualifications, experience, special responsibilities, board and committee 

attendance 
 

For listed companies 
 Director’s shares, other directorships, other interests 
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??? what is this and do we need to know about pgs 601-605? 
 
 
 
ASX LISTING AND DISCLOSURE 
ASX listing rule 4.10 sets out requirements additional to CA reporting requirements 
 
Additional ASX requirements: 

 Statement of main corporate governance practices that the entity had in place 

 Names of substantial shareholders and number of securities each has 

 Number of holders of each class of shares and voting rights attached 

 Names of 20 largest holders of each class of shares and number and % of capital held by 
each of them 

 
 Reporting Requirement: Listed companies are regarded as listed disclosing entities (s 
111AL) and thefore required to prepare and lodge half-year financial reports with ASIC s 302 
Lodging of the half year financial reports must happen with ASX no later than 2 months after 
end of a half-year period (ASX listing rule 4.2A) 
 
 Reporting Requirement: annual report- s 314 requires companys and disclosing entitites to 
report via website or by sending them hard copies of: 

 Annual financial report 

 Annual directors report and 

 Audotors report on the financial report 

 
 
LODGEMENT OF REPORTS AND DEADLINES 
 
Companies and disclosing entities must lodge the above reports with ASIC S 319(1) 
Companies docs must be lodged within 4 months after end of financial year s 319(3)(b) 
Disclosing entities must lodge reports with ASIC within 3 months after end of financial year 
s 319(3)(a) 
Half year reports of disclosing entities must be lodged with ASIC within 75 days after end of 
the half year s 320 
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Reports for small prop companies under s 293 and s 294 are not required to lodge s 319(2) 
 
 
 
EXTRACT OF PARTICULARS 
Previous law required the lodging of an Annual Return to ASIC now ASIC provides the company 
with an Extract of Particulars and the company is required to confirm or correct the information 
by lodging a Return of Particulars (also called compliance notice). CA ss 346A-346C 
 
 
 
 
 
CONTINUOUS DISCLOSURE 
Corporations and others that come under Pt 1.2A definition of a “disclosing entity” have 
enhanced disclosure obligations 
 
Disclosing Entity- include entities whose securities are listed on a fincnail market asuch as 
ASX. Complex definition is in Pt 1.2A ss 111AA- 111AX of CA.  
 
1.Half Year Financial Report and Directors Report: disclosing entities required to prepare 
annual financial reports s 292(1)(a). must also prepare half year financial reports and half year 
directors reports s 302. The financial reports need auditing. Copies of both reports are lodged 
with ASIC THIS WAS ALL SAID ABOVE 
 
2.Continuous Disclosure- a disclosing entity subject to Ch 6CA of the CA ss 674-678.  
 

There are different requirements for: 

 Listed disclosing entity 

 Unlisted disclosing entity 

 
Listed closing entity: 
S 674(1) requires a listed disclosing entity to comply with listing rules of a listing market, which 
require the entity to notify the market operator of info about specified events or matters as they 
arise- in Australia this is the listing rules of the ASX: 
 
S 674(2) requires compliance with the continuous disclosure obligations of ASX Listing Rule 
3.1- provides that a listed company must immediately notify the ASX of any info concerning the 
company of which it is or becomes aware which is not generally available and which a 
reasonable person would expect to have a material effect on price or value of the 
companys securities 
 
S 677 explains- reasonable person would be taken to expect info to have a material effect on 
price or value of securities for purposes of s 674 if info would, or would likely, to influence 
persons who commonly invest in securities in deciding whether to acquire or dispose 
of the securities 
 
 
Exceptions  
 

Listing rule 3.1 does not apply to particular information if: 
3.1A.1 One or more of the following 5 situations applies: 
 

 It would be a breach of a law to disclose the information; 

 The information concerns an incomplete proposal or negotiation; 

 The information comprises matters of supposition or is insufficiently definite to warrant 
disclosure; 

 The information is generated for the internal management purposes of the entity; or 

 The information is a trade secret; and 
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3.1A.2 The information is confidential and ASX has not formed the view that the 
information has ceased to be confidential; and 
 
3.1A.3 A reasonable person would not expect the information to be disclosed. 
 
 
Unlisted Disclosing Entity- CA s 675 applies to non-listed disclosing entities and if they 
become aware of price-sensitive information that is not generally available and which is not 
required in other disclosure then they must lodge a document telling ASIC  
 
 
 
CONSEQUENCES OF NON DISCLOSURE 
 
Directors contravene s 344(1) if they fail to take reasonable steps to comply with financial 
recprds and reporting provisions of pts 2M.2  and 2M.3. S 344(1) is civil penalty provision 
Pt 9.4B of CA provides for civil penalty consequences of breach  
 
Contravention of s 344(1) becomes a CRIMINAL offence if contravention is dishonest s 
344(2) 
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10. AUDITORS 
 
Function of auditor is to carry out an audit and present a reliable independent report on accounts 
and financial position of a company 
 
An audit enhances credibility of a companys financial reports prepared by its directors- provides 
assurance as to the reliability of the info provided 
 
CA provides for registration of individual auditors, auditing partnerships and auditing 
companies CA s 324AA. 
 
Auditors must have university degrees with study in auditing and company law (or equivalent), 
then relevant experience and comply with auditing competency standard that ASIC approves. 
See pg 616 of textbook for registration requirements 
 
 
 

When does an auditor need to be appointed? 
Not all companies are required to produce independently audited annual financial statements 
but certainly public companies and large proprietary companies must: CA ss 327A, 
327B[public];  325, 293(3),294 [pty]  
 
Directors of public companies must appoint an auditor within one month after company is 
registered unless members have appointed one at genera meeting s 327A(1) 
 
Small prop companies generally not required to appoint auditor unless ASIC or shareholders 
holding at least 5% of votes direct company to s 293(3)(c) and s 294 
 
Auditors may be removed from office by members in general meeting CA s 329- by resolution 
at general meeting s 329(1) details pg 625 
 
When removed at a meeting the company may appoint another at that meeting by passing a 
special resolution s 327D 
 
Auditors hold office until death, removal, resignation or until company goes into liquidation CA 
ss 327B, 330 
 
 
 

Duties of Auditor 
by accepting the auditor enters into contractual relationship with company 
 
Stat Duties: 

 Reporting to members- when auditing annual financial report must report to members 
whether auditor is of opinion that report is in accordance with the CA including ss 296 and 
297- provisions dealing with compliance with accounting standards and true and fair view 
s 308(1) 

 Must carry out audit of half year financial report- must report to members of of opinion that 
report is in accordance with CA including ss 304 and 305- the half year provisions dealing 
with accounting standards and true and fair view s 309(1) 

 An auditor revewing financial report half year report must report to members on whether 
auditor becomes aware of any matter in course of review that makes auditor believe report 
does not comply with reqirememnts of CA s 309(4) 

Auditors at AGM: 
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 Auditors of listed companies must attend companys AGM at which the auditors report is 
considered s 250RA(1) AND (2) 

 Auditors of unlisted are entitled to attend and be heard, but is not compulsory s 249V 

 The chair must allow reasonable opportunity for members as a whole to ask questions to 
the conduct of the audit, the preparation and content of audit, companys accounting 
policies, and independence of auditor s 250T(1)(a) 

 Auditors and reporting to ASIC 

 Auditors have stat duty to report to ASIC if they have reasonable grounds to suspect a sig 
contravention of CA has occurred or an attempt to unduly influence coerce or manipulate 
or mislead a person involved in conduct of an audit or interefere with proper conduct of 
audit s 311(1) 

 Must notify asap and within 28 days after becoming aware of circumstances s 311(1) and 
(2) 
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DIRECTORS DUTIES 
 

 

Fiduciary Duties and Directors 
Directors have a fiduciary relationship with their company and owe fiduciary duties to it 
Senior managers have a similar fiduciary relationship 
 
Developed through case law, the fiduciary duties owed are: 
 

 act in good faith in best interests of the company 
 exercise their powers for proper purposes 
 retain their discretionary powers 
 avoid undisclosed conflicts of interest 
 duty of care to their company 

 
Fiduciary overlap with CA: 
Fiduciary duties are supplemented with stat duties. Most of them just restate the duties but 
DO NOT replace or override the fiduciary duties 
 
They have effect IN ADDITION to the fiduciary duties owed s 185 
 
 
Fiduciary Obligation to act in good faith in best interests of the company; and to 
exercise their powers for proper purpose- Supplemented by s 181 which imposes stat 
duties 
 
Fiduciary obligation to avoid undisclosed conflicts between their personal interests 
and interests of company- complemented by s 182 and 183. 
 
Fiduciary obligation to exercise reasonable care skill and diligence under common 
law under s 180(1) 
 
 
 
 
WHO OWES THE DUTIES? 
 
1. Fiduciary duties: owed by directors to the company, also owed by those in a relationship 
where there are fiduciary obligations 

Hospital Products v USSC  = director/ company relationship is a fiduciary one/ employee 
may stand in this position on the circumstances.  

Canadian Aero Service Ltd v O’Malley  = anyone in same position as directors owes the duty. 

Facts: the Plaintiff [Canadian Aero] was small Canadian company who dealt in topographic 

mapping. The Defendant [O’malley and others] were senior officers of the Plaintiff. The Defendants 

decided to resign because they were discontented. They formed a new business, Terra, which 

offered similar services. Terra received a contract based on work which was done on some 

preparatory work that had been performed by the Defendants when they were still working for the 

Plaintiff. The Plaintiff claimed that profits out of this contract are obtained by reason of office as 

directors and thus accountable. 

Held (Laskin J): 
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Question to be determined: Were the parties directors? Was there a duty? Was it breached? Is 

there liability for that breach? 

Held: Acted as directors, so it doesn’t matter that they weren’t validly appointed 

-Directors or senior officers are precluded from obtaining for himself, either secretly or with the 
approval of the company, any advantage either belonging to the company or for which it has 
been negotiating, especially if that director has been a participant in those negotiations 

The duty applies where the director resigns where the resignation may fairly be said to have 

been prompted or influenced by a wish to acquire for himself the opportunity sought 

 
 
 
2. Contractual duties: those who have contracts with the company 
 
3. Tortious duties: those who are in such proximity to the company that they owe a duty of 
care 
 
4. Statutory duties: Directors, officers and sometimes employees.  
 
Directors- duties in s 180-184 are imposed on DIRECTORS and “OFFICERS OF A 
CORPORATION”  
 
Employees subject to duties in s 182 and 183 
 
 
S 9 definition “officer of a corporation” – includes persons who hold certain specified 
positions including directors and secretary of company.  
Persons involved in managing such as receivers, administrators, liquidator are 
included in the definition.  
 
Includes company executives who hold senior positions below board level.  
 
To be officer of a corporation the executive must be a person: 

 Who makes or participates in making decisions that affect whole or substantial part of 
company’s business or 

 Who has the capacity to affect significantly the company’s financial standing or 

 In accordance with whose instructions or wishes the directors are accustomed to act 
(shadow officer) 

"officer " of a corporation means: 
(a)  a director or secretary of the corporation; or 
(b)  a person: 
(i)  who makes, or participates in making, decisions that affect the whole, or a 
substantial part, of the business of the corporation; or 
(ii)  who has the capacity to affect significantly the corporation's financial standing; or 
(iii)  in accordance with whose instructions or wishes the directors of the corporation are 
accustomed to act (excluding advice given by the person in the proper performance of 
functions attaching to the person's professional capacity or their business relationship with 
the directors or the corporation); or 
(c)  a receiver, or receiver and manager, of the property of the corporation; or 
(d)  an administrator of the corporation; or 
(e)  an administrator of a deed of company arrangement executed by the corporation; or 
(f)  a liquidator of the corporation; or 

http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/cth/consol_act/ca2001172/s9.html#director
http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/cth/consol_act/ca2001172/s9.html#director
http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/cth/consol_act/ca2001172/s9.html#director
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(g)  a trustee or other person administering a compromise or arrangement made between the 
corporation and someone else. 

 
***Therefore “officer” does not include middle managers of a company who do not report 
directly to the board. Their roles are confined to segments of a companys business or financial 
affairs and therefore not unlikely to be involved in making decisions that affect WHOLE or 
SUBATANTIAL part of the comapnys business 
 
***consequently middle managers have a CONTRACTUAL DUTY to the company to 
exercise reasonable degree of care and diligence and to act in good faith, they cant be 
liable for contravening ss 180 or 181 
 
 
 
 
 

S 9 definition “director”  
a. A person who 

i. Is appointed to the position of director; or 
ii. Is appointed to the position of alternate director and is acting in that capacity 

regardless of the name given to their position (de facto director) ; and 
 

b. Unless the contrary intention appears, a person who is not validly appointed as a director 
if: 

i. They act in the position of a director; or 
ii. The directors of the company…are accustomed to act in accordance with the 

person’s instructions or wishes (shadow director) 
 
 
ASIC V Adler (2002)- even though adler had not officially been appointed “director” his 
decisions affected the whole or a substantial part of the subsidiary’s business. He also had the 
capacity to significantly affect the subsidiary’s financial standing because of his role on holding 
company’s board.  
 
 

De facto directors: 
 Someone appointed to the position of director regardless of the name given to that position 
 Person who is not appointed but acts in the position of a director 
 
Deputy Commissioner of Taxation v Austin (1998) 28 ACSR 565: 
Whether person acts as a director ‘will often be a question of degree, and requires a 
consideration of the duties performed by that person in the context of the operations and 
circumstances of the particular company concerned’.  Relevant factors include: 
 

 Size of company 
 Internal practices and structures 
 How person was perceived by third parties 
 
 
 

Shadow Directors: 
Person who is not validly appointed as a director but on whose instructions the directors of the 
company are accustomed to act 
 
Bluecorp Pty Ltd (in liq) v ANZ Executors and Trustees (1994) 13 ACSR 386 
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 Outside person calls the tune and directors dance 
 Directors perform positive acts, not simply stand aside 
 Will of the outside person not the independent will of the board determines actions of board 

 

In Bluecorp Pty Ltd (in liq) formerly Lloyds Ships Holdings Pty Ltd (In liq) v ANZ 

Executors Trustee Co Ltd71 the Queensland Supreme Court (Mackenzie J) considered 

the operation of the predecessor of section 60(1)(b). The issue was whether the 

operators of the Qintex group of companies had so directed the officers of Bluecorp 

(then a subsidiary) that the board was accustomed to act in accordance with those 

directions. Mackenzie J, at pages 403 and 403, relied upon the analysis set out in Harris 

v S72. The analysis required that in being accustomed to act in accordance with the 

direction or instructions of a third party: 

 

 (a) the directors must act as directors; 

 (b) the directors must commit positive acts, not only forbear; and 

 (c) that the will of the third party (not the will of the board) determined the resolutions 

of the board. 
 
 
 
Buzzle Operations Pty Ltd (in liq) v Apple Computer Australia Pty Ltd [2010] NSWSC 233 
(upheld on appeal Buzzle Operations Pty Ltd v Apple Computers Australia Pty Ltd (2011) 
82 ACSR 703) 
 

Test:  
 

(1) who are the directors of the company, whether de facto or de jure;  
 

(2) that the defendant directed those directors how to act in relation to the company or 
that he was one of the persons who did so;  
 

(3) that those directors acted in accordance with such directions; and  
 

(4) that they were accustomed so to act. 
 
Exception: a person will not be a shadow director merely because the directors act on advice 
given by the person in the proper performance of functions attaching to the person’s 
professional capacity, or the person’s business relationship with the directors or the company 
or body. 
 
 
 
Grimaldi 
 
Acts similar to that of a director- while they (the board)  did not hold him out as a director eo nomine [by 

that name], they clearly authorised him on occasion to perform functions such as would lead a reasonable 
third party dealing with him to believe that he was acting as a director of Chameleon... More generally, 
Grimaldi was allowed either to perform functions – for example, fundraising and share placements – or to 
arrogate to himself functions in which it pleased either or both of the executive directors acquiesced with 
knowledge" (at [133]). 
 
His knowledge and influence- Grimaldi was a resourceful and experienced person. "The extent of his 
participation and intrusion into Chameleon’s affairs could hardly have gone unnoticed. There is little room 
for doubt that the executive directors knowingly and willingly utilised his skills and experience over a 
diverse range of matters, acquiescing in, if not always authorising, what he did" (at [134]). 
 
 In conclusion, after reviewing the various transactions, the court noted: "Even though not authorised 
to be a director, Grimaldi was either given, or had arrogated to himself with the acquiescence of at least 
two of the executive directors ... functions in the affairs of Chameleon which would probably be expected 
to be informed by a director of that corporation given its circumstances. Given the extent and the 
significance of those functions, he so acted in the position of a director as to warrant the imposition on 
him of the liabilities, statutory and fiduciary, of a director" (at [142]). The Full Federal Court believed the 
trial judge had made no error in reaching his conclusions on that matter. 
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 The court affirmed that while it had concentrated on whether Grimaldi was a director or not, this 
question was in a sense a distraction from the principal decision it had to make.  
"The nature of the decision-making in which he participated and the demonstrable capacity he had to 
affect significantly Chameleon’s financial standing both in negotiations conducted on its behalf and as a 
decision-maker in it… demonstrably brought him within the definition of ‘an officer’ for [the purposes of 
sections 9(b)(i) and (ii) of the Corporations Act]. We so find that finding, which raised a far less complex 

inquiry than the de facto director one, was all that Chameleon needed for the purposes of this litigation" 
(at [143]). 
 

Distinction between shadow and de facto directors 

Grimaldi v Chameleon Mining NL (No.2) [2012] FCAFC 6 was primarily concerned with the 
question of de facto directorships but in passing the Full Court expressed the view at [69] 
that a rigid distinction between a de facto and a shadow director cannot be maintained 
because the de facto director concept has been extended to persons who have never 
purportedly been appointed as directors. 

The distinction between a de facto and a shadow director is also blurred because a person 
can be a shadow director even though their wishes or instructions do not relate to all 
facets of the management of the company’s business, and likewise the functions assumed 
by a de facto director may be limited in his scope. 

Moreover, the fact that subsections 180-183 of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) apply to a 
‘director or officer’ can eliminate the need to differentiate between a de facto director and 
an officer (de facto or not) who is not a director [at 71]. However, it is implicit in the 
functional definition of ‘officer’ in section 9 and explicit in other provisions of 
the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth), such as section 180(1), that a person who otherwise 
satisfies either of the requirements of subparagraphs (b)(i) or (b)(ii) of the definition of 
‘officer’ is generally likely to be acting in an office or position of the corporation, 
regardless of whether he has been formally appointed to a position in the company or 
merely engaged as a ‘consultant’ to perform the functions in question.  Hence, directors 
and ‘officers’, as defined in section 9, will be treated in the same way for the purposes of 
the duties and liabilities imposed by the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth). 

 

 
 
TYPES OF DIRECTORS 

 Chairperson 
 Managing director/CEO 
 Executive director 
 Non-executive director 
 Nominee director 
 Alternate director (s 201K(1) RR) 
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THE DUTIES 
 
1.  

COMMON LAW DUTIES 
 
Fiduciary Obligations 
 no conflict 
 no profit 

 
Equitable (fiduciary?) Obligations: 
 duty to act in good faith and best interests of company  
 duty to use powers for proper purposes 
 Duty not to fetter discretion 
 Duty to act with reasonable care, skill and diligence 

 

Category Common law  Statute 

Loyalty No conflict 
No profit 

Material interests must be disclosed ss191-196 

Related party transactions Ch2E 

Duty not to misuse information or position ss.182-183 

Duty not to fetter discretion  

Duty to act in good faith and best 
interests of the company 

Duty to act in good faith and in the best interests of the 
company and use powers for a proper purpose 
ss.181,184 

Duty to use powers for a proper 
purpose 

Care  
and diligence 

Duty to act with reasonable care, 
skill and diligence 

Duty to act with care and diligence s.180 

Duty to avoid insolvent trading s.588G 
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# 1 COMMON LAW DUTY: No Conflict 
All fiduciaries are under duty to avoid conflict of interest situations 
 
This no conflict duty overlaps with both the fiduciary duty of good faith and best 
interests of company, as well as stat duties in ss 181. 
 
 

No conflict: A director must not allow conflict to arise between their interests and 
their duty to the company  

(Hospital products) at 103- a real or substantial conflict. Real- cant be theoretical or rhetorical. 
Not every conflict or possible conflict – only real or substantial conflict 
 
 
A director must not allow a conflict to arise between their interest and duties, and the duties to 
the company 
 
The duty is breached even if the director did not have fraudulent motives and even if they didn’t 
make a profit.  
 
 
 
Can be direct or indirect: 
Direct: director who contracts personally with the company has a direct interest 
Indirect: arises when director is a director or shareholder of another company that contracts 
with the company 
 
 
Directors breach their fiduciary duty only if their undisclosed self-interested 
transaction is a MATERIAL interest. For example a director of a propriety company who owns 
a relatively small parcel of shares in a large publically listed company does not have a material 
interest in any contract between the companies merely because of the shareholding.  
 
 
 
DISCLOSURE Conflict 
Directors must comply with the disclosure requirements of s 191 
 
 
A company’s constitution or the replaceable rules may modify the requirement to 
disclose to shareholders, by simply stating that the directors are required to just 
disclose to other directors. Woolworths v Kelly (1991). 
 
This no conflict duty overlaps with both the fiduciary duty of good faith and best interests of 
company, as well as stat duties in ss 181. 
 
 
Mere disclosure might not be enough. The director might be under a positive duty to take 
steps to protect the company’s interest by using their power/influence to prevent the transaction 
going ahead.  
 
ASIC v Adler (2002) - a $10 million payment was made from a company of which Mr Adler was a non-
executive director (HIH Insurance Limited) to a company of which Mr Adler was the sole director. Mr Adler 
had sought approval for the investment from HIH without informing the board of directors about the 
financial risk associated with the investment. The case of Adler v ASIC (2003) 179 FLR 1, highlights that 
a director in a "position of power and influence" may also have a positive duty to use their position to 

prevent a transaction going ahead in order to protect the company's best interests 
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This obligation was also held to apply in Permanent Building Society (in liq) v McGee (1993) 11 ACSR 
260 where a director of a company that was advancing a loan had knowledge about the borrower's inability 
to service the loan, due to his substantial shareholding in the borrowing entity. The fact that the director 
disclosed his interest and abstained from voting at a board meeting did not mean that he was protected 
from liability for the loss. Instead, the director should have disclosed his knowledge about the financial 
incapacity of the borrower to repay the loan and the interest on the loan. As Justice Anderson held: "One 
word from him would have been enough. He should have done so. He could not escape from his 
continuing duty to act bona fide in the interests of society as a whole 'by the simple expedient of leaving 
the room.'* 

 
Defence: A director may avoid liability if they DISCLOSE the details of their personal interest 
and obtain the company’s fully informed consent 
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#1 PROVIDING FINANCIAL BENEFIT- under the duty of no conflict 
 
Prior Shareholder Approval 
S 208 applies to public companies and entities controlled by public companies 
 
S 208(1)(a)(i) a public company cannot give financial benefit to a related party unless it 
obtains the prior approval of its shareholders.  
 
S 208(1)(a)(ii) Shareholder approval must be given 15 months before public company gives 
benefit 
 
S 217 – 227 requirements seek to ensure that when public company does this, it is agreed to 
by a majority vote of disinterested shareholders who are fully informed about the financial 
benefit and its impact on the company 
 
 
Giving Financial Benefit 
S 229 defines “financial benefit” 
 
giving or providing finance or property s 229(3)(a) 

buying or selling an asset s 229(3)(b) 

leasing an asset s 229(3)(c) 

supplying or receiving services s 229(3)(d) 

taking up or releasing an obligation s 229(3)(f) 

 
 
Related Parties 
S 228 defines related parties 
A related party of a public company can be an INDIVIDUAL as well as an ENTITY ie a 
company/partnership/trust (s 9) 
 
The following are regarded as related parties: 

 directors of the public company s 228(2)(a) 

 spouses, de facto spouses, parents and children of public company director’s s 

228(2)(d) and (3) 

 directors of entity that controls the public company as well as the spouses, de facto 

spouses, parents and children of the controlling entity’s directors s 228(2)(b) and (3) 

 

 entities that control the public company s 228(1) 

 entities controlled by a related party referred to in s 228(1),(2) or (3) 

 an entity that was a related party of the kind referred to in s 228(1), (2), (3), (4) during 

the previous 6 months s 228(5) 

 an entity that acts in concert with a related party of a public company on the 

understanding that the related party will receive financial benefit if public company fives 

the entity financial benefit s 228(7) 
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Exceptions: when shareholder approval is NOT required 
 

Shareholder approval for the giving of a financial benefit is NOT required if any of these 
exceptions occur: ss 210-216 
 

 transactions that would be reasonable in the circumstances if the parties were dealing 

at arms length or terms were less favorable to the related party than arms-length terms s 

210 

 

 reasonable remuneration as an officer or employee of the public company or an entity 

that controls or is controlled by the public company s 211(1) 

 

 repayment of expenses incurred by a related party in performing duties as an officer or 

employee of the public company or a controlling or controlled entity s 211(2) 

 

 payment of reasonable insurance premiums in respect of a liability incurred as an officer 

of public company s 212(1) 

 

 payments in respect to legal costs incurred by an officer in defending anaction involving 

a liability incurred as an officer of the public company s 212(2) 

 

 amounts of money given to a director or spouse of less than 5G s 213 

 
 Financial benefits to or by a closely held subsidiary s 214 

 

 benefits given to the related party as a member of the public company where the benefits 

do not discriminate unfairly against the other members s 215 

 
 

Reasonableness of the terms 
Reasonableness of the terms of a financial benefit is determined on OBJECTIVE CRITERIA 
and is to be measured against the terms of a transaction that a public company would enter 
into if it were: 
 
unrelated to the other party to the transaction in any way, financially, or through ties of family, 
affection or dependence 
 
through its relevant decision-makers, sufficiently knowledgeable about the circumstances of 
the transaction, sufficiently experiences in business and sufficiently well advised to be able to 
form a sound judgement as to what is in its intersts 
 
free from any undue influence or pressure 
 
concerned only to achieve the best available commercial result for itself in all of the 
cirsumstances 
 
This comes from ASIC v Australian Investors Forum Pty Ltd (No 2) (2005) 
See pg 431 for additional requirements to determine if an arms length transaction comes under 
the exception 
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Shareholder Approval for such a financial benefit 
Public company must call shareholder meeting to consider a resolution to approve the giving 
of the financial benefit. Company must lodge with ASIC the notice convening the meeting 14 
days before notice given to members s 218(1) 
 
An explanatory statement is required that accompanies the notice s 221(b)- must set out full 
details of circumstances surrounding the proposed resolution s 219- must have all info so that 
members can decide whether or not in companys best interest to pass the proposed resolution 
(s 219 (2) gives examples of kinds of info to include) 
 
A notice setting out the resolution must be lodged with ASIC within 14 days after its passed s 
226 
 
 

Voting exclusions 
A related party or associate to whom the resolution would permit a financial benefit to 
be given cant cast a vote on the resolution s 224(1) 
 
ASIC may allow such a person to vote if satisfied this would not cause unfair predjudice to 
interests of any member of the company s 224(4) 
 
Contravention of s 224 does not generally affect validity of the resolution s 224(8) 
 
 

Consequences of breach 
Contravention of 208 does not affect validity of any contract or transaction connected with the 
giving of the benefit 
 
The company is not guilty of an offence s 209(1) 
 
Any person however involved in contravention of s 208 by a public company 
contravenes s 209(2)- this is a civil penalty provision s 1317E 
 
Person commits criminal offence if their involvement is dishonest s 209(3) 
 
A proposed benefit to a related party in contravention of s208 may be stopped by the court if 
an injunction is brought under s 1324 
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#2 SELF-INTERESTED DIRECTOR BOARDROOM VOTING- under no 
conflict duty 

 
Public Companies 
S 195(1) director of public company who has a MATERIAL PERSONAL INTEREST in a matter 
before the board is prohibited from voting on matter and must not be present while matter is 
being considered at board meeting 
 
Material personal interest- not defined in CA. 
Grand Enterprises pty ltd v Aurium Resources ltd (2009) held that the word “material” conveyed 
idea that the interest must be of some substance or value rather than a slight interest. 
 
Personal interest- does not normally apply simply because a director is on the board of two 
companies engaged in business dealings. 
 
Transvaal Lands co v New Belgium Land and development (1914) here director had a personal 
interest in the matter if the director can derive a financial or other benefit. McGellin v Mount 
King Mining (1998) director regarded as having a material personal interest in board 
discussions about whether company should issue shares to him.  
 
 
The Resolution: 

The prohibition of being present does NOT apply when such a director is present for the 

resolution which is stating that the other directors are satisfied that the interest shouldn’t 

disqualify the interested director. This reolution must identify S 195(2): 

 
 

*the director 

*nature and extent of the interest  

*interests relation to the affairs of the company 

 

ASIC may declare that such a director may be present and allowed to vote. 

 

 

Proprietary Companies 

CA does not prohibit an interested prop company director from voting at a directors 

meeting that is considering matters that relate to the interest 

 

This is decided by the company’s constitution or the replaceable rule in s 194- this RR states 

that if the director makes disclosure to the board under s 191, then the director CAN 

VOTE, related transactions can proceed and director may retain benefits under the transaction 

and company cannot avoid transaction merely because of existence of interest 
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#3 REMUNERATION- under no conflict duty 
 

Obvious potential for conflict 

 

Replaceable Rule s 202A- directors are to be paid the remuneration that the company 

determines by resolution 

 

The CA and the accounting standards require details of director’s remuneration to be disclosed 

in company’s annual financial report.  

 

Details pg 338 – 344 textbook 
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#4 IMPROPER USE OF POSITION S 182 – under no conflict duty 
 

1. look at common law duty- improper use of position 

2. common law- did they do so to gain advantage or cause detriment? 

3. common law- taking up opportunities is legal so long as have consent-  

4.satisfy the fiduciary duty if they disclose to compay shareholders their material 

interest 

5. to satisfy stat disclosure- must satisfy s 191- shareholders and board of directors 

6. look at exceptions to s 191 

7.overlpas with stat duty s 182- improper use of position 

8.overlaps with s 181- good faith and best interests of company 

 
 

s182: Director, secretary, officer or employee must not: 

- improperly use their position to gain advantage for themselves or another OR 
cause detriment to the corporation  

- this is the stat version of the fiduciary principle applied in Regal (Hastings) ltd v 
Gulliver (1967) – that directors are under a duty not to make undisclosed personal 
profits arising from their position.  

- Also overlaps with directors duty to act in good faith and in the best interests of the 
company, and s 181. 

- A civil penalty provision s 1317E. any person involved in contravention of s 182 also 
contravenes a civil penalty provision s 182(2) 

 

How can they improperly use position? 

-if directors allow company to contravene the CA generally 

-if the contravention likely jeopardizes interests of the company 

-if the risks of the contravention outweigh the countervailing benefits and there are reasonable 
steps that could have been taken to avoid the risks ASIC v Maxwell – by offering securities 
without a disclosure document. The director in making decisions breached advertising sections 
of the CA also. Held that the director improperly used his position in breach of s 182 because 
he also arranged company to pay him commissions on each loan he introduced 

 

STEPS: HOW TO IMPROPERLY USE POSITION: 

1.Gaining advantage or causing detriment 
To contravene s 182 directors need to improperly use their position but must ALSO do 
so to gain an advantage for themselves or for another, or do it to cause detriment to the 
company 
 
It is PURPOSIVE-ie it doesn’t matter that there has been an accrual of an advantage or not or 
if the detriment has actually occurred. The point is that they have breached the section if they’ve 
done it IN ORDER TO have such an effect – Chew v R (1992) 
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EXAMPLES: 
 

A. Bribes and undisclosed benefits 
Example of undisclosed personal profits and using position improperly is when a director is paid 
a bribe to procure a particular course of action for the company 
 
There would be contravention of s 181 (good faith) and s 182 (improper use of position) 
 
Does not matter whether company suffers a loss or not from such an act 
 
Furs ltd v Tomkies (1936) – sale of business case. Tomkies was to be issued shares and was 
advised to make best situation for himself. Purchaser also agreed to pay tomkies even more 
money. Tomkies kept his shares secret. Because tomkies promised to provide his knowledge 
of secret formulae to purchaser for a price- court held that tomkies had clear conflict of interests.  
 
 
 

B. Misuse company funds 
Directors are under fiduciary duty to use company funds for legitimate business purposes 
 
No defence for directors to say funds obtained were lent to them- Paul A Davies pty ltd v Davies  
 
Pg 442 
 
 
 

C. Taking up corporate opportunity 
Director breaches duty to avoid conflict when director without appropriate disclosure or approval 
takes up an opportunity that should have been taken up with the company 
 
Company may seek constructive trust order to take opportunity for the company! 
 
As well as breaching conflict rule, will also breach fiduciary duty to act in good faith and in the 
best interests of the company, as well as s 181 and s 182.  
 
 
Example 1: diversion of contract 
Breach will occur when director while negotiating contract for company, without disclosure or 
approval arranges for contract to be diverted from company to another company or someone 
else 
 
Cook v Deeks – contracts of considerable value. 3 out of 4 directors then negotiated further 
contract an indicated contract was for them and not the company. Privy council held they 
breached duty to original company. The resolution passed at the company’s general meeting 
declaring that the new company the directors created did not have any interest in the contract 
was invalid and constituted fraud.  

 
Example 2: arrangement to shut down business 
There is a breach of the fiduciary duty regarding corporate opportunities when director arranges 
for the company to shut down its business and therefore the company loses the benefit of its 
business. 

 
Mordecai v Mordecai- brothers owned a business. When one of brothers died the will purposely 
excluded the wife. The other brothers then purposely shut down their business and started a 
new one. Wife claimed damages alleging theyd breached duty as they reduced the value of the 
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late husbands estate. Held that they breached duties as directors- they deliberately closed 
down business for their own private benefit.  
 
 
 
 
 
Taking up opportunities is legal as long as there is disclosure and consent 
 
Disclosure to company: Directors avoid breach fid duty if make FULL DISCLOSURE and 
company GIVES APPROVAL, 
 
If they don’t do this the directors cant say they acted honestly and for best interests of company- 
Regal Hastingss ltd v Gulliver (1967) 
 
Disclosure to shareholders s 191 
Disclosure to board s 191 
 
 The company constitution however may change this and disclosure may not be to the 
shareholders but rather other directors pg 427 textbook 
 
 
 

D. Misuse Confidential Information 
Directors have fid duty not to mis-use confidential company info for own benefit without 
appropriate disclosure and approval.  
 
This overlaps with duty not to take up a corporate opportunity 
Also overlaps with wider fid duty to act in good faith in the best interests of the company 
 
 
When a director leaves one company and works for another, after ceasing employment the 
director is not allowed to use confidential info obtained from previous employment- Faccenda 
Chicken ltd v Fowler (1897) 
 
 
Definition confidential information- includes trade secrets, customer lists, pricing info. 

 
In wright v Gasweld pty ltd (1991) Kirby listed 5 factors to be considered in deciding if info is 
confidential: 
  

 skill and effort expended to acquire info 

 degree information is jealously guarded by employer, is not readily made 

available to employees and couldn’t without effort/risk be acquired by others 

 plainly known to employee that the material was regarded as confidential? 

 usages and practices of industry 

 whether employee had been permitted to share the info on be reason or 

seniority or responsibility within organization 

 Pg 448-449 

 
Improper Use Confidential Information s 183 
-S 183 supplements fid duty 
-Wider because it also applies to employees as well as directors 
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“a person who obtains information because they are or have been a director, officer, employee 
of a corporaton must not improperly use the information to make a gain for themselves or any 
other person or to cause detriment to the corporation”  

-The accrual of an advantage or suffering of a detriment by the company need not 
actually occur, s 183 will be satisfied so long as defendant believed an advantage or detriment 
would result – Chew v R (1992) 

- An act may be improper regardless of the director’s belief that they are acting honestly: 
R v Byrnes (1995) 183 CLR 501 Objectively: Impropriety on the part of a director may be 
consistent with a breach of the standards of conduct expected of a person in the director’s 
position with the knowledge of the directors duties, powers and authority of that position 

 

Definition “Information” – s 183 does not define “information”.  

Some cases have demonstrated that “confidentiality” is important for the information- Es-me 
pty ltd v Parker- supreme court of WA made it clear that for purposes of fid duties and a 
predecessor of s 183, the info need not be necessarily secret but must be confidential info.  

McNamara v Flavel (1988) SA supreme court held that for purposes of predecessor of 183, a 
breach depended on how the info was acquired and not whether it was confidential.  

ASIC v Vizard (2005) ASIC brought penalty against Vizard. Vizard sat on Telstra board and 
used confidential info for share trading in another company he set up. Found that he 
contravened s 183. He acquired confidential info by reason of his position as a non-executive 
director of Telstra. He made improper use of the info when he caused his other company to 
buy/sell shares ad ultimately profit for himself.  

 

Improper 
Directors improperly use their position if they breach their fiduciary duties 
 
Objective test (bona fide does matter) - Test of improper is to be determined objectively 
(Chew v R (1992)) 
 
Do not depend on the directors’ intentional impropriety, or actual detriment 
An act may be improper regardless of the director’s belief that they are acting honestly: R v 
Byrnes (1995) 183 CLR 501 
 
Objectively: 

Impropriety on the part of a director may be consistent with a breach of the 
standards of conduct expected of a person in the director’s position with the 
knowledge of the directors duties, powers and authority of that position 

 
 
 
R v Byrnes (1995) 183 CLR 501: two directors without authority from the board arranged for 
company seal to be affixed to a guarantee and other docs that provided security for a loan to 
another company that they controlled. They breached a predecessor to s 182 even though 
they reasonably but mistakenly believed that executing these docs was in interests of the 
company.  
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DICLOSURE OF INTERESTS pg 457 

 
At common law: 
Directors who put themselves in these positions are required to disclose to the 
company’s shareholders at a general meeting and obtain their consent “ratification”.  
 
The company constitution however can amend this above rule and disclosure can be 
made purely to the board. Woolworths ltd v Kelly (1991) 
 

Furs ltd v Tomkees- director defended his actions on basis he disclosed interest in a contract 
to company chairman of directors. HC rejected defence that neither chairman nor entire board 
of directors had power to authorize this  

Regal (Hastings) Ltd v Gulliver- held that directors could have protected themselves by 
making full disclosure to and having actions ratified at general meeting. This would have been 
a mere formality because the directors involved controlled the voting of the meetings! 

 

 

Under the CA:  pg 459 

 

Disclosure 
S 191 (1) Requires a director with material personal interest in a matter relating to company 
affairs to give the other directors notice of that interest. Disclosure must be to both 
shareholders and board of directors 
 
S 191(3) the notice required in s 191(1) must provide detail of the nature and extent of the 
interest and the relation of the interest to the affairs of the company. And it must be given at a 
directors meeting as soon as practicable after director becomes aware of their interest in the 
matter s 191 (3)(b) 
 
 

S 191(2) exceptions 
 
S 191 does not apply to a proprietary company with only one director s 191 (5) 
 

For proprietary companies replaceable rule s 194 allows directors to have an interest in 
contracts with the company provided conditions are met: director must disclosure nature and 
extent of interest at a directors meeting 

S 205G directors of listed companies must notify the ASX of relevant interests they hold in 
securities of the company or a related body cororate. Must also disclose any rights and 
options. Changes in these holdings must be notified within 14 days 

 
S 208 CA requires prior shareholder approval if a public company provides a financial benefit 
to a related party. 
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Voting 

S 195 A director of a public company is prohibited from: 

Being present during discussions of AND Voting on 

 Matters in which they have a material personal interest 

Disinterested directors may resolve that the director can be present and/or vote (where the 
Constitution does not prevent it) 

If results in no quorum- If excluding the interested directors would mean that there was no 
quorum, then s 195 says directors can call a GM to deal with it – and shareholders (even the 
interested director) can vote.  Or, in urgent cases, ASIC can make an order under s 196. 

 

Proprietary companies- the company’s Constitution or the replaceable rule in s 194 will 
regulate the issue of voting and completing transactions. 
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Duty not to Fetter Discretion: 

 Directors must exercise independent judgment in the exercise of their powers 

 Must properly consider how to exercise their discretion 

 Cannot enter into arrangements or agreements with third parties that will determine how 
he/she will exercise discretion at board meetings 

 
Thorby v Goldberg (1964) 112 CLR 597. 605 
Rule: board can fetter exercise of discretion in advance 
 
‘There are many kinds of transactions in which the proper time for the exercise of the directors’ 
discretion is the time of the negotiation of a contract, and not at the time at which the contract 
is to be performed … The proper time for the directors to decide which their proposed action 
will be in the interests of the company as a whole is the time that the transaction is being entered 
into, and not the time when their action under it is required’. 

Held: Kitto: There are many types of discretions at which time to exercise them are 
at earlier stage than time of performance - can’t bind yourself unless you exercise your discretion 
at earlier stage and circumstances are that it is tied to later time 

Kitto: As with this case, sale of land is perfect example - where all members of co desire to enter 
as group into transaction, transaction being one which requires action by board for its effectuation, 
seems proper time for directors to decide their proposed action will be in interests of company is 
the time when the transaction entered into and NOT time when their action under it is required 
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DUTIES OF CARE, SKILL AND DILIGENCE 

NEED TO INSERT INFO FROM PG 483 – illegal activity, citrofresh and james hardie 

 
 
1. Common Law: duty to act with reasonable care, skill and diligence 
 
1. Statute:  S 180 Care and diligence—civil obligation only 
 
Care and diligence—directors and other officers 
 
(1) A director or other officer of a corporation must exercise their powers and discharge their 
duties with the degree of care and diligence that a reasonable person would exercise if they: 
 
(a) were a director or officer of a corporation in the corporation’s circumstances; and 
 
(b) occupied the office held by, and had the same responsibilities within the corporation as, the 
director or officer. 
 
Note: This subsection is a civil penalty provision (see section 1317E). 

 

2. What is the standard of care? 

Test at common law  

common law and s 180 impose a reasonable person standard 

Aimed at reviewing the actions of the director in terms of the performance of a 
reasonable person, being a director of a company in the company’s circumstances, in 
the same position as the relevant director and having the same responsibilities as the 
relevant director. 

But must take into consideration the “circumstances” – so the standard of care and 
diligence depends on corporations circumstances as well as the office and the responsibilities 
held by the director/officer 

The objective element is provided by the reasonable person test and the subjectivity is 
contained in the attempt to tailor the duty to the directors’ particular expertise and 
circumstance 

 Business .Care skill and diligence are essentially objective considerations however above 
section does require a consideration of the circumstances (Daniels v Anderson (1995))  

 Care, Skill and diligence: requires directors to take reasonable steps to place 
themselves in a position to guide and monitor the company (Daniels v Anderson 
(1995)) 

 ‘responsibilities’  are not confined to tasks expressly delegated to the director: 
ASIC v Rich (2009) 75 ACSR 1, 614. 

 non-executive directors should not be held to a lower standard of care and should not be 
entitled to rely on information provided to them (Daniels v Anderson (1995)) 

 there is a positive duty on directors to act ‘collectively to manage the company’.  
Inactivity or a failure to enquire will not be sufficient  (Daniels v Anderson (1995)) 
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 Vrisakis v ASC shows, a non-executive director possessed of significant experience and 
skill is to be judged against a higher standard. Other specific skills may be expected, 
depending on the circumstances of appointment 

 Diligence – regular attendance at board meetings would be expected.  Again, this is 
measured in terms of what a reasonable person would exercise if they were a director of 
a company in the company’s circumstances and had the same responsibilities as the 
relevant director. 

 This case (D v A)  also establishes that all directors, whether exec or non exec have a 
continuing obligation to familiarize themselves with companys financial position by regular 
review and understanding of financial statements. Directors breach duty of care and 
diligence of completely unaware of companys financial position – Sheahan v Verco 
(2001).  

 Minimum requirements in D v A, understanding of business, informed of activities, aware 
of misconduct, monitor corporate affairs and policies and maintain familiarity of the 
financial status of the corporation. 

 Managaing director/ chairman have a greater expected degree of care/ question of skill  

 

Circumstances- 

 type of company, size and nature of company, composition of board, distribution of work 
between board and other officers commonwealth bank of Australia v Frederich (1991) 

 ‘responsibilities’  are not confined to tasks expressly delegated to the director: ASIC v 
Rich (2009) 75 ACSR 1, 614- ASIC v Rich and Ors (2003) 21 ACLC 450, the court 
recognised the need “to articulate and apply a standard of care that reflects contemporary 
community expectations.” (at 466). Consequently, the chairperson of a listed public 
company may be found to have responsibilities going beyond mere procedural duties in 
chairing meetings e.g. formulating policy for the board, selecting matters which ought to 
be brought to the board’s attention etc. 

 

3. Has the duty been broken? Ie ask- were those duties undertaken with reasonable 
care and diligence: test from Vrisakis v ASC (1993) 

Ipp J applied a two-part test designed to incorporate both the objective and subjective 
elements of the duty:   

 (a) What are the duties of this particular director? 

(b) Were those duties undertaken with reasonable care and diligence? 

Whether a director has exercised a reasonable degree of care and diligence will be determined 
by balancing the foreseeable risk of harm against the potential benefits 

  

 

Directors and financial reports- as part of directors declaration s 295 (4)(d) directors have 
to include statement of opinion about financial statements are in accordance with  accounting 
standads and present true and fair view of companys financial position- to form such an 
opinion they need to be able to read and understand financial statements. Cant delegate this. 
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They also need to make further enquiries if statements contain material omissons that would 
be apparent on careful and diligent review – ASIC v Healey (2011) 

 

Non-executive directors- not directly involved in daily management of companys business. 
Therefore, they rely on management lead by companys managing director or CEO.  

Standard of care recognizes that their duties are of an intermittent nature. Althought not 
involved and informed of minute-minute dealings, the expect to be informed of anything 
untoward or appropriate for consideration by the board.  

Although not required to have any additional skills or qualifications or experience, reflecting 
community views such as that in D v A set out minimum standards of care and diligence 
applicable to non exec directors 

Non exec directors with special skills are required to give company benefit of that skill- Gold 
Ribbon Accountants pty ltd v Sheers (2006) 

 

Daniels and Others (Formerly Practising as Deloitte Haskins &Sells) v Anderson and Others 
(1995) 37 NSWLR 438 

 director is required to ‘inform himself or herself about the affairs of the company’ 

 non-executive directors should not be held to a lower standard of care and should 
not be entitled to rely on information provided to them 

there is a positive duty on directors to act ‘collectively to manage the company’.  Inactivity or a 
failure to enquire will not be sufficient 

 

Executive Directors and Officers – not only hold position on board but are full time 
employees of company. Involvement in management means they have special responsibilities 
and have greater knowledge of daily operations.  

Managing directors- They must have appropriate management systems in place pg 476- 
South Australia v Clark (1996) 

CFO- has special responsibilities within a listed company regarding prep of financial statements 
and profit forecasts. Must exercise level of skill of a reasonably competent CFO- Vines v ASIC 
(2007) – here in this case they were held liable because of their supervisory and operational 
responsibilities required them to be proactive and take steps  to ensure monitoring process was 
up to date. While regarded as officers back then, under current s 9 definition they would not be 
regarded as an “officer” because they were only middle managers. Consequently, now they 
would NOT be prosecuted under s 180(1). A person below board level is classified as an 
officer only if they are involved in making decisions that affect whole or substantial part 
of company business 

Company secretary- come within s9 definition of officer. They have responsibilities under s 
188. The board may also give them further responsibilities- has been held that in determining 
whethey the secrery or any officer or person has breached duty of care, cant se[arate 
responsibilies-  you look at whatever responsibilies they’ve got within the company no matter 
how they were derived 
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Frequency of board meetings and attendance 

Requirement of attending board meetings is aspect of directors duty of care. Unless they 
regularly attend they will be unable to participate in governance of company and fulfill one of 
their prime responsibilities: Gold Ribbon (Accountants) pty ltd v Sheers (2005) 

 

Directors should meet as often as necessary in order to fufill obligation to monitor 
management: Daniels v Anderson (1995) 

 

Business Judgement Rule (BJR) 

S 180(2) sets out a defence called the Business Judgement Rule for directors and officers 
who make a business judgement that would otherwise contravene stat/CL/equitable duties of 
care and diligence 

A director or other officer who makes a business judgement is taken to meet the 
requiremets of s 180(1) and their equivalent duties at common law and in equity, in 
respect of the judgement if they: 

make the judgement in good faith and for proper purpose (s 180(2)(a) and; 

do not have a material personal interest in the subject matter of the judgement (s 180(2)(b) 
and; 

inform themselves about the subject matter of the judgement to the extent they reasonably 
believe to be appropriate (s 180(2)(c) and; 

rationally believe that the judgement is in the best interests of the corporation (s 180(2)(d) – 
the belief is a rational one unless the belief is one that no reasonable person in their position 
would hold! 

Directors must prove all 4 elements of the above. If they are able to establish that they 
fulfill all four rhwy have an explicit “safe harbor” and are shielded from personal 
liability for any breach of their duty of care and diligence 

 

What is business judgement? Defined as any decision to take or not to take action in 
respect of a matter relevant to the business operations of the corporation s 180(3)  

What is matters relevant to the business operations of a corporation? In ASIC v Rich 
(2009) held that it meant/incuded matters of planning, budgeting and forecasting. Ie setting 
policy goals, apportionment of responsibilities between board and senior management, 
termination of litigation  

Must be a conscious decision to take or not take action: in order to be a business 
judgement the director or officer must make a conscious decision to take or refrain from taking 
action. Therefore a director that neglects to deal wth safeguards with no evidence that he even 
turned his mind to a judgement of what safeguards there should be “ has not made a business 
judgement- ASIC v Adler (2002) 

Therefore if a director fails to monitor companys affairs or fails to maintain familiriaty with 
companys financial status, the business judgement rule cant operate! As no business 
judgement! 
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Australian Securities and Investments Commission v Fortescue Metals Group Ltd , the 
chairperson and managing director of Fortescue Metals Group Ltd was found to be involved in 
the company’s contravention of its disclosure obligations related to the company’s misleading 
description of agreements as binding agreements to build, finance and transfer certain 
infrastructure for a mining project when they were not binding. The court held that the 
chairperson and managing director could not rely on s 180(2) because:  

•  the decision not to disclose the true effect of the agreements was not a business judgment; 
and 

•  a decision not to make accurate disclosure of the terms of a major contract is not a decision 
related to the “business operations” of the company. It is a decision relating to compliance with 
the requirements of the Corporations Act: at [197]. 

 

 

Director must rationally believe: s 180(2)(d) to satisfty this the director must rationally 
believe the judgement is in best interests of company.  

Held that the belief is a rational one unless the belief is one that no reasonable person in their 
position would hold! 

ASIC v Rich held that- the directors or officers belief would be a rational one if it was based 
on REASON or REASONING, but it would not be a rational belief is there was no arguable 
reasoning process to support it… the director or officers belief about the best interesrs of the 
corporation is to be formed and is rationally assesed on the basis of the information ovtained 
through compliance with s 180(2)(c) 

 

 

Notes Business Judgement Rule: 
 

 s 180(2)(b) - “[T]he mere fact that a director holds shares in the company cannot mean that 

the business judgment rule is unavailable to the director because of a material personal 

interest in any judgment which might affect the share price, as many judgments will.” (ASIC 

v Adler (2002)) 

 Courts will not review the merits of a business decision made by directors in good faith 
(Harlow Nominees Pty Ltd v Woodside; Howard Smith Ltd v Ampol) - Has always been a 
virtual common law  business judgment in that the courts have refused to do a hindsight 
analysis of the merit of business decisions—have concentrated on the process and 
whether it was made in good faith and for proper purposes and with due care etc. 

 Courts are reluctant to intervene - Harlow Nominees Pty Ltd v Woodside; Howard Smith 
Ltd v Ampol 

 Balance of proof swings is on plaintiff – however eventually on director in face of 
evidence against (Adler v ASIC) 
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Vrisakis v ASC (1993):  

Failure of Rothwells Ltd. In this instance the action was against a non-executive director, 
Vrisakis, who had been appointed to the position as part of a business plan to turn around the 
welfare of the company. It was then under investigation by the National Companies and 
Securities Commission and the commission was contemplating the withdrawal of the 
company’s security dealer’s licence.  

The plan was not complied with and the company’s financial position worsened to the point of 
liquidation. Essentially it was claimed the director was liable for his failure to take reasonable 
steps to ensure the terms of the plan were carried out.  

Although at first instance he was found liable as a result of inaction on some particulars 
contained in the business plan, the Supreme Court of Western Australia upheld an appeal on 
these matters. The comments by Rogers CJ in AWA Ltd v Daniels were supported18 
particularly on the issue of when a director may be justified in trusting officers of the 
corporation.19 It was also relevant in this instance to consider the reliance the director placed 
upon the auditors to review the company’s loan portfolio. The court could not see how this 
reliance could have been questioned in the absence of anything to suggest there would not 
be a thorough and proper analysis. 

a non-executive director possessed of significant experience and skill is to be judged 
against a higher standard- Similarly in the case of Vrisakis v Australian Securities 
Commission, the court held that the duties of a non-executive director appointed to take a 
critical role in an attempted rescue of Rothwells were ‘significantly more extensive and the 
standard of care significantly higher than that expected from a non-executive director in the 
ordinary course’. As such the court raised the bar to recognise this. 

 

DIRECTORS WHO PERMIT COMPANY TO CONTRAVENE LAW 

Directors may breach duty of care if permit company to contravene the CA.  

May expose company to breaching both civil and criminal penalties 

ASIC v CitroFresh International (No 2) (2010) – managing director held to have breached duty 
ofcare when authorised release of a continuous disclosure announcement to ASX that 
claimed company developed cream that cold stop HIV virus, human influenza. The claims 
were a contravention os s 1041H because they were misleading and deceptive. There was a 
breach of s 180*1)- to look at this court looked at hether interests of company were 
jeapardised and if risks of conduct outweighted any potential benefit to company 

 

ASIC v Hellicar- Hames Haride gave continuous disclosures to ASX that were misleading and 
deceptive, gave impression that resctrure gave victims success to sufficient funds for 
asbestos claims. Compensation fund however was under funded – court held that the 
managing director, chief financial officer, company secretary and general counsel had all 
failed to take reasonable steps and care when appriving ASX announcement 

Pg 485 textbook 

 

FREQUENCY AT BOARD MEETINGS/ATTENDANCE- pg 486 

 



100 

 

CONTRAVENTION S 180 
Difference consequences for breach of CL vs statute 
 
CL duty of care: 

 owed to company- can sue director/officer for damages if breach causes loss 

 Shareholders can bring action in name of company under s 236 if obtain leave of the court 

 
Contravention of s 180(1) duty of care and diligence: 

 Civil penalty provision s 1317E- may be ordered to pay penalty up to 200, 000 s 1317G 

 May have to pay compensation to corporation for damage s 1317H 

 May be disqualified from management s 206C 

 Contravention of s 180(1) not a criminal offence- requires dishonesty 

 
 

Delegating  

S 190 directors can delegate to others 

S 198D The board can delegate, unless the Constitution provides otherwise. May delegate to 
employees, a single director, a committee of directors, or another person: s 198D. 

S 198D(3) exercise of the power by the delegate is as effective as if director had exercised 
themselves  

S 198C is a replaceable rule permitting delegation of any powers to an Managing Director 

S 251A delegation must be recorded in the company’s minute book. Subject to provision in 
company constitution 

 

S 190 (2):  A director is responsible for the exercise of powers by a delegate as if the 
board had exercised them, unless: 

The director believed on reasonable grounds at all times that the delegate would: 
• Conform with directors’ duties 
• Believed on reasonable grounds and in good faith, and after making proper inquiry 

if necessary that 
• The delegate was reliable and competent in relation to that power 

 
If these requirements are satisfied, a director will NOT be responsibe for acts of the delegate 
if delegate acts fraudulently, negligently or outside the scope of the delegation 
 
 
ASIC v Adler (2002) – gives factors to consider if directors decision to rely on a delegate was 
reasonable under s 189(c) or s 190(2): 
 
function delegated is such that it may properly be left to such officers 

extent the irector is put on enquiry, or given facts of case should have been put on enquiry 

relationship between director and delegate, the director must honestly hold the belief that 

delegate is trustworthy, competent and whom reliance can be placed. Knowledge of 

dishonesty, incomptency will make reliance unreasonable 

risk involved in transaction and nature of transaction 

whether position of director is exec or non exec 
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Reliance s 189: 
To what extent can directors rely on information and advice provided by others.  
 
Daniels v Anderson (1995) majority of NSW court of appeal thought that directors are under a 
POSITIVE OBLIGATION to keep informed about corporate activities and satisfy themselves 
that the person they are relying on is competent and reliable 
 
It is reasonable, unless proved to the contrary: 

• For directors to rely on employees, professional advisers, experts, other directors, or a 
committee of directors (which does not include the relying director) 

• Where matters are believed by the director, on reasonable grounds, to be within the 
relevant authority and competence, and 

• Reliance is on good faith and after making an independent assessment of the 
information or advice, having regard to the director’s knowledge of the corporation and 
complexity of the structure and operations of corporations 

 
S 189(a)(i) directors may rely on information or advice provided by an employee whom 
the director beleves on reasonable grounds to be reliable and competent in relation to the 
matteris concerned 
 
S 189(a)(ii) directors may rely on information or advice provided by a professional 
advisor or expert in relation to matters that the director believes on reasonable grounds to be 
within the persons professional or expert competence 
 
S 189(a)(iii) directors may rely on information or advice provided by another director or 
officer in relation to matters within the director’s or officer’s authority 
 
S 189(a)(iv) directors may rely on information or advice provided by a committee of 
directors on which the director did not serve in relation to matters within the committees 
authority 
 
 
S 189(b) the reliance must be in good faith and after making an independent assessment 
of the information or advice, having regard to the director’s knowledge of the corporation and 
the complexity of its structure and operations.  
 
 
A directors reliance is always taken as reasonable unless contrary evidence is proved. 
Therefore onus of proof rests upon the person asserting that the directors reliance was 
not reasonable.  
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DUTY TO ACT IN GOOD FAITH AND PROPER PURPOSE S 181 
 
181 Duty to Act in Good Faith—civil obligations 

1. The Stat Duty Duty 
 
S 181 Good faith—directors and other officers 
(1) A director or other officer of a corporation must exercise their powers and discharge their 
duties: 
(a) in good faith in the best interests of the corporation; and 
(b) for a proper purpose. – was the causative purpose proper  
 
Note 1: This subsection is a civil penalty provision (see section 1317E). 
Note 2: Section 187 deals with the situation of directors of wholly-owned subsidiaries. 
(2) A person who is involved in a contravention of subsection (1) contravenes this subsection. 

 

2. Has there been breaches of the stat duty?  

1.Did director act in a way that they honestly believe was in best interests of company? 
Re Smith v Fawcett Ltd (1942)-  it was held that the directors were required to act “bona fide in 
that they consider – not what a court may consider – is in the interests of the company, and not 
for any collateral purpose”. 

2.Did directors use power for proper purpose? 

 

2. Has there been breaches of the good faith common law duty? 

Courts divided on whether duty to act in good faith in the best interests of the company involves 
a subjective or objective test: 

Step 1: Subjective test: directors comply if they genuinely believe that they are acting in the 
best interests of the company. They breach the duty if they engage deliberately in conduct 
knowing that it is not in the interests of the company (ASIC v Maxwell (2006)) 

HOWEVER: note Bowen LJ in Hutton v West Cork Railway Co (1883) at 671: Bona fides cannot 
be the sole test, otherwise you might have a lunatic conducting the affairs of the company, and 
paying away its money with both hands in a manner perfectly bona fide but perfectly irrationally.  

Step 2: CONSEQUENTLY: Where they assert a belief that they were acting in the company’s 
best interest the court will look for objective evidence to support this: 

Step 2: Objective Test: Owen in Bell Group Ltd (in liq) v Westpac Banking Corp (No 9) (2008) 
stated directors will breach their duty if on consideration of the surrounding circumstances 
(objectively view), the asserting of directors that their conduct was bona fide in the best interests 
of the company and for proper purposes should be doubted, discounted or not accepted”  

This analysis of subjective and onjective elements was affirmed on appeal in Westpac Banking 
Corporation v Bell Group Lrs (in liq) (No 3) (2012) 

The duty will be breached if the director acts in a way that no rational director would have 
considered to be in best interests of the company- ASIC v Adler (2002) 

 

3.Has there been breaches of the common law proper purpose duty? 
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1.What was power given for?  In cases where alleged that directors have exercised powers 
for improper purpose, courts consider two matters: a)the objective purpose for which the power 
was granted and b) the purpose which actually motivated the exercise of the power (Howard 
Smith Ltd v Ampol Petroleum Ltd (1974)).  

2.Is the exercise of power consistent with its reason for grant? b) the purpose which 
actually motivated the exercise of the power (Howard Smith Ltd v Ampol Petroleum Ltd (1974)). 

3.Breach if the substantial purpose was improper 

 

Howard Smith Ltd v Ampol Petroleum Ltd (1974)):  

Facts: Millers (Company) had a mob of shareholders with majority shareholdings, and another 

bunch trying to buy shares in Millers. Millers board don’t want them to have majority (because then 

they might be replaced), so the board sells more shares out. As a result, the voting power of the 

two biggest shareholders became diluted. The company itself doesn’t lose anything as they are 

selling out more shares and getting more capital, and the directors didn't personally gain anything 

from it. 

There were two motives: (1) to dilute the power of majority and (2) make money for company. 

Held: if self-interest is involved, directors cannot assert that their action was bona fide in the 

interest of the company. However, self-interest is only one instance of improper motive. Held a 

two-stage test: 

 Start with a consideration of the power exercised by the directors, including the nature of 

this power and any limits within which it may be exercised [legal question] 

 Then examine the substantial/primary purpose for which that action was taken and to 

reach a conclusion whether that purpose was proper or not [factual question]. In doing so, 

give credit to the bona fide position of the directors and respect their judgement in matters 

of management (business judgement rule) 

 To use their fiduciary power solely for the purpose of shifting the power to decide 

to whom and at what price shares are to be sold cannot be related to any purpose 

for which the power over the share capital was conferred upon them. Directors 

contravened the duty. 

 

4.Determining what actually IS the purpose of the power? 

 

 Court should give credit to opinion of the directors: Howard Smith v Ampol [1974] AC 821 

“If self-interest is involved, directors cannot assert that their action was bona fide in the interest of 
the company. However, self-interest is only one instance of improper motive. Held a two-stage 
test: 1.Start with a consideration of the power exercised by the directors, including the nature of 
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this power and any limits within which it may be exercised [legal question. 2. Then examine the 
substantial/primary purpose for which that action was taken and to reach a conclusion whether that 
purpose was proper or not [factual question]. In doing so, give credit to the bona fide position of 
the directors and respect their judgement in matters of management (business judgement rule). To 
use their fiduciary power solely for the purpose of shifting the power to decide to whom and at 
what price shares are to be sold cannot be related to any purpose for which the power over the 
share capital was conferred upon them. Directors contravened the duty. 

 

 Substantial purpose of majority of directors is key: Harlowe’s Nominees v Woodside 
(1968) 121 CLR 483 

Harlowe’s Nominees Pty Ltd v Woodside (Lake Entrance) Oil Company NL:[3] 

Facts: Woodside was engaged in oil and gas exploration and collaborated in its exploration with 

other companies including B. It had issued share capital. Woodside’s directors were concerned 

about “mystery buyer” acquiring substantial shareholding in the company through purchasing 

shares and made allotment to B. Mystery buyer challenged allotment on grounds it was against 

proper purpose and not in consideration of best interests of company. Contended that as corollary 

to general fiduciary principle, it could not be suggested that power to issue shares had been 

exercised bona fide in interests of company unless company had at time an immediate need for 

capital secured by new issue. 

Held: “The principle is that although primarily the power is given to enable capital to be 

raised when required for the purposes of the company, there may be occasions when the 

directors may fairly and properly issue shares for other reasons, so long as those reasons 

relate to the purpose of benefitting the company as a whole, as distinguished from a 

purpose eg, maintaining control of the company in the hands of the directors themselves of their 

friends” 

If the directors have an actual purpose of thereby creating an advantage for themselves otherwise 

than as members of the general body of shareholders, the allotment would be voidable as an 

abuse of the fiduciary power (purpose of ensuring the particular board's continued power of the 

company is improper). 

Here, the allotment was not for improper purpose but to give Woodside greater freedom to 

plan for future joint operations with B and so ensure its long-term stability rather than 

defeating mystery buyer. 

 

 

Circumstances surrounding the exercise of power will be relevant: Permanent Building 

Society v Wheeler (1994) 14 ACSR 109 – here, director was under a positive duty to take steps to 

protect the companys interests- even though he disclosed conflict and abstained from voiting. 

Wasn’t enough! 

http://www.unistudyguides.com/wiki/Directors%E2%80%99_duty_to_act_in_good_faith_and_for_proper_purposes#cite_note-2
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 Where there are multiple purposes: ‘But for’ test should be used: Whitehouse v Carlton 

Hotel (1987) 162 CLR 285 : HC explained that where there was more than one purpose for a 

share issue the “but for” test should be applied to work out whether the directors breached their 

duty and ussyes shares for an improper purpose. 

An allotment of shares will be invalidated if the impermissible purpose is causative- ie but for its 

presence, no allotment would have been made 

 

 

5. Has there been breach of good faith/proper purpose and best interests of company? 
Interest of shareholders/creditors/related companies 

Duty to act good faith in best interests of shareholders as a collective group- 
Greenhalgh v Ardene Cinemas ltd (1951), Westpac v Bell 

Duty to present and future shareholders - Bell v Westpac 

Duty to creditors- when company insolvent or has financial difficulties, directors have duty 
to best interests of its creditors and to exercise their powers in a way that does not predjudice 
company’s ability to pay its creditors – Walker v Winborne (1976) 

Duty to related companies- where companies in a group enter into arrangements/ enter 
into business with another company in same group- if lending company is in financial difficulty, 
the directors predjudce interests of the lending ompanies creditors if interest rate/loan is not on 
commercial terms or if the borrowing company is or becomes insolvent and cannot repay- 
Walker v Winborne (1976) 

 

 

Other cases to consider: 
 
Greenhalgh v Arderne: “Interests of the company” means “interests of the shareholders as a 
whole”. Directors may act in anyone’s interest, as long as it aligns with the interests of 
shareholders as a whole. 

 
Darvall v Nth Sydney: Directors must have regard to interests of both present & future 

shareholders. 
 
Percival v Wright: Directors do not owe a duty to act in the interests of individual 

shareholders. 
 
Mills v Mills: If different classes of shareholders exist, the director’s act must be fair as 

between the classes of shareholders. 
 
Darvall v Nth Sydney: Directors also must have regard to interests of the company as a 

commercial entity. 
 
Parke v Daily News: Directors must not act in the interests of employees at the expense of 
the company.  
Company sold a business, & intended to distribute surplus proceeds to dismissed employees. 
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Since the employees’ employment ceases, the payment will not improve industrial relations  
payment will be to the detriment of shareholders & the company as a whole. 
 

 

Consequences of Contravening s 181  

Designated civil penalty provision s 1317E 

Court has power to impose civil penalty to any person involved in contravention of s 181(1). 

Who is involved? S 79 – aids, abets, induces or is knowingly concerned in or party to the 
contravention 

Criminal liability may be imposed under s 184(1) if director or other officer is RECKLESS or 
INTENTIONALLY DISHONEST and fails to exercise their powers and discharge their duties 
in good faith and in the best interests of the corporation or for a proper purpose.  

Therefore if fall short of criminal under s 184(1), a breach of s 181(1) is still possible even 
though a director had subjective belief they were acting for proper purpose: ASIC v Adler 
(2002) 
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DUTY TO PREVENT INSOLVENT TRADING 
 

1.DUTY applies to directors only 
 
S 588G: 
(1)  This section applies if: 
(a)  a person is a director of a company at the time when the company incurs a debt 
 
Duty is on directors only because the control overall management of company and have 
ultimate power to prevent debts being incurred 
 
Persons who are not appointed as directors but are shadow directors or de facto 
directors are subject to the duty- come within wide definition of “director” – s9  
 
 
Directors of companies in financial difficulties are subject to fiduciary duty not to engage in 
activities that predjudice creditor’s interests 
 
 
Insolvent trading- when directors fail to prevent their company incurring debts when there 
are reasonable grounds to suspect that it is insolvent.  
 
 
 
2. Establish when Duty was created 
588G (1) 

(a) a person is a director of a company at the time when the company incurs a debt 
(b) the company is insolvent at that time, or becomes insolvent by incurring that debt, or 

by incurring at that time debts including that debt; and 
(c) at that time, there are reasonable grounds for suspecting that the company is 

insolvent, or would so become insolvent, as the case may be; and 
(d) that time is at or after the commencement of this Act – After June 23 1993 

 

3. Was a debt incurred? 
s 588G(1A) provides that: 

 paying of dividend 

 reducing share capital 

 buying back shares 

 issuing or redeeming preference shares in certain circumstances 

 financially assisting person to acquire shares in co 

 are events that constitute incurring a debt 

debt- an obligation by one person to pay sum of money to another – Powell v Fryer (2001). 
Also defined in Hawkins v Bank of China (1992)- where a debt is incurred when a company 
so acts to expose itself contractually to an obligation to make a future payment of a sum of 
monet as a debt.  

S 588G (1A) Gives expanded meaning of “incurs a debt”- if company takes any of the 7 
actions listed in column 2, a company incurs a debt  

Timing debt incurred- important to ascertain time debt is uncured as s 588G (1)(b) requires 
proof company was insolvent at time debt was incurred or became insolvent by incurring that 
debt 

http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/cth/consol_act/ca2001172/s9.html#director
http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/cth/consol_act/ca2001172/s9.html#director
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Timing depends on terms of agreement but generally at the time the contract is entered into, 
but not always: Hawkins v Bank of China (1992)- here incurring of debt occurred when 
guarantee was executed because after that date the companys obligation to the bank under 
the guarantee was unavoidable.  

Debt can be incurred even when contract giving rise to the debt is a future debt- Russel 
Halpern Nominees pty ltd v Martin (1987)- debt was incurred here when tenant executed 
agreement to lease- when rent was not paid the tenant company merely accured a liability for 
an amunt, so timing was when rent was not paid rather than when due. Pg 511 

 

 

4. Establish Insolvency 
S 588G(1) requires proof company was insolvent at time debt was incurred.  

STEP 1: S 95A (1) a person is solvent if and only if the person is able to pay all their 
debts, as and when they become due and payable 

S 95A (2) a person who is not solvent is regarded as being insolvent  

STEP 2: Whether or not company able to pay its debts?  Based on a cash flow test. 

Cash flow test: focus on income v expenditure. Pg 511 textbook Powell v Fryer (2001) 

‘It is legitimate to take into account funds the company can, on a real and reasoned view, 
realise by sale of assets, borrowing against the security of its assets, or by other reasonable 
means.’ Bell Group (in liq) v Westpac Banking Corp (no 9) (2008) 70 ACSR 1 

Fact that has failed to pay a debt does not establish insolvency. Must be more than temporary 
lack of liquidity 

Capacity to pay debts in future is relevant. 

Presumptions of Insolvency- two presumptions available under s 588E to assist in 
proving company was insolvent at relevant time. The presumptions may be rebutted with 
evidence s 588E (9) and do not apply with criminal proceedings under s 588G. 

1. S 588E (3) – presumption of continuing insolvency. If can be proved that company was 
insolvent at a particular time during the 12 months ending on the “relation-back day” it is 
presumed that the company remained insolvent thereafter.  Relation back day in cumpolsary 
winding up is the date the application to wind up the company was filed s 9.  

So if company incurs debts at different times within the 12 month period prior to the relation 
back day this presumption removes the need to prove it was insolvent on each occasion 

2. S 588E (4) -  Presumption of insolvency where company has for a time contravened with s 
286(1) or (2) by failing to keep or retain adequate financial records. In such cases presumed 
that company is insolvent during the period of contravention  

 

Reasonable grounds for suspecting insolvency- there must be REASONABLE 
GROUNDS FOR SUSPECTING THAT THE COMPANY WAS INSOLVENT at the time the 
debt was incurred s 588G(1)(c) 
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What is reasonable? – the word reasonable imported the standard of reasonableness 
appropriate to non-executive directors of reasonable competence and diligence, seeking to 
perform their duties as imposed by law and capable of reachin a reasonably informed opinion 
as to the companys financial capacity. 

Reasonable grounds for suspecting insolvency arise when a reasonably competent and 
diligent director would have had grounds for suspecting insolvency in the circumstances- 
ASIC v Plymin, affirmed in Elliott v ASIC (2004) 

Objective test, based on reasonable director in the circumstances (Special expertise could 
raise expectations) 

Suspect insolvency: 

 More than a mere idle wondering whether it exists or not 
 A positive feeling of actual apprehension or mistrust 
 Amounting to a slight opinion but without sufficient evidence 
 A reason to suspect that a fact exists is more than a reason to consider or look into the 

possibility of its existence 

ASIC v Plymin- Held (Mandie J) [420] inactivity or the failure to attempt to prevent the company 
from trading or incurring the debt will be sufficient to constitute a failure to prevent the company 
from incurring the debt within the meaning of s 588G(2) 

ASIC v Plymin – two stage test 1. Objective and subjective: The relevance of a director's duty 
is that “reasonable grounds” imports the standard of care of a non-executive director acting 
with reasonable competence and diligence. It is then necessary to determine whether the 
particular director was aware of grounds for suspecting insolvency which were “reasonable 
grounds” in the light of that standard 

Queensland bacon v rees- TEST to define suspicion 

 
4. Establish contravention of duty 
S 588G (2) 
(a)  the person is aware at that time that there are such grounds for so suspecting; or 
(b)  a reasonable person in a like position in a company in the company's circumstances would 
be so aware. 
 
 
S 588G (2) requires proof that a director failed to prevent the company incurring debt 
 
ASIC v Plymin- “failing to prevent” covers inactivity or the failure to attempt to prevent the 
company from incurring debt 
 
ASIC v Plymin- s 588G (2)(a) requires proof that the director is aware that there are reasonable 
grounds for suspecting the companys insolvency. Not necessary to prove actual suspicion. It 
is sufficient if director was aware of facts which would cause a reasonably competent 
non-executive director to suspect that the company was insolvent at tume it incurred a 
debt 
 
A director also contravenes s 588G by failing to prevent company incurring the debt is 
a reasonable PERSON IN A LIKE POSITION in a company in the companys 
circumstances would be aware of reasonable grounds for suspecting insolvncy 
 
Not necessary for plantiff to prove that director had the power to prevent the company incurring 
debts or continuing to trade. Nor is it necessary to prove that an individual director failed in their 
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duty to take a particular step which would have been effective to prevent company incurring 
debt- Elliott v ASIC (2004) 
 
 
 
5. Establish if any defences apply 
 
Under s 588H there are four defences available to a director who otherwise has contravened 
s 588G.  These are: 
 
1. Reasonable grounds to expect solvency- s 588H(2) it is a defence if director proves that, 
at time when debt was incurred, director had reasonable grounds to expect and did expect that 
the company was solvent at that time and would remain solvent even if it incurred that debt and 
any other debts that it incurred at that time  
 
Metropolitan Fire Systems v Miller (1997) 23 ACSR 699- to suspect something requires a lower 
threshold of knowledge or awareness than to expect it. It implies a measure of confidence thsat 
the company is solvent. The directors must have reasonable grouds for regarding it as likely 
that the company would at the relevant date have been able to pay its debts as and when they 
fall due. In this case the directors couldn’t rely on the defence, their expectations of solvency 
were based on optimism and hope rather than objective reasonable expectations 
 
 
2. Reasonable reliance on information as to solvency provided by others- s 588H (3) 
defence applies to a director who has delegated montoring of the comapnys financial position 
to others upon whom the director relies 
Defence is necessary for larger companies- cant be expected that directors control every action 
taken in conduct of companys business 
 
A director must establish many things to rely on this defence: 
a) director must show that at time when debt was incurred the director had reasonable grounds 
to believe and did believe that a competent  and reliable person was responsible for providing 
the director with adequate information about whether the company was solvent and that the 
other person was fulfilling their responsibilities 
 
b)must also prove that director expected on basis of information provided to the director by 
pther person, that the company was solvent and would remain solvent even if it incurred the 
debt and any other debts at that time 
 
if the director doesn’t obtain any information abo9ut sompanys solvenct from a competent and 
reliable person then the director cant use this defence!  
 

 

Re McLellan; Stakeman Pty Ltd v Carroll [2009] FCA 1415 - in his defence, Mr Carroll relied 

on section 588H(2) of the Corporations Act 2001 (Act), contending he had reasonable 

grounds to expect the Company was solvent during the relevant period, given the 

Company's stock inventory and ability to realise and sell that stock. 

  

Mr Carroll also relied on s588H(3) and stated that, based on the information conveyed to 

him by the Company's accountant, the Company was and would remain solvent, even if it 

incurred further debts. 

  

Justice Goldberg found that Mr Carroll acted honestly and, in light of all the circumstances, 

considered that he ought to be fairly excused for contravention of the insolvent trading 

provisions under s1317S. 
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His Honour reasoned that: 

 although the accountant did not formally satisfy the criteria to meet the defence 

available to Mr Carroll in s588H(3)(a)(i) of the Act, the accountant was nevertheless 

providing advice to Mr Carroll throughout the relevant period and it was reasonable for 

Mr Carroll to rely on this advice, despite Mr Carroll's own suspicions and knowledge as 

to the Company's solvency. During the relevant period, the accountant had told Mr 

Carroll on several occasions that he did not believe the Company was insolvent; 

 Mr Carroll had taken action to increase sales and make the business successful; 

 Mr Carroll sought investors to provide further capital and monitored the assets of the 

Company; 

 Mr Carroll requested the advice of an insolvency practitioner and then acted on that 

advice during the relevant period; and 

 upon receiving a bill from the Australian Taxation Office for $110,000, Mr Carroll 

immediately sought advice from the accountant, who then put him in contact with the 

liquidator and the Company was subsequently wound up. 

  

Although Mr Carroll allowed the Company to incur debts while it was insolvent in breach 

of s588G, in light of the surrounding circumstances and the fact that Mr Carroll neither 

gained personally from the breach nor acted against professional advice, His Honour 

considered it appropriate that he be wholly excused from liability for contravention of the 

insolvent trading provisions. 
 
 
3. Non-participation in management-  
 
DCT v Clark [2003] NSWCA 91 - Wife didn’t take part in management. This was not a defence! 

In Deputy Commissioner of Taxation v Clark [2003] NSWCA 91 the New South Wales Court of 
Appeal also considered the position of a housewife 'sleeping' director attempting to rely on non 
participation in the management of the company to avoid liability under the insolvent trading 
provisions of the Corporations Act. The Honourable James Spigelman, AC in his judgement 
referred to the trend in legislative development and case law with respect to the increasing 
expectation that directors will participate in the management of a company. 

The judgement highlighted the point that the complete failure to participate in the management 
of a company, regardless of the reason, is inconsistent with the basic duty of a director to share 
in the management of a company and, furthermore, cannot be relied upon in defence of liability 
for insolvent trading. 

Although, The Honourable James Spigelman acknowledged that Mrs. Clark became a director 
of her husband's company because there had to be two directors and that she relied on her 
husband completely to manage the company, he concluded that 'there is no justification for a 
doctrine, which would hold sleeping directors to be `de facto non-directors', who should be 
relieved of their liabilities'. The Court of Appeal allowed the appeal against her. 

Non-executive directors are reminded that their role is a serious undertaking with legal 
responsibilities and consequences. The Courts have clearly indicated a willingness to impose 
high standards on directors' conduct and will not provide any leniency for non-executive 
directors or 'sleeping' directors where breaches of directors' duties occur. 
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The Courts expect non-executive directors to apply an independent and enquiring mind to the 
information provided to them by executive directors and officers of the organisation. 

 
4. Reasonable steps taken to prevent incurring of debt 
S 588H(5) and (6)- allows directors to appoint a voluntary administrator- will be a defence to 
insolvent trading.  
 
 (5)  It is a defence if it is proved that the person took all reasonable steps to prevent the 
company from incurring the debt. 
 (6)  In determining whether a defence under subsection (5) has been proved, the matters 
to which regard is to be had include, but are not limited to: 
(a)  any action the person took with a view to appointing an administrator of the 
company; and 
(b)  when that action was taken; and 
(c)  the results of that action. 
 
 
The Explanatory Paper accompanying thr 1992 Bill that inserted this defence indicated that s 
588H(2) requires direcgors to take UNEQUIVOCAL STEPS 
 
 588H(6) encourages directors to make prompt use of the voluntary administration provisins., 
to provide the s 588H(5) defence, s 588H(6) directs the court to have regard to mattes including 
any action the director took with a view to appointing an administratior of the compant, when 
acrio was taken and results of the action 
 
 
 
6.Contravention 
 
Compensation 
Contravening directors liable to pay compensation to the company of an amount equal to the 
loss or damage suffered by unsecured creditors in relation to the debts so incurred because of 
the company’s insolvency ss 588J, 588K, 588M 
 
Ss 588j, 588K- compensation orders can be made whether or not company is in liquidation 
 
SS 588M- gives the liquidator ability to seek compensation. Liquidator can start compensation 
proceedings irrespective of ASIC commencing action 
 
S 588M(3) -unsecured creditors have limited right to initiate own compensation claims against 
directors. May only do so if company liquidator fails to launch an action or if the liquidator 
consents to creditors action 
 
S 588R-U sets out regime that creditors can  use to initate their own proceedings 
Ie: must wait 6 months after beginning of winding up, and then apply for liquidators consent\ 
S 588S sets out procedure for gainings liquidators consent 
 
 
May also be liable for a civil penalty pt 9.4B 
 
Criminal offence s 588G(3) 
 
 
 
 
Extra Notes –  
This duty is an aspect of directors fiduciary duty to act in good faith and in the best interests of 
the company, as well as fiduciary duty to exercise their powers for proper purposes: Westpac 
Banking Corporation v Bell Group lrd (in liq) (No 3) (2012) 

http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/cth/consol_act/ca2001172/s148.html#limited
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If they breach this, they may ALSO be in breach of: 
 s 181 (best interests of company and proper purpose), 
 s 182 improper use of position and 
 s 183 improper use of information 
 
 
Extra Notes- Must not prejudice creditors 
When company is solvent, the companys interests correspond with interests of shareholders, 
when insolvent however considerations are given to creditors 
 
This duty arises in context of corporate groups: companies in group lending money to each 
other or securing loans. Ie if a whole owned subsidiary asked by bank to guarantee bank loan 
to its holding company, directors are taken to act in best interests only if in best interests of the 
holding company, provided the subsidiary is solvent. If theyre are INSOLVENT s 187 does not 
apply and the directors must not enter into guarantee 
 
ANZ Executors and Trustee co ltd v Qintex Australia Ltd (1991)- Directors must not place 
themselves in a position where they are unable to make decisions in the best interests of the 
company. This would include entering into commercial transactions that could result in 
situations where they cannot take part in making a decision for the company. Here in this 
case Qintex provided a deed that whole owned subsidiaries would guarantee its indebetdness0 
when Qintex defaulted, ANZ sought specific performance from subsidiaries who at time were 
insolvent. Court held that to execute a document rendering it liable couldn’t be for holding 
company’s beefit.  
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REMEDIES TO A BREACH OF DIRECTORS DUTIES 
Equitable and common law remedies 

 
 

Proper Plaintiff Rule: Common law rule: company takes action!  
 

Foss v Harbottle Rule 
  

 The company is the proper plaintiff to bring or defend actions in the name of the company 
 Action by individual members would lead to multiplicity of suits, distracting the company 

and burdening the courts 
 The company, through its directors, is best placed to assess the situation and the court 

should not interfere (internal management rule) 
 
 

 However, exceptions were necessary to protect from abuse of majority power: 
 

 Where actions of directors or other members are detrimental to a member’s interests 
personally in his capacity as member, he may bring a personal action (under an 
exception to the rule in Foss v Harbottle). 

 Ngurli  Ltd v McCann (1953) 90 CLR 425- In Ngurli Ltd v McCann,2° the High Court ruled 

that the controlling director could not use his power -- termed ’fiduciary power’ in the judgment 

-- to issue shares at par to a friendly interest to the exclusion of the two McCanns (minority 

shareholders). This issue was solely for the controlling director’s benefit. The power must be 

used bona fide for the purpose for which it was conferred, that is to say, to raise sufficient capital 

for the benefit of the company as a whole. It must not be used under the cloak of such a purpose 

for the real purpose of benefiting some shareholders or their friends at the expense of other 

shareholders or so that some shareholders or their friends will wrest control of the company 

from the other shareholders.21 
 

 However important to note Peters’ American Delicacy Co v Heath (1931) 61 CLR 
457: In that case it was held that an alteration of the articles which discriminated 
against holders of partly-paid shares in favour of the majority shareholders did not 
constitute a fraud on the minority in the circumstances. It was noted in that case that 
Latham CJ considered that such an alteration must be valid unless the party 
complaining can establish that the resolution was passed fraudulently or 
oppressively or was "so extravagant that no reasonable person could believe that it 
was for the benefit of the company". His Honour stated that the criterion of the 
"benefit of the company as a corporation" could not be invoked as the sole 
solution to the problem where the amendment in question affected the relative 
rights of different classes of shareholders. Dixon J was also regarded as having 
expressed similar sentiments in finding that the expression "benefit as a whole" was a 
general expression and that the "benefit of the company as a whole test" was 
"inappropriate, if not meaningless", where the amendment proposed to adjust the 
rights of conflicting interests. 

Equitable limitation on majority voting power to alter constitution (acquisition of 
minority shares) 
 
Gambotto v WCP held: 
  

1. Where there is no expropriation of shares or alteration of proprietary rights attaching 

to shares, alteration is valid provided it is: 

- not beyond any purpose contemplated by Constitution OR  

- oppressive to minority 

 
2. Where there is expropriation of minority shares by majority or alteration of 

proprietary rights attaching to shares, majority must show: 
- The resolution was passed for proper purposes, namely to secure company from significant 

harm or detriment AND 

- Both the process and the nature of the acquisition were fair. 
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The minority shareholders have a personal action. 
e.g. alter constitution to provide all shares can be acquired for a price  
 

 
Members Personal Rights 
 

Personal rights can be conferred by the CA, the company’s constitution or a separate contract.  
 
An example of personal right provided by CA is s 246D – confers right on holders of classes 
of shares to bring an action to prevent majority from altering the constitution so as to vary class 
rights other than in accordance with procedure in CA or constitution 
 
Constitution can confer rights that are enforceable. By virtue of s 140 a companys 
constitution and any applicable replaceable rules have effect of contract between the company 
and each member and beyween a memner and each other member- here a member has a 
personal right 
 
Personal rights under general law- a member for example has personal right to have their 
votes at general meetings counted- Pender v Lushington (1877) – a member’s votes were 
disallowed. Resulted in passing of a resolution for which he would have not have voted. Court 
upheld his right to bring an action and decided that he came within an exception to the rule in 
Foss because he was enforcing a personal right conferred on all members to have their votes 
recorded 
 
 
Remedies for breach of a statutory contract (Constitution/ replicable rules)  
By virtue of s 140 a companys constitution and any applicable replaceable rules have 
effect of contract between: 
 

1. company and each member 
2. company and each director and company secretary  
3. member and each other member  
 
 Merely procedural irregularities may be waived or ‘ratified’ by the members 
 More fundamental rights such as rights to appoint director, and rights to vote (Pender) have 

been treated differently  
 There are several cases where courts have allowed actions in respect of procedural matters 
 The cases are inconsistent, so at most we can say that procedural irregularities 

cannot normally be the subject of a personal action under the statutory contract, 
unless they relate to fundamental rights of shareholders attached to their shares 

 
 Usual remedy is injunction 
 More info on personal rights in textbook pgs 675- 679 
 
 
ASIC is also given standing 
 
 
Company Remedies for Breach of Duty: 
 

 Compensation 
 Account of Profits 
 Rescission of Contract 
 Constructive Trust 
 Injunction 
 Section 1317J(2) 
 
 
Compensation 
Equitable remedy: Place company in position would have been in if breach had not occurred 
 
All directors who participare in the breach of duty are jointly and severally liable  
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In Markwell Bros Pty v CPN Diesels1, the Supreme Court of Queensland found that, although 
the alternate directors in question had little control over the company, they were “in the eyes of 
the law in the same position as any other director” and as such, were “subject to the normal 
duties which a director owes to his company”. 
 
There are also statutory compensation provisions: 
Ss 588j, 588K- compensation orders can be made whether or not company is in liquidation 
 
SS 588M- gives the liquidator ability to seek compensation. Liquidator can start compensation 
proceedings irrespective of ASIC commencing action 
 
S 588M(3) -unsecured creditors have limited right to initiate own compensation claims against 
directors. May only do so if company liquidator fails to launch an action or if the liquidator 
consents to creditors action 
 
S 588R-U sets out regime that creditors can  use to initate their own proceedings 
Ie: must wait 6 months after beginning of winding up, and then apply for liquidators consent\ 
S 588S sets out procedure for gainings liquidators consent 
 
 
 
 
Account of Profits 
 

Profits generated through breach of fiduciary duty must be handed over 

Regal (Hastings)Ltd v Gulliver [1967] 2 AC 134n- The liability of fiduciaries does not depend on 

fraud or bona fides; it arises from the mere fact of profit, no matter how honest they were. 

The defendants attracted liability due to their fiduciary relationship with Regal. They obtained their 

shares merely by reason of their position. Thus, they are accountable for the profits they made out 

of them. The defendants were thus liable to Regal for those profits on the ground that they had 

obtained their shares by reason of their position as directors of Regal and in the course of their office 

as directors. 

 Test: Did profits arise by reason of and in course of their office as directors? 

 

 

Rescission of Contract 

Company doesn’t want to be in contract, but is so because of director.  

Breach of duty by director can make a contract with the company voidable at option of company 

HOWEVER, this is Lost if innocent party is involved- Transvaal Lands v New Belgium [1914] 

 

s 129 assumption that directors have properly performed their duties 

 

 

Constructive Trust 
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Where director has assets generated by the misuse of company property they will be constructive 

trustee of those assets for the company 

Paul A Davies Pty Ltd (in liq) v Davies (no 2) [1983] 1 NSWLR 337 - an attempt by a family to use 
liquidation as a vehicle to access the wealth tied up in their company backfired when the 
liquidator succeeded in having constructive trusts in favour of the Company over property 
transferred prior to liquidation. 

This case serves as a reminder that the nature of a corporation, being a separate legal entity, 
has strict compliance requirements which must be observed even in circumstances where the 
company is wholly controlled by a family with similarly aligned interests. 

 

Injunction 
 

Company may apply for an equitable injunction where there is a breach of duty anticipated or 
ongoing 

Pacifica Shipping Co Ltd v Andersen (1985) 2 NZCLC 99,306; [1986] 2 NZLR 328 -  

 

Standing under the CA 
 

S 1317J: lists the persons who may apply for a declaration of contravention or pecuniary 
penalty order: 

 ASIC may apply for a declaration of contravention, a pecuniary penalty order or a 

compensation order: s 1317J(1).  

 A corporation may apply for a compensation: s 1317J(2).  

 Corporation can intervene in an application for a declaration of contravention, or a pecuniary 

penalty order: s 1317J(3) 

 No other person may apply for a declaration of contravention, pecuniary penalty order or 

compensation order: s 1317J(4). 

 An application for a compensation order may be made whether or not a declaration of 

contravention has been made under s 1317E. 

 

FOR CIVIL PENALTY PROVISIONS: 

***For civil penalties- need declaration of contravention. Court needs to declare that there has 

been a contravention 

*** A breach of ss 180-183, 588G requires a Declaration of Contravention (“DoC”) 

 

*** DoC can only be sought by ASIC, leading to: 

 S 1317G:  pecuniary penalty order up to $200,000 

 S 206C:  disqualification of directors 

 S 1324:  injunction to restrain breaches 
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 S 1317H: compensation to the company, either by application of ASIC or the company. The 

company has standing to apply for compensation orders for breach of the civil penalty 

provision: CA s 1317J(2). 

 

Declaration of contravention 

 Section 1317E lists the civil penalty provisions in which the court must make a DoC 

 S 1317E(1): The court must make a declaration of contravention if it is satisfied that 
a person has contravened a civil penalty provision: 
 

 (a) s 180(1), s 181(1)-(2), s 182(1)-(2), s 183(1)-(2) (directors’ duties); 
 (b) s 209(2) (related party rules); 
 (c) s 254L(2), s 256D(3), s 259F(2), s 260D(2) (share capital transactions); 
 (e) s 588G(2) (insolvent trading). 

 
 

 The DoC is conclusive evidence of the provision breached, the conduct, the person who 
contravened the provision and the company involved: s 1317F 
 

 S 1317L requires the court to apply civil procedure and evidence rules 
 
 
 
Pecuniary Penalty Orders- under s 1317G court may order person to pay pecuniary penalty 
up to 200,000$$$ if contravention of a corporation/scheme civil penalty provision is serious or 
if it materially predjudices interests of the coporation or its members, or materially prejdidices 
corporations abiglity to pay its creditors 
 
Max pecuniary penalty order for body corporate is 1million s 1317G(1B)(b). Maximum for an 
individual is $200, 000 s 1317G(1B)(a) 
 
Relevant for court to consider capacity of the defendant to pay the penalty- ASIC v Healey 
(No 2) (2011) 
 
 
Disqualification Order-  
 
ASIC may seek an order disqualifying that person from being a director or managing a 
corporation. Court may make such an order if satisfied the disqualification is justified and for 
such a period the court considers appropriate s 206C(1) Gillfillan v ASIC (2012) 
 
A disqualification order aims at personal and general detterance and may also be imposed for 
purpose of punishment- ASIC v Vizard (2005) 
 
 
 There is no fixed duration for disqualification under s 206C- just for whatever period 

corts considers appropriate. In ASIC v Adler (2002) court took into consideration factors. 
Longer priods appropriate where: 

 

dishonesty involved 
cotraventions are recurring and large financial losses have occurred 
likelihood of similar conduct in future which is likely harmful to public 
 
Court likely to impose longer periods of disqualification when director has previously been 
subject to disqulfication order: ASIC v Citrofresh International lrd (No 3) (2010) 

 
Have ranged from period of 6 months (Doyle v ASIC (2005) to permanent disqualification 
(ASIC v Elm Financial Services Pty Ltd (2005)) 
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 s 206B(1): contravention for offence of dishonesty or punishable by imprisonment 

for a period greater than 12 months: s 206B(1) 
 a person is automatically disqualified for 5 years from managing corporations if they 

are found guilty of any of these offences 
  ASIC can apply to court for extension of up to 15 years to disqualification under s 

206B(1) 
 Bankruptcy: undischarged bankrupt: s 206B(3) Personal Insolvency Agreement 

s206B(4)  
 ASIC - Has authority on its own to disqualify directors where an adverse report has been 

made by a liquidator under s 206F.  Can disqualify for up to 5 years if the person has been 
an officer of two or more corporations which have gone into liquidation in the last 7 years, 
where a liquidator has in each case made a report under s 533 suggesting that there has 
been some offence or breach of duty, and the creditors may get back less than 50c in the 
dollar. 

 Court can disqualify: s 206E: on application by ASIC for repeated contraventions of 
the CA 

 Court can disqualify: s 206C: Court may disqualify a person from managing companies 
for breach of civil penalty provision for a period that court considers appropriate if satisfied: 
Disqualification is justified with regard to: Person’s conduct in relation to the management, 
business or property of any company; Any other matters court considers appropriate 

 
 S 206G – leave can be granted- Grant of leave can be applied for by “A person who is 

disqualified…may apply to the court for leave to manage” and leave “may be expressed to 
be subject to exceptions and conditions determined by the Court” 

  

 
 

Statutory Injunction 
 

 S 1324(1): On application of the ASIC or a person whose interests is (or would be) affected, 
the court may restrain a person from engaging in conduct that contravenes (or would 
contravene) the Corporations Act.  
 

Court can grant an injunction on application of ASIC or ‘a person whose interests have been, 
are, or would be affected’ where: 
A person is engaging or proposing to engage in conduct that is: 
 

 A contravention of the Act 
 Attempting to contravene the Act 
 Aiding, inducing, being knowingly concerned in or party to a contravention of the Act, 
 Conspiring to contravene the Act 

 
Airpeak v Jetstream Aircraft: Members & creditors can apply for a s 1324 injunction to restrain 
breaches of civil penalty provisions. 
 
 S 1324(10): The court has power to award damages in addition to, or instead of, an 

injunction. 
 
 
 

McCracken v Phoenix Constructions (Qld) Pty Ltd (2012) - Section 1324(1) of 
the Corporations Act provides that where a person has engaged in conduct that constitutes 
a contravention of theCorporations Act, the Court may, on the application of a person 
whose interests have been affected by the conduct, grant an injunction restraining the 
conduct.  
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Section 1324(10) provides that where a Court has power to grant an injunction under 
section 1324(1), it may award damages, either in addition to or in substitution of the grant 
of the injunction. 

Decision: The Court of Appeal overturned the trial judge decision to award Phoenix, a 
creditor of Mr McCracken’s company, damages in excess of $1 million against Mr 
McCracken who was found to have contravened section 182 of the Corporations Act for 
improperly using his position as a director. 
The Court of Appeal determined that the rights to compensation for contravention of a civil 
penalty provision are exclusively provided for under Part 9.4B of the Corporations Act.  The 
Court noted that Part 9.4B denied compensation for contravention of a civil penalty to 
anyone except ASIC or the company of the relevant director(s), and held that section 1324 
consequently can have no work to do where civil penalty provisions are contravened.  
 

 
 
 
FOR CRIMINAL SANCTIONS 
 

Some of the statutory directors’ duties can, with the requisite mens rea, also constitute 
criminal offences: 

 
 Sections 184(1) - (3) reckless or intentional dishonesty in relation to s 181; 
 Dishonest use of information or position under ss 182-183 
 Section 588G(3) (Director's duty to prevent insolvent trading by company) 
 

 

Penalties for Criminal Sanctions: 

 s 184 - an offence may give rise to a penalty of 2,000 penalty units, imprisonment of up to five 

years, or both. No need to show that the director gained a benefit: R v Wilkie (2008) 220 FLR 2230 

 

s 206B(1) -  a person is automatically disqualified from managing corporations for five years if 

they are convicted of any of the offences set out in that section 

 

 

 

RELIEF FROM LIABILITY- RELIEF FOR BREACH OF DUTY 

 

Shareholder Ratification 

Directors breaching fiduciary duties to solvent companies may be excused from liability if 

shareholders pass ordinary resolution to ratify their actions.  

 

Exceptions:  

 Directors cannot be excused by shareholders however for breach of directors stat 

duties under Ch 2D of the CA- Angas Law Services Pty Ltd v Carabelas (2005) 
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 Where the company is insolvent such that approval or ratification of directors’ conduct 

would be prejudicial to the interests of the company’s creditors: Kinsela v Russell 

Kinsela Pty Ltd (In Liq) (1986) 10 ACLR 395.  

 

 Where ratification would result in acceptance of misappropriation of company property: 

Cook v Deeks (1916) 1 AC 554. 
 

 Where ratification would defeat a member’s personal rights: see, for example, 

Residues Treatment and Trading Co Ltd v Southern Resources Ltd (No. 4) (1988) 14 

ACLC 569- “It is well established that the allotment of shares for the purpose of 

ensuring the control of existing directors by defeating a takeover bid or of placing 

control of the company in the hands of a particular shareholder or group of 

shareholders is an abuse of the powers of the directors and a breach of their duty to 

the company” 

 

 Where ratification would be oppressive on individual or minority members, for example, 

because the directors are the majority shareholders, and vote their shares to ratify their 

own breaches: Edwards v Halliwell (1950) 2 All ER 1064 at 1067.   

Exemption from liability 

Company constitutions cannot emept liability caused by their directors - Under s 199A(1), a 

company is prohibited from exempting an officer from liability to the company.  

 

Indemnification  

S 199A(2) – a company or related body corporare must not indemnify an officer or auditor 
against a liability owed to the company, under a civil penalty order or owed to someone else 
and which did not arise out of conduct in good faith  
 
Indemnity of legal costs incurred in defnending an action from liability incurred as an 
officer or auditor is general permitted unless: 

 The person is found in the proceedngs to have a liability for which the company is 
prohibited from indemnifying that person under s 199A(2) 

 Person is found guilty in criminal proceedings 
 Court grants an order in proceedings brought by ASIC or a liquidator or 
 Court denies relief in proceedings where this is sought by the officer or auditor s 

199A(3) 

Under s 199A(3), the company is allowed to indemnify for legal costs where the 
director has been successful in defending an action, whether civil or criminal, and 
has incurred legal costs in so doing. 
 A company is able to advance funds for legal costs before the outcome of proceedings 

are known 
 However, once the outcome is known and indemnity is, as a result, prohibited, then the 

advance must be repaid:  see Note to s 193A(3), s 212. 
 
 
Insurance 
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S 199B prohibits a company from paying premiums for an insurance contract which covers 
liability arising out of: 
 

 conduct involving a wilful breach of duty in relation to the company; or 
 a contravention of s 182 (improper use of information) or s 183 (improper use of position). 
 Costs of defending civil or criminal proceedings may be insured. 
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MEMBERS REMEDIES 
 

Proper Plaintiff Rule: Common law rule: company takes action!  
 

Foss v Harbottle Rule 
  

 The company is the proper plaintiff to bring or defend actions in the name of the company 
 Action by individual members would lead to multiplicity of suits, distracting the company 

and burdening the courts 
 The company, through its directors, is best placed to assess the situation and the court 

should not interfere (internal management rule) 
 
 

 However, exceptions were necessary to protect from abuse of majority power: 
 

 Where actions of directors or other members are detrimental to a member’s interests 
personally in his capacity as member, he may bring a personal action (under an 
exception to the rule in Foss v Harbottle). 

 Ngurli  Ltd v McCann (1953) 90 CLR 425- In Ngurli Ltd v McCann,2° the High Court ruled 

that the controlling director could not use his power -- termed ’fiduciary power’ in the judgment 

-- to issue shares at par to a friendly interest to the exclusion of the two McCanns (minority 

shareholders). This issue was solely for the controlling director’s benefit. The power must be 

used bona fide for the purpose for which it was conferred, that is to say, to raise sufficient capital 

for the benefit of the company as a whole. It must not be used under the cloak of such a purpose 

for the real purpose of benefiting some shareholders or their friends at the expense of other 

shareholders or so that some shareholders or their friends will wrest control of the company 

from the other shareholders.21 
 

 However important to note Peters’ American Delicacy Co v Heath (1931) 61 CLR 
457: In that case it was held that an alteration of the articles which discriminated 
against holders of partly-paid shares in favour of the majority shareholders did not 
constitute a fraud on the minority in the circumstances. It was noted in that case that 
Latham CJ considered that such an alteration must be valid unless the party 
complaining can establish that the resolution was passed fraudulently or 
oppressively or was "so extravagant that no reasonable person could believe that it 
was for the benefit of the company". His Honour stated that the criterion of the 
"benefit of the company as a corporation" could not be invoked as the sole 
solution to the problem where the amendment in question affected the relative 
rights of different classes of shareholders. Dixon J was also regarded as having 
expressed similar sentiments in finding that the expression "benefit as a whole" was a 
general expression and that the "benefit of the company as a whole test" was 
"inappropriate, if not meaningless", where the amendment proposed to adjust the 
rights of conflicting interests. 

Equitable limitation on majority voting power to alter constitution (acquisition of 
minority shares) 
 
Gambotto v WCP held: 
  

1. Where there is no expropriation of shares or alteration of proprietary rights attaching 

to shares, alteration is valid provided it is: 

- not beyond any purpose contemplated by Constitution OR  

- oppressive to minority 

 
2. Where there is expropriation of minority shares by majority or alteration of 

proprietary rights attaching to shares, majority must show: 

- The resolution was passed for proper purposes, namely to secure company from significant 

harm or detriment AND 

- Both the process and the nature of the acquisition were fair. 

The minority shareholders have a personal action. 
e.g. alter constitution to provide all shares can be acquired for a price  
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Members Personal Rights 
 

Personal rights can be conferred by the CA, the company’s constitution or a separate contract.  
 
An example of personal right provided by CA is s 246D – confers right on holders of classes 
of shares to bring an action to prevent majority from altering the constitution so as to vary class 
rights other than in accordance with procedure in CA or constitution 
 
Constitution can confer rights that are enforceable. By virtue of s 140 a companys 
constitution and any applicable replaceable rules have effect of contract between the company 
and each member and beyween a memner and each other member- here a member has a 
personal right 
 
Personal rights under general law- a member for example has personal right to have their 
votes at general meetings counted- Pender v Lushington (1877) – a member’s votes were 
disallowed. Resulted in passing of a resolution for which he would have not have voted. Court 
upheld his right to bring an action and decided that he came within an exception to the rule in 
Foss because he was enforcing a personal right conferred on all members to have their votes 
recorded 
 
 
Remedies for breach of a statutory contract (Constitution/ replicable rules)  
By virtue of s 140 a companys constitution and any applicable replaceable rules have 
effect of contract between: 
 

1. company and each member 
2. company and each director and company secretary  
3. member and each other member  
 
 Merely procedural irregularities may be waived or ‘ratified’ by the members 
 More fundamental rights such as rights to appoint director, and rights to vote (Pender) have 

been treated differently  
 There are several cases where courts have allowed actions in respect of procedural matters 
 The cases are inconsistent, so at most we can say that procedural irregularities 

cannot normally be the subject of a personal action under the statutory contract, 
unless they relate to fundamental rights of shareholders attached to their shares 

 
 Usual remedy is injunction 
 More info on personal rights in textbook pgs 675- 679 
 
 
 
 
STATUTORY REMEDIES 
 

 Statutory oppression remedy under Part 2F.1 

 Statutory derivative action, 2F.1A 

 Injunction under s 1324 

 Winding up under s 461 

 Right to inspect the books s247A 

 [Call a meeting (ss 249D, 249F)] 

 
Part 2F.1 Oppressive and Unfair Conduct 
 

S 232 allows court to provide remedies if can show conduct of company is: 
 contrary to interest of members as a whole,  
 is oppressive 
 unfairly predjudicial or  
 unfairly discriminatory 
 
May comprise: 
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 an actual or proposed act or omission by or on behalf of company, or 
 a resolution or proposed resolution of members or a class of members of a company 
 
 
Standing under Statutory Oppressive Remedy 
 

S 234 sets out who may apply for an order. Eligible applicants are: 
 
 

 A member of the company, even though application relates to act/omission against 

the member in a capacity other than as a member s 234(a) (e.g. as director). May also 

be against another member in their capacity as member 

 A person removed from register of members because of a selective reduction s 234(b) 

 A past member if application relates to circumstances in which they ceased to be a 

member s 234(c) 

 A person to whom a share in the company has been transmitted by will or by operation 

of laws s 234(d) 

 A person whom ASIC thinks appropriate having regard to investigations its conducing, or 

has conducted into company’s affairs or matters connected with the company’s affairs s 

234(e) 

 
Must an applicant be registered as a member for s 234(a)? 
 

Niord pty ltd v Adelaide Petroleiuim NL (1990) – purchaser of shares in company has not been 
registered at time when instituted proceedings. Held that applicant must be registered in order 
to complain of oppressive conduct  
 
Re Independent Quarries prt ltd (1994) – registration as a member was not seen as decisive 
where a company was considered to be a member for purposes of predecessor of s 232, even 
though its name was not entered into the register of members. Share certificate had been 
issued but transfer had not been registered  
 
 
Members name removed from register pursuant to power in constitution before 
seeking relief under s 232 - member to first apply for correction of register under s 175- Re M 
Dalley and Co pty ltd (1986)  
 
 
A member has standing to seek remedy even where the person is NOT a member of 
the particular group of aggrieved members, so long as application relates tp act or omission 
against the other member in the capacity as a member s 234(a)(ii) 
 
 
Grounds under Statutory Oppressive Remedy 
S 232  
  The Court may make an order under section 233 if: 
   (a)  the conduct of a company's affairs; or 
   (b)  an actual or proposed act or omission by or on behalf of a company; or 
   (c)  a resolution, or a proposed resolution, of members or a class of members of a 
company; 
is either: 
   (d)  contrary to the interests of the members as a whole; or 

 (e)  oppressive to, unfairly prejudicial to, or unfairly discriminatory against, a member 

or members whether in that capacity or in any other capacity. 
For the purposes of this Part, a person to whom a share in the company has been 
transmitted by will or by operation of law is taken to be a member of the company. 

http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/cth/consol_act/ca2001172/s58aa.html#the_court
http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/cth/consol_act/ca2001172/s233.html
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Company’s affairs: 
An applicant must challenge that the conduct of a “company’s affairs” is contrary to the 
interests of the members as a whole, oppressive, unfairly predjuidicial or unfairly 
discriminatory.  
 
The company’s affairs includes: 

conduct of the directors 

Majority shareholders 

Substantial shareholders 

The company itself 

 
S 53 defines company’s affairs: has broad meaning including a reference to: 
 
 Establishment, membership, control, business, trading, transactions and dealings, 

property, liability and finances of company 

 Internal management and proceedings of the company 

 Ownership of shares in the company, including circumstances in which a person bought or 

sold shares in company 

 Power of person to exercise or control exercise of rights to vote shares 

 Ascertainment of persons who are or have been financially interested in success or failure 

of company or able to control or materially influence its policy 

 
*there is a question- what about the conduct of a subsidiary? In Re Norvabron pty ltd (No 
2) (1987) – a shareholder of a holding company applied for a remedy under a predecessor of 
s 232, alleging one of its subsidiaries had awarded a contract to a company associated with 
some of its directors at a price considerably higher than competitors tender.failure to take action 
was oppressive and unfair conduct. The directors of the olding company knew what was 
happenng in the subsidiary because they were also the subsidiarys directors.  
 
 
Conduct- negative action or inactivity can only be regarded as “conduct” where there is a duty 
at law or in equity to act in a positive way. Eg:  refusal by directors to allow shareholders to 
inspect financial records of a company was not “conduct” in the affairs of the company - Re 
Dernancourt Investments pty ltd (1990)  
 
Acts/proposed acts s 232(b)- under s 232(b) a single act by or on behalf f a company may 
constitutue conduct that is contracy to interests of members as a whole, oppressive, unfairly 
predjudicial or unfairly discriminatory.  
 
Wayde v NSW Rugby League (1985) HC held a single resolution of board of directors could be 
an opporessive or unfair act on behalf of the company.  
 
May also be a proposed act  
 
Omissions s 232(b)- s 232(b) also applies to omissions or proposed omissions 
 
May apply when controllers repeatedly refuse to call directors meetings or pay dividends- Shum 
Yip Properties Development Ltd v Chatswood Investment and Development co pty ltd (2002) 
 
 
 
Meaning of oppressive and Unfair: under s 232(e) oppression remedy extended to cover 
oppressive acts and conduct as well as conduct unfairly predjudicial or discriminatory against 
a member whether in that capacity or any other capacity 
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In Morgan v 45 Flers Avenue pty ltd (1986) supreme court of NSW held that correct approach 
is that it is innaporpiate to focus on each of the elements of 232(e). correct approach is to regard 
them as “composite whole”. The individual elements “should be considered merely as different 
aspects of th essential criterion, namely commercial unfairness”  
 
1.Unfairness- is determined objectively- in sense that director’s conduct could be regarded as 
oppressive or unfair if no reasonable director would have acted in that way – Wayde v NSW 
Rugby League (1985)-  “the operation of s 232 may be attracted to a decision made by directors 
which is made in good faith for a purpose within the directors powers but which reasonable 
directors would think to be unfair”  
 
No need for dishonesty or any ‘mens rea’ 
 
 
2.to determine if oppressive and unfair, court must balancr conflicting interests of 
majority and minority shareholders- balance achieved by examining company’s background 
and reasonable expectations of its shareholders. Not necessarily oppressive or unfair because 
there are irreconcilable differences between the parties. Also not necessarily unfair is majority 
shareholders refuse to buy minoritys shares- Re G Jeffer (Mens store) pty ltd (1984) 
 
 
Examples of Oppressive Conduct: 

 Exclusion from management 
 Diversion of business opportunities: Scottish Co-operative Wholesale Society v Meyer 

(1959) AC 324 
 Failure to declare or distribute dividends-cf Thomas v H W Thomas (1984) 2 ACLC 610 
 Excessive remuneration of directors where previously profits had been paid as 

dividends: Roberts v Walter Developments Pty Ltd (1997) 15 ACLC 882 
 Failure to revise dividend policy where increasing profits and common understanding 

dividends would grow: Shamsallah v CBD Refrigeration & Air-conditioning Services Pty 
ltd (2001) WASC 8  

 Deprivation of information/oppressive conduct of board meetings: John J Starr (Real 
Estate) Pty Ltd v Robert R Andrew (A/Asia) Pty Ltd (1991) 6 ACSR 63 

 Allotment of shares to dilute ownership: Re Dalkeith Investments Pty Ltd (1984) 3 
ACLC 74 

 Diversion of corporate opportunity – see examples pg 648- 649 
 Directors failure to act in interests of company- If directors breach fiduciary duties by 

failing to act in best interests of company – minority shareholders can apply for remedy 
under s 232 

 
 
 
 
Conduct contrary to the interests of the members as a whole- a court may also grant a 
remedy if it is satisfied conduct was contrary to interests of members as a whole s 232(d).  
 
Campbell v Backoffice Investments pty ltd (2008) – conduct that was “contrary to the interests 
of the members as a whole” had a separate and distinct area of operation from oppressive or 
unfairly predudicial or discriminatory conduct. 
 
Could arise is conduct is pointlessly wasteful 
 
Szencorp pty ltd v Clean Energy Council ltd (2009) “an example of such conduct may be found 
where a company is formed for the purpose of undertaking particular activities but the directors 
and management disregard those activities and dicrect the company into different commercial 
areas” 
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REMEDIES 
 
S 233(1) Wide powers to many any order it considers appropriate if shareholders can prove 
that conduct of company’s affairs is contrary to the interests of the members as a whole, 
oppressive unfairly prejudicial or unfairly discriminatory 
 
Two objectives with the remedies: 
1. to bring to an end the oppressive or unfair conduct and 
2. to compensate the injured party Re Hollen Australia pty ltd (2009) 
 
Courts may take into consideration conduct of both applicant and respondent- Ubertini v Saeco 
International Group SpA (No 4) (2009)  
 
Appropriate Orders: 
the company be wound up s 233(1)(a) 
 

existing constitution be modified or repealed s 233(1)(b) 
 

Regulating future conduct of company’s affairs s 233(1)(c) eg: Appointment of independent 
board members to investigate- Re Spargos Ltd 
 

for purchase of shares of any member by other members or a person to whom a share has 
been transmitted by will or operation of law s 233(1)(d) 
 

For purchase of the shares with an appropriate reduction of companys share capital s 
233(1)(e) 
 

that the company institute or defend legal proceedings or authorize a member to institute or 
defend legal proceedings in the name of the company s 233(1)(f) (g) – appropriate in cases 
where company ratifies a breach of duty by directors or if it fails to bring an action against a 
director for breach of duty in circumstances where ratification or failure is oppressive or unfairly 
predjudicial pr unfairly discriminaroty to one or more members 
 

appointing a receiver or a receiver and manager s 233(1)(h)- Jenkins v Enterprise Gold Mines 
NL(1992) 10 ACLC 136 
 

restraining a person from engaging in specified conduct or from doing a specified act s 
233(1)(i) – appropriate were an act or conduct is oppressive unfair etc 
 

requiring a person to do a specified act s 233(1)(j) 
 
 
Remedy 1: Share buy-out- most common remedy. Order to make majority shareholders buy 
their shares s 233(1)(d). Court has wide discretion in determining valuation for purposes of a 
purchase of shares. Look page 655 for examples 
 
Remedy 2: Replacement of directors- court has power to replace directors. Re Spargos 
Mining NL (1990) pg 656 
 
Remedy 3: Appointment of Receiver- appropriate in certain circumstances for court to 
appoint a receiver to safeguard company’s assets and investigate alleged breaches of directors 
duties and where necessary, institute proceedings against the directors – Jenkins v Enterprise 
Gold Mines NL 
 
Remedy 4: Authorisation of legal action- court may permit an oppressed or unfairly treated 
shareholder to bring legal action against directors in name of the company – Re Overton 
Holdings pty ltd (1985) – granted order authorizing member to institute legal proceedings on 
behalf of company against managing director and associated companies for breach of duties. 
Court in effect allowed a derivative action to be brought.  
 
This remedy can happen even if there is also a right for company to bring action against the 
directors. – not mutually exclusive. The individual may apply for remedy under s 233 and may 
also apply for leave to being proceedings on behalf of company under s 236. 
 
Proceedings on behalf of the company- part 2F.1A of CA provides for a stat derivative 
action which enables shareholders and other eligible applicants to bring legal 
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proceedings on behalf of a company where the company is unwilling or unable to do so 
itself 
 
Aim is to strengthen shareholders rights  
 
This is different to shareholders common law right to bring derivative actions under the 
exceptions to the proper plaintiff rule in Foss v Harbottle have been abolished s 263(3) 
 
Requires leave of the court to be obtained BEFORE this legal action can proceed. Leave 
is granted where a court is satisfied that the action is appropriate s 236(1)(b) 
 
 
Standing Test: under s 236(1) the following persons can bring proceedings on behaf of 
a company: 
 

a member, former member or person entitled to be registered as a member of the company 
or of a related body corporate or, 
 

present or former directors and officers of the company 
 
The court must grant an application for leave if it is satisfied that each of the following 
requirements are met in s 237(2): 
 

1it is probably that the company will not itself bring the proceedings s 237(2)(a) 
“Where there is not a clear-cut and authoritative refusal by the company to take specific 
proceedings after a properly particularised request to do so by or on behalf of the applicant, the 
applicant bears the onus of establishing that in all of the relevant circumstances actual refusal 
or the probability of refusal is to be inferred”: Swansson v R A Pratt Properties Pty Ltd, [29]. 
 
 

2The applicant is acting in good faith s 237(2)(b) – requires court to be satisfied that : 
 

(a) applicant honestly believed that a good cause of action exited and had a reasonable 
prospect of success and  

(b) the applicant was not seeking to bring the derivative action for some collateral purpose 
that would amount to an abuse of process- Swansson v RA Pratt Properties pt lts 
(2002).  
 
Requires the applicant to show that they would suffer a real and substantive injury if a 
derivative action was not permitted, provided that the injury was dependent upon or 
connection with the applicants status as a shareholder or director- Chahwan v Euphoric 
pty ltd (2008)  

 

it is in the best interests of the company that the applicant be granted leave s 237(2)(c) 
- consideration of the companys separate and independent welfare rather than the applicants 
interests- Jeans v Deangrove pty ltd (2001).. ie will this bring practical benefit to the company 
if action is successful. Pg 659 
 
Consider: 
 Character of company 
 Business of company 
 Other means of obtaining redress 
 
Here the Court will consider the company’s business, including whether it is a going concern, 
the ability of the proposed defendant to meet any judgment and the proposed effect the 
litigation will have on the company.  If an alternative remedy exists, for example, via a 
receiver ad litem, such that the asserted company ‘interests’ can be pursued by alternate 
means then the court will be unlikely to grant leave to the applicant: Talisman Technologies 
Inc v Queensland Electronic Switching Pty Ltd [2001] 

 
 

that there is a serious question to be tried s 237(2)(d) – requires applicant to show 
arguable case 
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a screening  process designed to exclude cases with insufficient prospects of success to 
warrant the proceedings being pursued’: Chahwan v Euphoric Pty Ltd (2008)  
 

the applicant gave notice to the company at least 14 days before making the 
application of the intention to apply for leave s 237(2)(e) - question of fact to be established 
on evidence 

 
 
Note: Must satisfy all parts: Goozee v Graphic World Group Holdings Pty Ltd  (2002) 170 FLR 
451 
Note: If any of the prescribed conditions are unsatisfied, the court must refuse the 
application: Vinciguerra v MG Corrosion Consultants Pty Ltd [2010] FCA 763.  
 
“It is clearly the intent of Pt 2F.1A that leave to bring a derivative action must not be given 
lightly … the applicant bears the onus of establishing the requirements of the subsection to 
the court’s satisfaction”: Swansson v R A Pratt Properties Pty Ltd (2002) 42 ACSR 313, [24]. 
 
  
NOTE: when a company decided not to bring legal proceedings s 237(3) creates a 
rebuttable presumption that granting leave is not in best interests of the company in the 
following circumstances: 
 

all directors who participated in the decision not to bring, defend or settle proceedings made 

decision in good faith and for proper purpose 

the director did not have a personal material interest in the decision 

the directors informed themselves about the subject matter of the decision to the extent 

they reasonably believed it be appropriate and 

the directors reasonably believed the decision was in the best interests of the company. 

Such a belief is a rational one unless belief is that no reasonable person would hold such a 

belief 

 
S 241(1)(d) also assists court in deciding whether to grant leave- this provision gives 
court power to appoint an independent person to investigate and report on financial affairs 
of company, surrounding circumstances of the cause of action and costs incurred in the 
proceedings by the parties to the proceedings and the person granted leave. 
 
 
Note: Any remedy (e.g. compensation) is paid directly to the company, though may indirectly 
benefit the applicant 
 
Note: ASIC can bring derivative actions in name of any person after investigations revealing 
breaches or misconduct: s 50 ASIC Act.  
 
 
Remedy 5: Statutory Injunction- s 1324: Court can grant an injunction on application of ASIC 
or ‘a person whose interests have been, are, or would be affected’ where: 
 

A person is engaging or proposing to engage in conduct that is: 
 A contravention of the Act- includes act that Is regarded as criminal oddence under the 

act, and non criminal offences. Does NOT apply to conduct that merely contravenes a 
provision in a companys consitutution or the replaceable rules. S 135(3)- this is not 
regarded as a contravention of the CA. 
 

 Attempting to contravene the Act  
 Aiding, inducing, being knowingly concerned in or party to a contravention of the 

Act, 
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 Conspiring to contravene the Act - McCracken v Phoenix Constructions (Qld) Pty Ltd 
(2012)  

 
 
Standing for Injunctions- ASIC along with anyone whos interests have been affected by 
the conduct can apply to court for a s 1324 injunction (s 1342(1)) 
 
Interests deemed to be affected: s 1324(1A) 
Assumptions of contravention: s 1324(1B) – look pg 663 txtbook 
 
 
Broken Hill Proprietary co ltd v Bell Resrouces Ltd (1984)- Victorian supreme court held that a 
broad interpretation should be given when determining who could apply for an injunction 
under predecessor of s 1324.  Need not show personal rights of a proprietay or similar nature 
were affected. Didn’t need to prove they suffered any special injury arising from contravention. 
But must show their interests go beyond the mere interests of members of the public 
 
 
Remedy #6 Winding Up-  
The court will not make a winding up order under s 461 (1)(e)(f)(g)(k) if it is of the opinion that 
the applicants have some other available remedy or that they are acting unreasonably in 
seeking the winding up order instead of pursuing that other remedy s 467(4) 
 
this is an extreme remedy requiring a strong case: ASIC v ABC Fund Managers (No 2)  
(2001)  here, winding up was used when the misconduct and mismanagement was to such a 
degree that it was in the public interest to ensure investor protection and enforce compliance 
with the legislation, even though company was not insolvent 
 
Directors own interests- s 461(1)(e) court may wind up company if directors have acted 
in their own interests rather than in interest of members as a whole or in any other manner 
that is unfair or unjury to other members 
will normally give rise to remedy also under s 232  
 
Re William Brooks and co ltd (1962) – managing director used position as director to acquire 
options to purchase shares that had been issued to company employees. Allowed him to control 
the majority of votes at AGMs. For many years paid huge bonuses to employees to conceal 
profitable of business, depressed market price of shares – held he committed serious and 
persistent breaches of fid duties. Acted in own interest and in manner unfair an unjust, company 
ordered to be wound up.  
 
 Oppressive and unfair conduct- s 461(1)(f)(g) – where grounds for a remedy under s 232 
are established, a member may also apply to have the company wound up  
 
Court has power to wind up company where there has been oppressive, unfairly prejudicial or 
unfairly discriminatory conduct against a member or members or in a manner that is contrary 
to the interests of the members as a whole 
 
Just and Equitable to do so- s 461(1)(k)- interpreted broadly so as to give court wide 
discretion as to when to order winding up. Overlaps with s 461(1)(e)(f)(g) and overlaps with s 
232. Any member has a right to apply for winding up on these grounds even if the 
company is solvent and able to pay its debts 
 
The courts have wound up companies on just and equitable grounds in number of 
curcumstances: 
 breakdown of mutual trust and confidence- if this has broken down amongst 

shareholders, or if there are irreconcilable differences. Good for small companies.  
Ebrahimi v Westbourne Galleries Ltd [1973] – one partner attempted to freeze-out other 
from manangement of business.. one passed ordinary resolution at general meeting to 
remove one of the others from position as director. House of Lords upgeld an order winding 
up the company on the just and equitable ground. Held that even though the applicable 
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companies act may allow for a particular course of action, such a removal of a director, 
where a company was in substance a “quasi-partnerhip” the majority sharehoders 
had to act in a way that was consistent with the understanding that shareholders 
had at the time the parternship was formed. This involved mutual confidence. 
Appropriate in this case to wind up because understanding has been repudiated. The 
minority shareholder was excluded from management. 
 

 Failure of the substratum – a company can be wound up on just and equitable ground 
where it ceases to carry on the business for which it was formed. Re Tivoli Freeholds Ltd 
[1972] – formed for purpose of carrying bueinss of theatre proprieter. Company came under 
different control. Fire destroyed buildings and then funds used to acquire shares in other 
public companies. Minority shareholder petitioned that business be wound up. Held it was 
just and equitable for it to be wound up- company was acting entirely outside what could 
fairly be regarded as having been within the general intention and common understanding 
of the members when they became members.  Needed to determine main/paramount 
object(ive) of company 
 

 Management Deadlock- where the shareholders are deadlocked to extent that company 
is unable to function properly.  Re Yenidje Tobacco [1916]- two people ach carried on 
separate businesses and decided to amalgamate and formed company with each person 
as director and equal sharheolders. Company made profits but partners became hostile 
and unable to communicate. Constitution did not provide for a casting vote to resolve 
deadlocked votes at shareholder meetings. Coirt ordered company be wound up on just ad 
equitable ground.  

 
 Serious fraud, misconduct- Loch v John Blackwood [1924] AC 783- he managing 

director, who also had general meeting voting control, along with his fellow directors failed 
to hold general meetings, draw up accounts and audit them, or recommend dividends to 
the general meeting. The shareholders who were not on the board successfully petitioned 
for a winding up order. 

 
 Categories not exhaustive- Re United Medical Protection (2002) 

 

Standing for Winding up-  S 462 (standing) specifies the company, a creditor, ASIC, the 
liquidator, a contributory, and APRA 
 
A ‘contributory’ means (s 9) persons liable to contribute as past (in the last 12 months) or 
present members, and holders of fully paid shares 
 
Where application is made by a contributory, court cannot make winding up order if some other 
remedy is available and the applicant is acting unreasonably in not pursuing it 
 
 
 
Remedy #7 Statutory right to inspect books- enforces members rights to remedies as 
gives them means to enforce!  
 
s 173- Members have rights to receive information such as annual reports, inspect register of 
members (and minutes of general meetings) 
 
s 247A  - members can apply to court inspect the company’s books, including registers and 
financial records, by themselves or someone on their behalf 
 
court may only make such an order if satisfied that the member is: 
* acting in good faith and 
* the inspection is to be made for proper purpose s 247A(1) 
(details of both pg 671-672) 
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This power is described as discretionary and provision of last resort- Czerwinski v Syrema 
Royal (2000) 
 
Rationale is to enable a shareholder who has identified an appropriate case for investigation to 
determine whether that case has any substance or prospects- Merim pty ltd v style limited 
(2009) 
 
“Books” – extends to docs that would inform applicants decision as to whether to bring legal 
proceedings in Merim pty ltd v style limited (2009) the court ordered the applicant be granted 
access to directors and officers insurance policies. Courts may however restrict the books as 
to which shareholder is given access- Majestic Resources NL v Caveat pty ltd (2004) 
 
A person who inspects the books pm behalf of member may oly disclose information obtained 
during the inspection to the member or ASIC s 247C 
 
 
Remedy #8-  right to call meetings- Shareholders with at least 5% of voting shares can call- 
s 249F 
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RECEIVERSHIP AND VOLUNTARY ADMINISTRATION 
 

 
Receivership- form of external administration that involve appointment of an independent, 
experiences insolvency practitioner called a “receiver”.  
 
The role of a receiver appointed by a secured creditor is to take possession of secured property, 
sell it and out of proceeds, repay secured debt owed by the company 
 
In corporate insolvency that person is an insolvency practitioner known as a registered 
liquidator 
 
 
Receivership is an effective means whereby a secured creditor can enforce rights in 
relation to the debt without recourse to the courts 
 
Receiver will administer the property subject to the security interest and if empowered will 
manage the company. This continues until the purpose of the receivership is fulfilled - like when 
the assets subject to the security interest have been realised and the lender who holds the 
security interest has been paid out 
 
Robs the company of control of its own assets and business so it’s a drastic remedy 
 
Company enters receivership when receiver is appointed in respect of some or all property. S 
416- 434 relate to receivership 
 

 
 receiver is entitled to deal with the assets in a way to see debt repaid  

 
 often leads to winding up as remaining assets are insufficient to meet debt  

 
 appointment of an administrator will usually be a sign of default that allowed creditor to 

appoint a receiver  
 

 administrators powers are subject to that of the receiver (see below) 
 

 s1323(1) court may appoint a receiver to protect particular property/ funds  

 
 
 
CA doesn’t comprehensively define “receiver”  
CA distinguishes “receiver” and “receiver and manager” – Re Manchester and Milford 
Railway co (1880) – “a receiver is a term////a person who receives rents or other income, paying 
ascertained outgoings, but who does not, manage the property in the sense of buying ot selling 
anything of that kind.. a receiver and manager…he could buy and sell and carry on the 
trade…so that there was a well drawn distinction betweem the two. The receiver merely took 
the income and paid necessary outgoings and the manager carried on the trade or business”  
 
“Receiver” and “receiver and manager”- incorporated in s 9 definition of “officer” 
S 90- receiver of a body corporate is deemed to also be manager of the corporation if they have 
power under terms of appointment to manage affairs of the body corporate 
e.g. ss180-184 
 
 
Controllers and managing controllers- under s 9 a “controller” in relation to property of 
a corp is: 
 a receiver, or receiver and manager, of that property; or 
anyone else who is in possession or has control of that property for the purpose of 
enforcing a security interest 
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Secured creditors have an alternative to receivership- they also have right to take possession 
of secured property personally- if this happens, they are referred to as “mortgagees in 
possession” – and come within the s9 definition of “controller”  
 
Secured creditors may also appoint an agent “agent for mortgagee in possession” to act on 
their behalf. And are regarded as “controllers”.  
 
 
 
 
 
Who can be a Receiver?  
s 418(1)(d)- A receiver must be a registered liquidator- ensures a receiver has minimum 
educational qualifications and experience. 
 
s 418(3) Natural persons may be receivers, but certain authorized corporations such as trustee 
companies, may act as receivers even though theyre not registered liquidators  
 
s 418(1)Independence- disqualified if a mortgagee of any company property, or the auditor, a 
director or an employee of company or of a related company or company that is mortgagee  
 
S 418(1) disqualifies certain persons from being appointed or acting as receiver. 
Diaqualified persons are: 

 A mortgagee of any property of the corporation or 

 An auditor or director, secretary, senior manager or employee of any body corporate 
that is a mortgagee of any property of corp 

 Auditor or director, secretary, senir manager or employee of corporaion 

 A firector, secretary, senior manager, or employee of a body corporate related to the 
corp 

 A person who has, or at any time within the immediately preceeding 12 months, been 
a director, secretary, senior manager, or employee or promoter of the corp or of a 
related body corporate. ASIC may waive this exclusion 

 
 
 
Appointment of joint and several receivers must be specifically authorized by the debenture 
deed- Velcrete pty ltd v Melson (1995) 
 
 
Private appointment of a receiver- Where a secured creditor holds a security interest over 
the assets of a company pursuant to a debenture deed/loan agreement and then appoints a 
receiver under the debenture deed/loan agreement on a nominated default occurring -usually 
a situation of the security interest taken in consideration for a loan and then the loan not 
‘honoured’ with interest and principal- what is legislative section for this? 
 
 
 
Appointment of Receiver By Court 
(1) court appoints following ASIC application under s 1323 

Court may appoint under s 1323 where ‘person aggrieved’-not defined 
 
1323(1)(h) allows ASIC to apply to court for appointment of receiver: 
 

where an investigation is being carried out under the ASIC act in relation to an act or omission 

by a person that constitutes an offence under the CA 

where a prosecution has been instituted against a person for the contravention of the CA or 
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where a civil proceeding has been instituted against a person under the CA 

 

Court can appoint receiver if it considers necessary/desirable to do so for purpose of 

protecting intersts of persons to whom the company may be liable: The person seeking 

the remedy must show that the intersts of the persons to whom the company id or may become 

iable require protection and a lesser remedy would be inadequate – Beach Petroleum NL v 

Johnson (1993) 

 

S 13223(1)(h) powers of a receiver are limited to preventing a company from dealing with its 

property and do not extend to sales of assets and investigations whether offences committed 

– ASC v Aust-Home Investments Ltd (1993) 

 

(2) Court appoints where it is just and convenient- a receiver or receiver and manager 

may be appointed by a state or territory Supreme Court - Supreme Court Act 1935(SA) 

s29(1) 

 

The courts can appoint here for several reasons but can appoint if the secured property is 

in jeopardy – even if company has not defaulted for example if the companys unsecured 

creditors threaten liquidation proceedings. 

 

Generally courts appoint receivers and managers, because the court does not was 

to interefere in the company’s business and internal management.  

 

Bond Brewing v NAB (1991) VR 386- court did not have power to permit an unsecured 

creditor of a company in financial difficulty to apply for the appointment of a court-appointed 

receiver to manage affairs of company. Ratio Kaye J: ‘It is therefore clear from the 

authorities to which I have referred that the practice followed for nearly 150 years of 

requiring a plaintiff seeking an interim or interlocutory injunction to give an undertaking 

as to damages has been based on the view that otherwise the defendant would be 

without remedy in the event of the order having been improperly made.’ 

 

not like the witch in Hansel and Gretel there to cage and ‘fatten up’ the company to make 

‘better eating’ for creditors! 

 

Defective appointment –  secured creditors must comply with terms of debenture or other 
agreement when appointing a receiver. If there is defect in appointment, the receiver who takes 
possession of the secured property may be liable in damaged to company as a trespasser. Pg 
814 textbook 
 
Appointment is defective under s 588FL when secured party loses right to enforce 
security interest at time of liquidation, voluntary administration, or executes a dead of 
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company arrangement, if the security interest was perfected/registered or became 
enforceable against a third party after latest of: 
 

6 months Before critical time 

20 days after security agreement came into force or 

a later time ordered by court under 588GM 

 

S 418A allows a receiver, a mortgagee who has entered into possession, the corporation, or 
any of its creditors to apply to court for an order declaring whether the appointment or entry 
into possession was valid 
 
S 419(3) protects receivers and other controllers from being sued because of defect in 
appointment. Gives court power to grant relief if satisfied that when the person assumed control 
of the corporations property, there was a reasonable belief that the appointment was proper. 
Court may even transfer liability for improper appointment to person who made improper 
appointment 
 
 
 

Agency and Receivership: 

 Who appoints? Secured creditor is much like a Principal 

 Receiver acts on behalf of the company when managing and this is the role of an Agent 

so company is responsible for receivers’ actions 

 Instrument of appointment will recognise the undesirability of having the secured creditor 

picking up liability 

 Company cannot dismiss the receiver 

 Receiver not a fiduciary but has statutory duties 

 

Powers of a Receiver: 

Privately appointed- get powers from the debentures or security agreements under which 

they are appointed 

 

court-appointed – powers granted to them by the court that appointed thm 

 

S 420 gives them additional powers as well as court derived powers and document derived 

powers: S 420(2) a receiver has powers to: 

• Power to enter possession and take control of property  

• Lease, let or hire or dispose of property of corp 

• Borrow money on security of property of the corp 

• Convert property of corp into money 

• To carry on business  

• Take or defend proceedings  

• Make application for winding up of the corp in name of corp 

• Execute a doc, or do anything on behalf of corp 

• Anything necessary or convenient to attainment of objectives – s420(1) 



138 

 

• Court appointed receivers- s420 subject to anything in court order re powers 

• S 420(1) confers upon a receiver the general power to do all things necessary or 

convenient to be done or in connection with, or as incidental to, the attantinment of 

the objectives for which the receiver was appointed 

 

 
Power To obtain information- s 429 & s 430 – enable controllers to obtain information from the 
company’s officers and others.  
 
S 429- Report as to the affairs (RATA) is submitted by the directors to the receiver and this lists 
assets and gives financial information  
 
Reports can be sought from officers, promoters, employees s 430, can require cooperation s 590 
 
Within one month of receiving report, controller must lodge copy with ASIC, together with 
comments. Report and comments also sent to trustee for debenture-holders.  
 
Receivers can use s 596A to conduct an examination of directors and other persons  
 
 
S 431- allows controllers to inspect at any reasonable time, any books of the corporation that relate 
to the secured property. Any person who refuses or failsthe receiver to inspect the books is guilty 
of an offence 
 
 
Powers to sell assets secured by prior security interest- issue arises when a receiver manager 
is appointed by a creditor who has been granted a circulating security interest, but another secured 
creditor already holds a prior security interest over the asset of the company 
 
In this situation the receiver is prevented from disposing of the asset, but this is clearly detrimental 
to achieving a benefitial outcome for the company. 
 
S 420B deals with this problematic situation.  
 
Managing controller can apply to court for order authorizing the sale of specified property 
even though its subject to a prior security interest that has priority over the conrtollers security 
interest in that property s 420B(1). Court will make order if satisfied sale is in best interests of 
company and its creditors and will not unfairly predjudice the rights/interests of the secured party 
with the prior security interest. . 
 
To obtain court order, controller must have power to sell the property, and must also have 
unsuccessfully attempted to obtain consent of the secured party with the prior security interst s 
420B (2) and (3) 
 
Pg 819 txtbook 
 
 
 
 
 
LIABILITIES OF RECEIVERS 
 
Duties: 

 Receivers are ‘officers’ within s 9 - Replace directors’ functions 
 Receiver managers, because of management function also are subject to s 596 and 598 

provisons- enable the court on application from ASIC or a liquidator to examine conduct of 
a receiver. If guilty of fraud, negligence, breach of trust, or breach of duty in regards to the 
company, the court may direct receiver to compensate company for loss or damage 
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 S 423- when receivers fail to faithfully perform functions or observe requirements of 

instrument under whch they were appointed. S 423(1) – if appears to court or ASIC that 
controller hasn’t performed their functions and observed the law, court or ASIC may enquire 
into matter, and court may take action as sees fit . court may make receiver make good 
any loss sustained y company etc or any order they see fit s 423(2). The controller may be 
asked questions, or can have books examined s 423(3) 
 
If person complains to court about conduct of receiver/controller and seeks enuiry, person 
must show prima facie tat there is something that warrants investigation, court has 
discretion regarding enquiry- court will take into consideration the strength and nature of 
allegations, answers from the controller, other available remedes, monies 
involved,availability of funds for the enquiry- and in absence of clear misconduct the courts 
are reluctant to order an enquiry under s 423 – Oswal v Carson (No 3) (2013) 
 

 S 1321- any person aggrieved by an act, omission or decision of a receiver/receiver and 

mangaer has right to appeal to the court  

 
 

 
 

 A receiver’s primary duty is to appoint or (secured creditor) to recover secured debt from 
property 
Equity, and now statute, has put some limits around that, because of others affected 
 

 In addition Part 5.2 provides reporting duties: 
 to ASIC (e.g. ss427 (notify appointment, 422 (misconduct), 432 (6 monthly accounts) 
 to unsecured creditors (e.g. s421A on company affair’s to ASIC then its advertised) 
 

Statutory Liabilities/ Duties: 
 
1 Reasonable care in selling secured property s 420A: receivers take possession of property, sell 
it, repay debt due to secured creditor who appointed the receiver. Any surplus goes back to the company  
 
remedy is not stated in legislation 
 
S 420A imposes specific duty on controllers in exercising power of sale to take all reasonable care to 
sell property at: 
 not less than market value or  
 for the best price that is reasonably obtainable, having regard to the existing circumstances when 
property is sold 
 
 
“market value” – is not necessarily the best price that could be achieved, but it is the price that a willing 
purchaser would pay a vendor who is willing but not anxious to sell. 
 
Vendor is assumed to be knwoedgable abot all circumstances that affect the market value of the 
property. 
 
Just because market value has NOT been obtained or best price has not been obtained. It requires 
failure by the receiver to take all reasonable care to sell the property for not less than market 
value or the best price that is reasonably obtainable hving regard to the circumstances existing 
when the property was sold – Florgale Uniforms pty ltd v Orders (2004)  
 
Florgale: In Florgale, the Court stated that the case before it exposed a related uncertainty which arises 
from the terms of s420A, that is, the fact that the requirement in s420A(1)(a) to obtain not less than 
market value was not qualified by an express reference to the costs and risks involved in doing so.  
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The Court held that the qualifying words "circumstances existing …" in s420A(1)(b) allows 
consideration of associated costs and risks; which consideration is not permitted by 
s420A(1)(a).  
 
The Court conceded that, on a literal reading, s420A(1)(a) could impose a duty to obtain market value 
irrespective of associated risks and costs, however, it decided that the obligation to sell for market 
value is prefaced by the general requirement to take all reasonable care, and permits matters 
such as associated costs and risks to be taken into account.  
 
In this way, the market value of Florgale's clothing was not limited to the value of the clothing in isolation 
but, as part of this analysis, the Court may consider the associated costs of the different methods of 
sale in determining the market value. 
 
On the facts of this case, while a private sale of the clothing may have produced a better sale, the 
associated costs of this method were far greater thereby making any gain from the sale redundant. 
Therefore a breach of s420A is not established merely because market value or the best price 
reasonably obtainable is not achieved, but rather requires proof of a failure by the receiver to take all 
reasonable care to sell the property for not less than market value or the best price that is reasonably 
obtainable having regard to the circumstances existing when the property is sold.  
 
In addition to these considerations, the Court noted that the Florgale clothing was very 
specialised, and had a narrow or niche market. Due to this, there was no evidence of comparable 
sales which would permit market value to be readily determined for the clothing. Therefore, the 
plaintiffs failed to establish that the receiver failed to use all reasonable care to obtain market value or 
the best price reasonably obtainable in the circumstances. 
 
 
Taking all reasonable care- courts will looks at sale process adopted- Deangrove pty ltd v Buckly 
(2006) - A property developer gave security to a lender by granting a registered first mortgage over 
unsold units and an equitable charge over the assets and undertaking of the developer. The developer 
then by deed granted to a listed company a conditional right to purchase the majority of the units for 
valuable consideration. Later, a receiver and manager was appointed by the lender over the assets of the 

developer. He received two offers for the units; one from the builder of the development who had already contracted 
to purchase other units and the other from the company for a lower price based on funding from a bank on terms 
the company could not have met. The receiver and manager refused to recognise the deed, rejected the company's 
offer and eventually accepted the builder's offer after putting the two offers in competition against each other. 
Unfortunately, the builder never settled on the transaction 
 
The developer sued the receiver and manager for financial loss suffered as a result of the rejection of the company's 
offer, which was allegedly a breach of the receiver and manager's general law and statutory duties under s180 and 
s420A of the Corporations Act 2001(Cth). 

 

Decision - The receiver and manager won. 
The receiver and manager did not breach general law or s180 and s420A of the Corporations 
Act because he took all reasonable care throughout the selling process to obtain the market value or 
the best price reasonably obtainable for the units. His refusal to accept the company's offer and 
acceptance of the builder's offer was reasonable because of the possibility that the company would be 
unable to pay for the units and the commitment shown by the builder from entering the purchase 
contract. 
 
It was unfortunate that the builder reneged on the offer, but the receiver and manager's decision 
was justified taking into account the circumstances at the time. The decision was therefore a 
valid business judgment under s180(3) of the Corporations Act, which satisfied the 
requirements of s180(2) of acting in good faith for a proper purpose and under a rational belief 
that the judgment was in the best interests of the developer. 
 
Also, the receiver and manager was justified in putting the two offers in competition with each other 
because the company had an incentive to counter-offer since it had paid consideration for its right to 
purchase, which would be extinguished if the units were sold to the builder. His refusal of the company's 
offer was not a complete close of further negotiation because it was supposed to encourage the 
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company to increase its offer to match the builder's offer. Therefore, he had acted in accordance with 
the principles set out in Forsyth v Blundell (1973) 129 CLR 477 
 
Finally, the developer suffered no financial loss as a result of the rejection of the company's offer. The 
company could not have completed the offer even if it was accepted by the receiver and manager taking 
into account the fact that the funding for the company's offer was unobtainable on the terms provided by the 

bank. 
 

Section 420A(2) Nothing in subsection (1) limits the generality of anything in section 180, 181, 
182, 183 or 184. 
 
 
 
2. priority debts- s 433 governs priority of payment of debts where a receiver is appointed on behalf of debenture-

holders over property secured by a circulating security interest and company Is not in liqudation  
 
Under s 433(3) receivers must pay, out of the property coming into their hands, the following debts or 
amounts in priority to any claim for principal or interest due to the circulating security interest creditor: 
 
1. any amount that in a winding up is payable in priority to unsecured debts pursuant to s 562- these are 

amounts received by the company under an insurance contract - gives priority to injured employees covered by 
workers compensation insurance 
 
2. if auditor of company has applied to ASIC under s 329(6) for consent to resign as auditor and consent 
refused, the reasonable fees and expenses of the auditor incurred from date of refusal to date of receivers 

appointment 
 
3. any debt or amount in a winding up that is payable in priority to other unsecured debts pursuant to s 
556(1)(e)(g)(h) or s 560- gives prority to amounts due to employees  in respect of wages, unpaid amounts with 

leave of absence and retrenchment paymnts.  
 
 
 
Overall: 
The receiver will want to pay the secured creditor after selling the company’s asset(s) but both common 
law and the Corporations Act dictate an order: 
 

1. Rents, taxes, rates on the secured property 

2. The costs of realising the secured asset(s) 

3. The receiver’s fees and expenses including remuneration 

4. If s433 applies then e.g. employees’ wages and entitlements receive priority before the 

circulating security interest holder 

5. Secured creditor 

 
 
3. receivers costs expenses and fees- since receiver maager is appointed as agent of company, the company 
Is responsible for payment of receivers remuneration, not the secured creditor. The debentures and agreements 
normally stipulate calculation of remuneration. Court also has power to fix rumeration s 425 (1) 
 
Receiver is personally liable for goods, services, property used or occupied during receivership-s 419, 

BUT Receivers’ costs and expenses will usually be met out of the secured property, and may receive indemnity 
from appointor 
 
 
 
4. A receiver is usually stated to be agent of the company (NOT the secured creditor) in the security BUT: 
If company goes into liquidation,  receiver may only carry on trading with permission of liquidator-
otherwise, agency terminates so liable (s 420C) 

 
 
 
5. Liquidation and receivership can run concurrently (CA s 420C) or successively 
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6. Reporting Breaches to ASIC- s 422 imposes duty on receivers and controllers to reprt misconduct to ASIC 

 
Receiver must make report where it appears that: 
 

a companys present or former officers or members have been guilty of an offence in relation to it or 
 

a person who took part in the formation, promotion, administration or winding up or the company may 
have sisappropriated any of its money or property or may have been guilty of negligence, default, breach 
of duty or breach of trust in relation to that  
 

Receiver could use examination power in s 596A, s 596B - Receivers can use s 596A to conduct an 
examination of directors and other persons. 
S 596B-   (1)  The Court may summon a person for examination about a corporation's examinable affairs if (a)  an 

eligible applicant applies for the summons; and  (b)  the Court is satisfied that the person: (i)  has taken part or 
been concerned in examinable affairs of the corporation and has been, or may have been, guilty of misconduct in 
relation to the corporation; or (ii)  may be able to give information about examinable affairs of the corporation.  
(2)  This section has effect subject to section 596A. 
 

 
 
When controller makes report s 534 gives ASIC power to investigate.  
 

S 426 gives receivers/controllers qualified priviledge in defamation proceedings 
 
 

 
 
EFFECT OF LIQUIDATION ON POWERS OF RECEIVER: at common law if company placed into liquidation after 
receiver appointed, the receivers position as agent for company ceases and the receiver becomes personally 
liable for debts incurred in carrying on company’s business- Gosling v Gaskell (1987) 

 
Generally though liquidation doesn’t affect the receiver. Receiver carries out companys business as agent for the 
secured party- Mercantile Credits Ltd v Atkins (No 1) (1985)  
 
 
S 420 modifies the common law- a receiver of property of a corp that is being wound up may carry on and do 

whatever is necessary to carry on the corps business.  
- Approval of the court or the liquidator must be obtained s 420C(1) 

- Where the receiver carries on business of corporation the receiver does so as agent of company s 420C(3) 

– therefore receiver has right to indemnity 

 

There are certain powers post winding up- s 420(2)(k) 

 

Remainder – page 821 textbook 

 

 

 

TERMINATION OF RECEIVERSHIP- normally receivership or controllership terminates when receiver or controller 

acheves objective of appointment- when the secured debt is discharged and debts of receivership or controller are 

paid.  

 

Sometimes continuation of receivership impedes an orderly winding up by liquidator and adds to costs 

S 434B enables liquidator of a company wound up in insolvency to apply for court order that controller ceases to 

act as a receiver or retain control of property of corporation s 434B(1) and (4) 

 

Controller may be removed by debenture-holder or secured party but not the company EVEN THOUGH theyre 

the agent of the company!  

 

Right of the controller to resign is stated in debenture, but in its absence a controller a controller mayb liable for 

breach of contract is prematurely resigns 

 

ministrator has the power to terminate employment of employees. 

http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/cth/consol_act/ca2001172/s58aa.html#the_court
http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/cth/consol_act/ca2001172/s58aa.html#the_court
http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/cth/consol_act/ca2001172/s596a.html
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 the company does not commence business within a year from incorporation or 
suspends business for whole year s 461(1)(c) - enables members to recover investment if 
business hasn’t started 

company has no members 

 directors have acted in affairs of company in their own interests rather than in interests of 
members as a whole, or in any other manner whatsoever that appears to be unfair or unjust 
to other members s 461(1)(e) 

affairs of company conducted in manner that is oppressive or unfairly predjudicial 
against a member or members or In manner that is contrary to interests of members as 
a whole s 461(1)(f) 

act or omission or proposed act/omission by or on behalf of company, or resolution, or 
proposed resolution, of a class of members fo a company which was or would be unfair 
predjudicial or oppressive, or unfairly discriminatory against a member or members, or was 
contrary to interestsof mmbers as a whole s 461(1)(g) THIS MEANS THAT CREDITORS AND 
PERSONS WHO ARE NOT MEMBERS CAN APPLY FOR A WINDING UP OF THE 
COMPANY WHEREAS S 234 SPECIFIES THAT ONLY PERSONS LISTED AS AMMBERS 
MAY BRING REMEDY UNDER S 232 

ASIC has stated that it is of opinion that company should be wound up because it cant pay 
its debts or it is in interests of public, shareholders of creditors s 461(1)(h)- section 21.45 of 
textbook 

court is of opinion that it is just and equitable that company be wound up s 461(1)(k) – 
17.370 textbook 

EFFECT OF WINDING UP 

 On unsecured creditors- major aims of liqudation is to provide for unsecured creditors to 
share equally in distribution of companys assets.  

Winding up taken to have begun or commenced on day court order was made s 513A(e) 

Voluntary wnding up- taken to have begun at time resolution is passed s 513B(e). if 
company under voluntary admin that had not terminated before reolution, 
commencement of winding up on day of appointment of administrator s 513B(b) 

Legal proceedings: Unsecured creditors lose usual right to bring individual legal 
proceedings to enforce payment of debts after liquidation commences. The liquidator acts in 
interests of body of unsecured credtors and has power to bring proceedings 

Ss 471B and s 500(2) – after date of commencement of winding up, legal proceedings cant be 
brought against company without leave of court. Leave may be given if series question to be 
tried 

judgments of orders- creditors cant enforce any judgement or orders obtained after 
commencement of winding up s 468(4) and s 500(1) 

 

 On Secured creditors- s 471C- they retain the right to take possession and sell the 
secured property despite fact that companys winding up has commenced 
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 On the company- company continues to exist as legal entity after winding up however its 
prevented from carrying on its business except for purposes of winding up.  

The companys property still belongs to it but powers to deal with it are restricted s 468 

While in liquidation all public docs and negotiable instruments must have words “in 
liquidation” s 541. Public docs include- business letters, statements of account, invoices, 
order for goods/services 

Directors lose their powers to manage companys affairs s 417A- controlled by liquidator 

Shaerholders lose rights to transwr shares and rights can no longer be varied s 468A(1). 
They cant pass special resolutions and cant resolve to change the companys name after 
winding up commences 

 

 On the employees- publication of winding up serves as notice to employees Re General 
Stock co (1872).  

Voluntaryliquidation does not necessarily operatie to dismiss company employees pg 902 
textbook 

 

 On receivers- company may be in liquidation and receivership at the same time. Creditors 
may apply to wind up compamy even though a creitor previous appointed a receiver.  

A secured creditor may appoint a receiver even though company yis being wound up 

Liquidators role is to look after interests of unsecured creditors, whilst receiver 
represents the appointing secured creditor 

Receivers power to take possession of and sell secured prpert is not affected by liquidation. 
And a receiver may bring legal action in name of company in regards to that secured 
property 

Liquidation however terminates the receivers position as agent for the company Visbord v 
Federal Commissioner of taxation (1943). But a receiver may continue to carry on the 
companys business with either liquidators consent or court approval s 420C 

 

TERMINATION OF WINDING UP 

Court- at any time may order winding up to ne stayed indefinitely for limited time or be 
terminated 

The liquidator/a creditor or a contributory – may make application for a stay o termination order  

In making order to stay or terminate winding up, court must be satisfied that company is solvent 
and would be in public interest and not detrimental to commercial morality 

Court primarily looks at future of the company and the risk to future creditors 
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LIQUIDATORS 

Appointment pg 903 txtbook 

compulsary winding up- an official liquidator is appointed by order of court when it makes 
order for winding up s 472. Appointment made from list of registered liquidators 

members voluntary winding up- liquidator appointed by members s 495. Person must be 
registered liquidator and usually appointed at meeting that places company into voluntary 
liquidation. 

creditors voluntary winding up- s 496, company meeting may appoint a new liquidator in 
place of person appointed by member s 496(5). Under s 497 is members and creditors decide 
on winding up,, they nominate person. If nobody is nomited by creditors liquidator is person 
nominated by the members 

 

Who may be appointed as liquidator?  

Liquidator appointed by court must be registered with ASIC as an official liquidator s 
532(8) 

members voluntary winding up- of a proprietary company, the liquidator need not be a 
registered liquidator s 532(4) 

 

Requirements: s 1282(2) 

 Hold degree, diploma or certificate from prescribed university of institution in Australia, 
passed exams in such subjects – accountancy of not less than 3 years duration and in 
commercial law of not less than two years duration or 

 Have other qualifications and experience which are in opinion of ASIC the equivalent of the 
above and 

 Satisfy ASIC they have experience in connection with externally administered bodies 
corporate and 

 Satisfy ASIC that they are capable of performing the duties of a liquidator and are otherwise 
fit and proper person to be registered as liquidator  

 

ASIC must establish and maintain a register of liquidators and official liquidators s 1286  

Registered liquidators must maintain adequate and appropriate professional indemnity and 
fidelity insurance s 1284(1) 

 

 

De-registration of liquidator 

 Liquidator will submit a final report and must apply for deregistration in CVL-s509  
 Deregistration –CVL-final meeting of creditors with account-ASIC deregisters three 

months from return by liquidator that meeting was held 
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 Compulsory liquidation- can apply to court, but ASIC can deregister- s 601AB(2) 
 s601AD- effect of deregistration is that a company ceases to exist 

ASIC keeps any property 

However, companies can be ‘reinstated’, i.e. brought back from the dead-ASIC, if should 
not have been deregistered-601AH; or court order if aggrieved person or liquidator shows 
it just to do so, e.g. assets come to light, regulatory breaches 

 Company deemed to not have been deregistered-601AH(5)- directors are 
directors again- liquidator might be restored if necessary 

Company gets any property back from ASIC-re-vested 

 

POWERS OF THE LIQUIDATOR 

S 471A - When in liquidation the liqiodator replaces the board of directors as an organ of the 

company and assumes all powers of the board 

 

Liquidators are regarded as agents of the company and therefore their actions bind the 

company. Generally not personally liable for contracts made behalf of company. 

 

Stat powers:   CA gives broad powers to liquidators. 

 

S 477- compulsory winding up gives powers: 

to carry on business of company so far as necessary for beneficial disposal or winding up 

subject to priorities set out in s 556- pay creditors in full 

bring or defend legal proceedings in name of company and to appoint solicitor 

make calls 

dign docs on behalf of company 

appoint agent to do business liquidator unable to 

do all things necessary for winding up affairs of company and distributing property 

 

S 506- voluntary winding up, this section authorizes liquidator to exercise any of the 

powers of s 477 (above) to liquidator appointed in insolvency or by court 

 

 

Supervision by court and creditors- s 477(2A) & (2B)- powers of s 477 generally exercised 

without prior approval of court or creditors. Approval only necessaty where liquidator intends to 

compromise debt due t company exceeding $20, 000 or where liquidator intends to enter into 

long term commitment exceeding 3 months 

 

Look pg 912 for consideration by court in deciding whether to approve compromise of debt 

 

 

Application to court for directions- s 479(3) enables liquidators in a compulsory winding up 

to apply to court for directions in relation to any particular matter arising under the winding up.  

 

Limited to matters of general administration and manner in which liquidator should act. Doesn’t 

extend to commercial decisions and deciding substantive decisions/questions against peronss 

making proproetry claims 
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Duty to investigate company’s affairs and report to creditors 

S 533 report to ASIC if suspicion of misappropriation, breach of duty or if unable to pay 50c of 
each dollar owed to creditors  
 
S 596A-598 - Liquidator has power to apply to court for examination of officers and other 
persons with information, and to call for books and documents 
 
Textbook: 
S 483(1) and s 500(3)- liquidtor may apply to court for orders requiring persons to hand over 
books and records to which company is entitiled  - includes companys officers, banlers, 
receiver or agent  
 
S 477(3)- stat right for liquidators to access any books of the company, even those held by 
receiver  
 
S 530A – positive duty on present and former officers of company wound up in insolvency to 
do everything possibly can to help the winding up- including giving up books  
 
S 596-598 can apply to court for examination of officers and other persons with information, 
and to call for books and documents  

 
S 598: power to take proceedings against directors/ officers for fraud, negligence, breach of 
duty or trust  
 
 
 
 
Powers to preserve assets 
Part 5.7B - Liquidator can challenge voidable or un-commercial transactions, unlawful 
preferences or voidable charges 
 
s 568 - Liquidator can ‘disclaim’ onerous or unprofitable contracts or assets, e.g. leases which 
involve ongoing rental commitment but where lease is of little use to company 
 
liquidator can disclaim property of the company- purpose behind this power is to relieve the 
company of an asset that is really a liability  
 
can disclaim: 
land burdened with onerous covenants 
shares 
property that is unsaleable or not really saleable 
property that can give rise to a liability other other onerous obligation such as partly paid 
shares 
unprofitable contracts 
 
Effect of the disclaimer- terminates the companys rights and liabilities in respect of the 
disclaimed property. Rights of of the persons not affected by disclaimer  
 
Court can set aside disclaimers and make further orders as thinks appropriate s 568A(2). 
Court can only set aside if court satisfied the disclaimer would cause predjudice to persons 
having interests in the property that are grosly out ot proportion to the predjudice that setting 
aside disclaimer would cause to companys creditors s 568B(3) 
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DUTIES OF LIQUIDATORS 

 

Duties as agent- liquidator regarded as agent of the company- imposes on liquidator fiduciary 

duties and duties of care 

 

S 9 definition of officer includes liquidator- therefore has duties s 180- s 184. 

 

They have additional duties than directors do- “liquidators principal duties are to take 

possession of and protect the assets, to make lists of contributories, to have disouted cases 

adjudicated upon, to realise the assets and to apply the proceeds in due course of admin 

amongst creditors and contributories” – Re Partidge (1961)  

 

They are also views as officers of the court- have public responsibilities to investigate  

breaches of the CA. 

 

 

Proper administration duties- one of first tasks is to open a bank account- the liquidators 

general account, where money received by liquidator is deposited  

 

Must also maintain property record of the winding up: 

books recording minutes of meetings s 531 

accounts in prescribed form prepared every 6 months and lodged with ASIC s 539 

 

 

Acquaintance with companys affairs- required to keep themselves up to date with affairs of 

the company- sources of info are records, companys officers and employees.  
 

S 475(1) requires persons who were directors and secretary at time of winding up to submit a 

report to liquidator. No later than 14 days after making of winding up order. 

S 475(2) – others may be requested to supply information ie present/former officers, employees 

of company 

 

 

Collect company assets- s 474(1) as soon as practicable after appointment, liquidator 

required to take into personal custody or control all property company is or appears to be 

entitled 

 

The liquidator can take action on companys behlf to recover property, profits or damages from 

directors or other officers who breached their duties prior to commencement of winding up 

 

This includes amounts that contribuors liable to contribute- s 516 holder of partly paid shares 

liable to contribute amount unpaid to company when paid up 

 

 

Sell assets- purpose of winding up is to distribute companys assets to creditors and 

contributors, liquidator under a duty to sell companys assets. Therefore liquidator is given 

power to sell all companys property and to execute documents in its name s 477(2)(c) and (d) 

 

No specific duty to obtain best possible price for assets, the duties are to the company – 

Hausmann v Smith (2006). A companys property doesn’t always have to be sold in winding up 
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Distribution of assets- liquidators under duty to repay companys debts and to distribute any 

surplus assets among contributories.  

 

In accordance with ‘provable debts’ claimed – s 553 

 Liquidator has to call for proofs of debt from creditors 

 Liquidator may accept, reject, or put a value on a claim (either for voting or for distribution 

purposes or both)-appeal to court if aggrieved 

 Provable debts are those owing at time of commencement (resolution or order to wind up)-

contractual rights of creditors are substituted for a ‘dividend’ in the liquidation 

 

 

S 556 lays down the statutory order of priority debts. Expenses of the liquidation and the costs 

of the petition are followed by employee wages and superannuation claims, and contractual 

redundancy entitlements, injury compensation claims  

 

 

s 563C - Creditors may have agreed in advance to subordinate (take a lower priority behind 

unsecured creditors) and this is permitted 

 

 

Priority rules  
S555 except otherwise provided by the act all debts are equally ranks  
In accordance with statutory priorities- s556 – 563 (556 ranked in descending order) 

 
a) Cost of liquidation process (556 (1)(a)) 
b) Expenses around the application to wind (556 (1)(b)) 
c) Debts owed to administrator/ liquidator (556 (1)(de) (is a deferred expense) 
d) Wages and super anuation contribution (556 (1)(e)) (s561 priority over floating 

charges) 
e) Injury compensation liability before relevant date (556(1)(f)) 
f) Other amounts due to employees (e.g. holidays wages) (556 (1)(g)) 
g) Floating charges  
h) All other creditors  
i) Members waiting for dividends (563) 

Directors  
directors and other related parties fall into the category of ‘excluded employees’ (see 
ss556(1)(e), (1A), and (2). This sees a cap on their payment  
Creditors ranking  
secured/ priority creditors/ unsecured creditors s555 

 

 

Priority Payments:  

 Expense incurred in preserving, realising property – s556(1)(a) 

 Applicant’s taxed costs – s556(1)(b) 

 Administrator’s debts – s556(1)(c) 

 Costs and expenses of RATA (report as to affairs)– s556(1)(da) 

 Costs of audit of liquidator’s account – s556(1)(db) 

 Other expenses ie liquidators fees – s556(1)(dd) 

 Deferred expenses – s556(1)(de) the liquidator’s fees 

 Committee of inspection expenses –s556(1)(df) 

 Wages, superannuation contributions  s 556(1)(e) 

Excluded employees are directors and their relatives. An employee who becomes a 

director is only excluded from the general employee priorities from the date of becoming a 

director. s 556(2) 
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 Injury compensation liability before relevant date (556(1)(f)) 

 Other amounts due to employees (e.g. holidays wages) (556 (1)(g))– s556(1)(g) 

 Retrenchment and redundancy s556(1)(h) limit on excluded employee to $1500 

 Floating charges  
 All other creditors  
 Members waiting for dividends (563) 

 Section 560 allows subrogation for GEERS/FEG Act payments 

 No tax priority 

 

**secured creditors are in a better position than unsecured credutors. Secured creditors 

retain their pre-liquidation rights to take possession of secured property sell it and repay 

themselves. Therefore secured creditors are unaffected by the liquidation of a company 

 

Provable debts- creditors- s 478(1)(a) creditors must satisfy liquidtor they are owed money 

and give liquidator proof of debt to have any entitlement to share in division of company assets 

 

If sufficient fundm the creditor is entitled to be paid- repayments here are called dividends. If 

insufficient for all debts, creditors are paid proportions of debts  

 

Not all debts provable- not therefore repaid.  

 

 

Priorities on payments of unsecured debts- pari passu rule- general rule that unsecured 

creditors participate equally in distribution of ompanys assets on winding up 

 

Prior to winding up, each creditor is entitled to enforce any available legal rights. This is first in 

best dressed prior to liquidation.  

 

From commencement fo winding up the scramble for recovery of debts ceases. Replaced by 

pari passu rule – provides for orderly distribution of assets to unsecured cfreditoes on an equal 

proportionate basis 

 

S 555- provides that except for certain priority payments, all debts  proved in a winding 

up rank equally and if property of company is insufficient to pay, they shall be paid 

proportionately.  

 

 

Preferential debts- an exception to pari passu- s 556-564 rank the debts of classes of 

unsecured creditors in order of priority 

 

Creditors with priority are called preferential creditors. Their debts are called preferential debts 

 

At time of insolvenct the preferential creditors are paid first before any amount is paid to the 

other unsecured creditors. If isufficient money to meet claims of all preferential creditors then 

they are paid proportionately.  

 

S 556: 

expenses of recovering, preserving and realising property of the company or carrying on its 

business 

costs of application for the winding up order 

costs/expenses generally of the winding up process 
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remuneration or fees of sercice of the liauidator or administrator 

employee entitlements 

claims of employees- the employees have priority over rights of a secured party seeking to 

enforce a circulating security interest by the company 

 

 
 
VOIDABLE TRANSACTIONS 
 

S 588FA – FJ 
Voidable transactions are made in the period leading up to liquidation but when the company 
was already insolvent or resulted in its insolvency  
 
Liquidator may seek orders concerning these transactions for recovery of money and property 
by the company/ to release company from any debt  
 
Available if:  company is being wound up and it is an insolvent transaction and 

entered into 6 months prior to winding up (for preferences) or 2 years 
(uncommercial transactions)  - insolvent transaction  

 
 
Types:  
 

 Unfair Preferences 
 Uncommercial Transactions 
 Unfair Loans 
 Unreasonable director-related transactions 
 Voidable security interests 
 
UNFAIR PREFERENCES - S 588FA Creditor received more from company that it could prove 
in winding up 
 
S 588FA (1) A transaction is an unfair preference given by the Co to a Cr of the Co if, and 
only if, 
(a) the Co and the Cr are parties to the transaction and  
(b) the transaction results in the Cr receiving from the Co in respect of an unsecured debt that 
the Co owes to the Cr, more than the Cr would receive from the Co in respect of the debt if the 
transaction were set aside and the Cr were to prove for the debt in a winding up of the Co  
 
S 588FA (3) Where 

(a) a transaction is for commercial purposes an integral part of a continuing business 
relationship (e.g. a running account) between a Co and a Cr of the Co (including such 
a relationship to which other persons are parties); and 

(b) in the course of the relationship the level of the Co’s net indebtedness to the Cr is 
increased and reduced from time to time as the result of a series of transactions forming 
part of the relationship;  

then subsection (1) applies in relation to all the transactions forming part of the relationship as 
if they together constituted a single transaction 
 
ie S588 FA (3) series of transactions can be treated as 1 with a net effect (e.g. supplier’s 
total supply weighed against total amount paid over the insolvent period)  
 
 
Examples of unfair preference: 

 Creditor paid in full pre liquidation 

 Unsecured overdraft in existence and then bank given security pre liquidation 

 Director gets company loan paid off which she guaranteed 
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Running sheet defense to unfair preference:  essentially limits amount the liquidator can 
claim black. oversimplifying the position, if successful, the defence limits the liquidator's 
recovery to the difference between the peak indebtedness during the relation-back period, and 
the final indebtedness 
 
Airservices Australia v Ferrier (1996) 14 ACLC 1403 (HC of A)-  “ If the sole purpose of the 
payment is to discharge an existing debt, the effect of the payment is to give the creditor a 
preference over other creditors unless the debtor is able to pay all of his or her debts as they 
fall due. But if the purpose of the payment is to induce the creditor to provide further goods or 
services as well as to discharge an existing indebtedness, the payment will not be a preference 
unless the payment exceeds the value of goods or services acquired. In such a case the 
court…looks to the ultimate effect of the transaction” (Dawson, Gaudron and McHugh JJ, 
majority) 
Ferrier case now enshrined in statute- s 588FA(3) 

 ‘Continuing business relationship’ 
 running account only example 
 Trade creditors, utilities, but less applicable to consumer creditors 

 Must be contractual relationship 
 Not applicable to ATO as creditors 
 Query other regulatory agencies, depends if contractual basis for fees, levies 

etc.  
 
 
 
UNCOMMERCIAL TRANSACTIONS 
 
S 588FB a reasonable person in the company’s position would not have entered the 
transaction having regard to  

 a) benefit of entering the transaction  

 b) detriment of entering the transaction  

 c) respective benefits to the other parties entering the transaction  

 d) any relevant matter 

 
Examples 

 Insolvent company gives less consideration than receives  

 Sells assets below market value when insolvent 

 Buys assets above market value when insolvent 

 Gives assets away 

 Provides services for less than full value 

 
UNFAIR LOANS – s 588FD ensures insolvent company’s unsecured creditors not predjudiced 
by pre-liquidation loan agreement under which company is committed to extortionate interest 
rates 
 
A loan is unfair if the interest on the loan is, or the charges are extortionate. S 588FD(2) lists 
several factors to be considered in determining whether interest or charges are extortionate: 

 Risk assumed by lender 

 Term of loan 

 Schedule for repayments 

 Amount of the loan 

 Any other relevant matter 

 
 
UNREASONABLE DIRECTOR-RELATED TRANSACTIONS- s 588FDA permits liquidators to 
reclaim unreasonable director-related transactions entered into by companies prior to 
company’s liquidation 
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Ie payment of large bonuses to directors prior to winding up 
 
Under s 588FDA(1) a transaction of a company is an unreasonable director-related 
trsnsaction if and only if: 
 

it is made to a director of the company or to a close associate of the director, or to a person 
on behalf of, or for the benefit of a director or close associate of a director of the company AND 
 
it may be expected that a reasonable person in the companys circumstances would not have 
entered into the transaction habing regard to the benefit if any to the company entering into the 
transaction and the detriment to the company of entering into the transaction and the respective 
benefits to other parties to the transaction of entering into it and any other relevant matter 
 
 
Pf 936 textbook 
 
 
ONEROUS OR UNPROFITABLE CONTRACTS  
S 568 e.g. can terminate these … a lease where the company no longer needs the asset  
 
 
Voidable security interests 
S 266 unregistered registrable charges  
 
 
 
HOW VOIDABLE TRANSACTIONS WORK: insovlent transactions and unfair loans entered 
into during 6 months prior to the relation-back day are “vodable transactions” (see above) 
 
In case of court ordered winding up, relation-back day is day winding up application was filed 
with court s9 
 
With voluntary winding up, the reation-back day is day the shareholders passed reolution to 
wind up company 
 
S 513A-513C- the relation back day is an earlier date if the company was in voluntary 
administration or subject to deed or company arrangement 
 
S 588FE specifies different time periods prior to relation-back day depending on type of 
transaction: 
 
1. unfair preference pg 940 
2.uncommercial transaction pg 940 
Claw back period s 588FE(3) If transaction is both an unfair preference and an uncommercial 
transaction there is an extended Claw Back period for 2 years rather than 6 months  
 
Voidable transaction timeframes 
 Insolvent transaction- Within 6 mths of relation back day (s 588FE(2)) 
 Insolvent transaction and uncommercial transaction - Within 2 years of relation back 

day (s 588FE(3)) 

 Insolvent transaction and related party- Within 4 years of relation back day (s 588FE(4)) 
 Insolvent transaction to defeat creditors- Within 10 years of relation back day (s 

588FE(5)) rarely used 
 Unfair loan- No limit (s 588FE(6)) 
 
 
 
 
DEFENCE: S 588FG 
Defence to recipients other than where related parties or unfair loan: 
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 Entry into transaction in good faith and 
 No reasonable grounds for suspecting insolvent or would become insolvent and 
 Reasonable person in these circumstances would not have suspected insolvency at 

the time and 
 Valuable consideration or alteration of position 

 
Suspicion 

 ‘more than mere idle wondering..feeling of misapprehension or mistrust..slight opinion 
but without sufficient evidence’ (Queensland Bacon v Rees (1966) Kitto J) 

 
 Not to be applied with hindsight, but in commercial circumstances at time through eyes 

of parties 

 
 
Sydney appliances Pty Ltd v Eurolinx Pty Ltd  
Payment to unsecured creditor whilst insolvent 
Creditor party to the transaction in good faith  
Common practice that the debtor would pay 4-6 instalments over 60 days  
The creditor agreed that it had been preferred but raised the ``good faith'' and ``running 
account'' defences in sec 588FG(2) and 588FA(3) 
 
held: 
defence not made out by the creditor  

1. The debtor's accounts were being run sufficiently in excess of 60 days that, together 
with the use of post- dated and undated cheques, the creditor either did have, or 
should have had, suspicion of the debtor's insolvency from before the beginning of 
the relation-back period. 

2. Further factors existed which, combined with the age of the debtor's account and use 
of post-dated and undated cheques, would have resulted in a reasonable person 
suspecting that the debtor was insolvent: 
 

Lewis v Doran (2005) 
uncommercial transaction if the company received no consideration, it made a gift. This might 
be a valid ‘perk’ when a company is solvent, but it should not be making gifts at the creditors’ 
expense 
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